SPECIAL MEETING
711 WEST MAIN STREET, FESTUS, MO 63028
“CLOSED TO PUBLIC”
Live Virtual Viewing on the City of Festus YouTube Channel
Link to City’s channel can be found on main page at www.cityoffestus.org
AGENDA
Wednesday, June 9, 2021 – 10:00 am

I.

CALL TO ORDER

II.

ROLL CALL

III.

Pledge of Allegiance

IV.

Resolutions:

•

V.

Resolution No. 2021-24 Tax-Exempt Water Facilities Revenue Bonds
o Loan Agreement
o Promissory Notes (included in Loan Agreement)
o First Supplemental Deed of Trust
o Tax Compliance Agreement
o Continuing Disclosure Undertaking
o Bond Purchase Agreement
o Easement Deed
o Post-Construction Agreement
o Tax Compliance Services
o Disclosure Compliance Services

ADJOURN

Agenda for June 9, 2021 was posted by 10:00 am on Friday, June 4, 20211 at Festus City Hall by
Michelle Vaughn.

RESOLUTION NO. 2021-24
RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF
JEFFERSON COUNTY WATER AUTHORITY
__________________________________________________________
WHEREAS, the Jefferson County Water Authority, a Missouri nonprofit corporation formerly
known as the Festus-Jefferson County Water Authority (the “Corporation”), previously entered into (a) a
Loan Agreement dated as of November 1, 2001, among the State Environmental Improvement and Energy
Resources Authority (State of Missouri) (the “Authority”), the Missouri Department of Natural Resources
(“DNR”) and the Corporation, as amended by the First Loan Agreement Amendment dated as of
January 1, 2003, which is secured by a Promissory Note dated November 1, 2001 from the Corporation to
the Authority in the principal amount of $10,435,000 (the “Series 2001C Obligation”) and (b) a Loan
Agreement dated as of May 1, 2002, among the Authority, DNR and the Corporation, as amended by the
First Loan Agreement Amendment dated as of January 1, 2003, which is secured by a Promissory Note
dated May 8, 2002 from the Corporation to the Authority in the principal amount of $8,230,000 (the “Series
2002A Obligation” and, together with the Series 2001C Obligation, the “Refunded Obligations”); and
WHEREAS, the Corporation has requested the Authority to issue its (a) Tax-Exempt Water
Facilities Revenue Bonds (Jefferson County Water Authority Project), Series 2021A, in a principal amount
of $[*Principal Amount-A*] (the “Series 2021A Bonds”) and (b) Taxable Water Facilities Revenue Bonds
(Jefferson County Water Authority Project), Series 2021B, in a principal amount of $[*Principal AmountB*] (the “Series 2021B Bonds” and, together with the Series 2021A Bonds, the “Bonds”), to provide funds,
together with other available funds of the Corporation, to (1) finance the costs of acquiring, constructing,
extending and improving the Corporation’s facilities for the furnishing of water for community purposes,
(2) prepay the Refunded Obligations and (3) pay the costs of issuing the Bonds, all as provided for and to
the extent permitted under Section 260.005 to 260.125, inclusive, R.S.Mo., as amended, and Appendix B(1)
thereto; and
WHEREAS, the Board of Directors (the “Board”) finds and determines that the issuance and sale
of the Bonds and the loan of the proceeds of the Bonds to the Corporation for the foregoing purposes are
necessary and desirable and in the best interest of the Corporation; and
WHEREAS, to accomplish the foregoing, it is necessary and desirable that the Board approve the
transactions described in this Resolution and the execution and delivery of the financing documents and
certain other matters in connection with the transaction, as herein provided;
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE
JEFFERSON COUNTY WATER AUTHORITY, AS FOLLOWS:
Section 1.
Approval of Issuance of Bonds. The Board approves the issuance and sale of the
Bonds by the Authority and authorizes the Corporation to borrow the proceeds of the Bonds from the
Authority for the purposes described in the recitals hereof. The Bonds shall be issued under an Indenture
of Trust (the “Indenture”) by and between the Authority and UMB Bank, N.A., as corporate trustee (the
“Bond Trustee”). The Series 2021A Bonds shall be issued in a principal amount of $[*Principal AmountA*], and the Series 2021B Bonds shall be issued in a principal amount of [*Principal Amount-B*]. The
Bonds shall be payable in principal amounts prior to and with a final maturity and shall bear interest at
stated rates, as provided in the Indenture and the hereinafter-described Bond Purchase Agreement. The

Bonds shall be sold by the Authority to Stifel, Nicolaus & Company, Incorporated, the underwriter of the
Bonds (the “Underwriter”). The final terms and conditions of the Bonds as to principal amounts, purchase
prices, interest rates, repayment schedules, security and otherwise shall be as set forth in the Bond Purchase
Agreement, the Indenture and the other financing documents described herein and shall be subject to
approval by the officers of the Corporation executing the Bond Purchase Agreement and the other financing
documents on behalf of the Corporation.
Section 2.
Authorization and Approval of Financing Documents. The Board approves the
preparation and execution of the proposed documents relating to the financing set forth below (collectively,
the “Financing Documents”), upon such terms as shall be approved by the officers of the Corporation
signing said documents on behalf of the Corporation, the execution of said documents by such officers shall
constitute conclusive evidence of their approval and the Corporation’s approval thereof:
(a)
Loan Agreement by and between the Corporation and the Authority, under which
the Authority will loan the proceeds from the sale of the Bonds to the Corporation for the purposes
herein described in consideration of payments which will be sufficient to pay the principal of,
redemption premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds and providing for the issuance of the
Promissory Notes (herein authorized) and setting forth the terms and conditions which shall apply
to the loan and the covenants and agreements of the Corporation in connection therewith.
(b)
Promissory Notes, Series 2021A and Series 2021B, of the Corporation payable to
the Authority which will be issued under the Loan Agreement in principal amounts equal to the
aggregate principal amount of the Series 2021A Bonds and the Series 2021B Bonds, respectively,
to be issued under the Indenture.
(c)
First Supplemental Deed of Trust, Mortgage and Security Agreement among the
Corporation, a mortgage trustee and the Authority.
(d)
Tax Compliance Agreement among the Authority, the Corporation and the Bond
Trustee, which (1) sets forth certain representations, facts, expectations, terms and conditions
relating to the use and investment of the proceeds of the Series 2021A Bonds, (2) sets forth the
actions required to maintain the exclusion of interest on the Series 2021A Bonds from gross income
for federal income tax purposes (the “Tax Compliance Obligations”), and (3) provides guidance for
complying with the arbitrage rebate and yield reduction amounts provisions of § 148(f) of the
Internal Revenue Code.
(e)
Continuing Disclosure Undertaking by the Corporation, under which the
Corporation agrees to provide continuing disclosure of certain financial information, operating data
and material events for the benefit of the owners of the Bonds (the “Continuing Disclosure
Obligations”) and to assist the Underwriter in complying with Rule 15c2-12 of the Securities and
Exchange Commission.
(f)
Bond Purchase Agreement among the Corporation, the Authority and the
Underwriter, under which the Authority agrees to sell and the Underwriter agrees to purchase the
Bonds upon such terms and conditions thereof as set forth in the Bond Purchase Agreement.
(g)
Easement Deed by and between the Corporation and Fred Weber, Inc. (“Fred
Weber”), under which Fred Weber will grant a perpetual easement in favor of the Corporation with
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rights to access, construct, maintain, repair and operate underground wells and electric facilities
and the right to trim or remove brush, trees and vegetation within the easement area.
(h)
Post-Construction Agreement by and between the Corporation and Fred Weber,
wherein the parties agree to amend the legal description of the Easement Deed upon completion of
the construction and installation of the Corporation’s second horizontal collector well so that the
encumbered real property includes only that certain land needed to access, maintain, repair and
operate the well.
(i)
Tax Compliance Services Proposal by and between the Corporation and Gilmore
& Bell, P.C. (“G&B”), under which the Corporation will engage G&B to assist it in meeting its Tax
Compliance Obligations.
(j)
Disclosure Compliance Services Proposal by and between the Corporation and
G&B, under which the Corporation will engage G&B to assist it in meeting its Continuing
Disclosure Obligations.
Section 3.
Execution of Financing Documents. The President or the Vice President of the
Corporation shall be and each such person is authorized, empowered and directed to execute, enter into,
deliver and, where necessary, record the Financing Documents, for and in the name and on behalf of the
Corporation and, where necessary, the Secretary of the Corporation is hereby authorized and directed to
attest said documents and affix the corporate seal thereto, and said documents shall be substantially in the
respective forms approved by the officers of the Corporation executing the same, and the execution of such
documents by such officers of the Corporation shall constitute conclusive evidence of such officers’
approval and the Corporation’s approval of such documents.
Section 4.
Approval of Indenture. The form of the Indenture on file with the Corporation
is approved, and the Board approves the execution and delivery of the Indenture by the Authority and the
Bond Trustee; such Indenture shall be substantially in the form thereof now on file with the Corporation
and hereby approved, with such changes therein as shall be approved by the officer of the Corporation
executing the Loan Agreement, and such execution shall constitute conclusive evidence of such officer’s
approval and the Corporation’s approval of any departures in the Indenture from the form thereof now
before the Board.
Section 5.
Disclosure Compliance Procedure. To promote compliance with the ongoing
requirements of federal securities laws and regulations related to the Bonds and any other currently
outstanding and future disclosure obligations issued for the benefit of the Corporation, the Corporation hereby
adopts the Disclosure Compliance Procedure on file with the Corporation as its official procedure with respect
to all disclosure obligations issued for the benefit of the Corporation.
Section 6.
Approval of Preliminary and Final Official Statement. The form and substance
of the Preliminary Official Statement relating to the Bonds on file with the Corporation is hereby in all
respects approved, and the President or the Vice President of the Corporation is hereby authorized,
empowered and directed to execute the final Official Statement in the name and on behalf of the
Corporation. The Board approves the use and distribution of the Preliminary Official Statement and the
final Official Statement by the Underwriter in connection with the offering and sale of the Bonds. The
Preliminary Official Statement and the final Official Statement shall be in substantially the same form as
the Preliminary Official Statement now before the Board and hereby approved, with such changes therein
as shall be approved by the officer of the Corporation executing the same, and such execution shall
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constitute conclusive evidence of such officer’s approval and the Corporation’s approval of any departures
therein from the form of the Preliminary Official Statement now before the Board. For the purpose of
enabling the Underwriter to comply with the requirements of Rule 15c2-12(b)(1) of the Securities and
Exchange Commission, the Corporation hereby deems the information contained in the Preliminary Official
Statement to be “final” as of its date, except for the omission of such information as is permitted by Rule
15c2-12(b)(1), and the appropriate officers of the Corporation are hereby authorized, if requested, to
provide the Underwriter a letter or certification to such effect and to take such other actions or execute such
other documents as such officers in their reasonable judgment deem necessary to enable the Underwriter to
comply with the requirements of such Rule.
Section 7.
Prepayment of Refunded Obligations. The Refunded Obligations are hereby
called for prepayment prior to maturity on July 1, 2021. The Refunded Obligations shall be prepaid at the
corporate trust office of UMB Bank, N.A., as trustee for the Refunded Obligations, by the payment on the
prepayment date of the principal thereof, together with any prepayment premium and accrued interest
thereon to the prepayment date. The officers of the Corporation are authorized and directed to take such
other action as may be necessary in order to effect the prepayment of the Refunded Obligations as herein
provided.
Section 8.
Further Authority. The officers of the Corporation are authorized and directed to
take such further action and to execute and deliver such other documents, certificates and instruments
(including any real estate related documents to consummate the transaction contemplated hereby) and to
pay all such fees, taxes and expenses as may in their discretion be necessary or desirable in order to carry
out and comply with the intent of this Resolution and the terms and provisions of the Financing Documents,
and all of the acts of the officers of the Corporation which are in conformity with the intent and purposes
of this Resolution, whether heretofore or hereafter taken or done, shall be and the same are hereby in all
respects ratified, confirmed and approved.
Section 9.
Repeal of Conflicting Resolutions. All prior resolutions of the Board or any parts
thereof in conflict with any or all of the foregoing are hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict.
Section 10.
adoption.

Effective Date. This Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its

ADOPTED by the Board of Directors this 9th day of June, 2021.

President
(SEAL)
ATTEST:

Secretary

[Resolution - Jefferson County Water Authority]
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LOAN AGREEMENT
THIS LOAN AGREEMENT (this “Loan Agreement”), made and entered into as of
June 1, 2021, by and between the STATE ENVIRONMENTAL IMPROVEMENT AND ENERGY
RESOURCES AUTHORITY (STATE OF MISSOURI), a body corporate and politic and a
governmental instrumentality of the State of Missouri (the “Authority”), and JEFFERSON COUNTY
WATER AUTHORITY (formerly known as the Festus-Jefferson County Water Authority), a nonprofit
corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of Missouri (the “Corporation”);
WITNESSETH:
WHEREAS, the Authority is authorized and empowered, under the provisions of Sections
260.005 to 260.125, inclusive, of the Revised Statutes of Missouri and Appendix B(1) thereto
(collectively, the “Act”) to issue bonds and/or notes to make loans to finance the acquisition, construction,
reconstruction, enlargement, improvement, furnishing, equipping, maintaining, repairing, operating, or
leasing of a facility, including land, disposal areas, incinerators, buildings, fixtures, machinery,
equipment, and devices or modifications to a building or facility, acquired or constructed, or to be
acquired or constructed for the purpose of providing water facilities for the furnishing of water for
industrial, commercial, agricultural or community purposes including, but not limited to, wells,
reservoirs, dams, pumping stations, water lines, sewer lines, treatment plants, stabilization ponds, storm
sewers, related equipment and machinery and to issue refunding bonds; and
WHEREAS, the Act provides that any bonds or notes issued by the Authority shall be payable
out of the revenues of the Authority including all rents, installment payments on notes, interest on loans,
revenues, charges and other income received by the Authority in connection with any such project and
any gift, grant, or appropriation received by the Authority with respect thereto, and authorizes and
empowers the Authority to pledge any of its revenues for such payment; and
WHEREAS, the Corporation previously entered into a (a) Loan Agreement dated as of
November 1, 2001, among the Authority, the Missouri Department of Natural Resources (“DNR”) and
the Corporation, as amended by the First Loan Agreement Amendment dated as of January 1, 2003,
which is secured by a Promissory Note dated November 1, 2001 from the Corporation to the Authority in
the principal amount of $10,435,000 (the “Series 2001C Obligation”) and (b) Loan Agreement dated as of
May 1, 2002, among the Authority, DNR and the Corporation, as amended by the First Loan Agreement
Amendment dated as of January 1, 2003, which is secured by a Promissory Note dated May 8, 2002 from
the Corporation to the Authority in the principal amount of $8,230,000 (the “Series 2002A Obligation”
and, together with the Series 2001C Obligation, the “Refunded Obligations”); and
WHEREAS, the Corporation has requested that the Authority issue revenue bonds for the
purpose of making a loan to the Corporation to provide funds, together with other available funds of the
Corporation, to (a) finance the costs of acquiring, constructing, extending and improving facilities for the
furnishing of water for community purposes (the “Project”), (b) prepay the Refunded Obligations and
(c) pay certain costs related to the issuance of the bonds, all as more fully defined and described
hereinafter and in the Indenture, in consideration of payments that will be sufficient to pay the principal
of, redemption premium, if any, and the interest on the bonds issued by the Authority; and
WHEREAS, to provide funds to make the loan to the Corporation, the Authority proposes to
issue $[*Principal Amount-A*] principal amount of Tax-Exempt Water Facilities Revenue Bonds
(Jefferson County Water Authority Project), Series 2021A (the “Series 2021A Bonds”) and $[*Principal
Amount-B*] principal amount of Taxable Water Facilities Revenue Bonds (Jefferson County Water
Authority Project), Series 2021B (the “Series 2021B Bonds” and, together with the Series 2021A Bonds,

the “Series 2021 Bonds”), pursuant to the Act and an Indenture of Trust dated as of June 1, 2021 (the
“Indenture”) by and between the Authority and UMB Bank, N.A., St. Louis, Missouri, as trustee (the
“Trustee”); and
WHEREAS, to evidence the loan, the Corporation is, concurrently with the delivery hereof,
issuing to the Authority its Promissory Note, Series 2021A, in the principal amount of $[*Principal
Amount-A*] (the “Series 2021A Note”) and its Promissory Note, Series 2021B, in the principal amount
of $[*Principal Amount-B*] (the “Series 2021B Note” and, together with the Series 2021A Note, the
“Series 2021 Notes”), substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A; and
WHEREAS, the Authority and the Corporation are entering into this Loan Agreement to provide
for the loan of the proceeds of the Series 2021 Bonds to the Corporation and the repayment of the Series
2021 Notes.
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual representations,
covenants and agreements herein set forth, the Authority and the Corporation do hereby covenant and
agree as follows:

ARTICLE I
DEFINITIONS AND RULES OF CONSTRUCTION
Section 1.1.
Definitions of Words and Terms. Capitalized words and terms used in this
Loan Agreement, unless the context requires otherwise, shall have the same meanings as set forth in the
Indenture.
Section 1.2.

Rules of Construction.

(a)
Words of the masculine gender shall be deemed and construed to include correlative
words of the feminine and neuter genders. Unless the context otherwise indicates, words importing the
singular number shall include the plural and vice versa, and words importing persons shall include firms,
associations and corporations, including public bodies, as well as natural persons.
(b)
All references in this instrument to designated “Articles,” “Sections” and other
subdivisions are to the designated Articles, Sections and other subdivisions of this instrument as
originally executed. The words “herein,” “hereof,” “hereunder” and other words of similar import refer to
this Loan Agreement as a whole and not to any particular Article, Section or other subdivision unless the
context otherwise indicates.
(c)
document.

The table of contents hereto and the headings and captions herein are not a part of this

(d)
Terms used in an accounting context and not otherwise defined in the Indenture shall
have the meaning ascribed to them by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.
(e)
References herein to any particular section of the Code, the Act, any other legislation or
federal or State regulations shall be deemed to refer also to any successor section thereto or to
redesignations thereof for codification purposes.
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ARTICLE II
REPRESENTATIONS
Section 2.1.
and the Trustee that:

Representations by the Authority. The Authority represents to the Corporation

(a)
Organization and Authority. The Authority (1) is a governmental instrumentality
and body corporate and politic duly organized and existing under the laws of the State, and
(2) has lawful power and authority to enter into, execute and deliver this Loan Agreement and to
carry out its obligations hereunder and to endorse and deliver the Series 2021 Notes, and by all
necessary corporate action has been duly authorized to execute and deliver this Loan Agreement
and the Series 2021 Notes and any other Bond Documents required to be executed and delivered
by it in connection with the issuance of the Series 2021 Bonds, acting by and through its duly
authorized officers.
(b)
No Defaults or Violations of Law. The execution and delivery of this Loan
Agreement, the Series 2021 Notes and any other Bond Documents by the Authority will not result
in a breach of any of the terms of, or constitute a default under, any indenture, mortgage, deed of
trust, lease or other agreement or instrument to which the Authority is a party or by which it or
any of its property is bound or its bylaws or any of the constitutional or statutory rules or
regulations applicable to the Authority or its property.
Section 2.2.
Representations by the Corporation.
Authority and the Trustee that:

The Corporation represents to the

(a)
Organization and Authority. The Corporation (1) is a private nonprofit
corporation not operated for private or corporate profit, (2) is authorized by law to provide or
operate “water facilities” (as defined in the Act) in the State, (3) is a Tax-Exempt Organization,
(4) has not declared and has not been determined to have any “unrelated business taxable
income” as defined in Section 512 of the Code which could have a material adverse effect on its
status as a Tax-Exempt Organization or which, if such income were subject to federal income
taxation, could have a material adverse effect on the condition, financial or otherwise, of the
Corporation, and (5) has lawful power and authority to enter into, execute and deliver this Loan
Agreement, and to execute and deliver the Series 2021 Notes, the Water Purchase Contracts and
any other Bond Documents required to be executed and delivered by it in connection with the
issuance of the Series 2021 Bonds and to carry out its obligations hereunder and thereunder, and
by all necessary corporate action has been duly authorized to execute and deliver this Loan
Agreement, the Series 2021 Notes, the Water Purchase Contracts and other required Bond
Documents, acting by and through its duly authorized officers.
(b)
No Defaults or Violations of Law. The execution and delivery of this Loan
Agreement, the Series 2021 Notes, the Water Purchase Contracts and other Bond Documents by
the Corporation will not conflict with or result in a breach of any of the terms of, or constitute a
default under, any indenture, mortgage, deed of trust, lease or other agreement or instrument to
which the Corporation is a party or by which it or any of its property is bound, or its articles of
incorporation or bylaws, or any of the rules or regulations applicable to the Corporation or its
property of any court or other governmental body.
(c)
Governmental Approvals. The Corporation is duly authorized and licensed to
operate its water facilities under the laws, rulings, regulations and ordinances of the State and the
departments, agencies and political subdivisions thereof, and the Corporation has obtained all
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requisite approvals of the State and other federal, regional and local governmental bodies relating
to the acquisition, construction, equipping and operation of its water facilities. The Corporation’s
water facilities are in all material respects in compliance with applicable federal, State and local
zoning, subdivision, environmental, pollution control and other laws, rules, regulations, codes and
ordinances.
(d)
Use of Proceeds. The proceeds of the Bonds, together with other available funds
of the Corporation will be used by the Corporation solely to (1) finance the Costs of the Project,
(2) prepay the Refunded Obligations and (3) pay certain costs related to the issuance of the Series
2021 Bonds.
(e)
Pending Litigation. No litigation, proceedings or investigations are pending or,
to the knowledge of the Corporation, threatened against the Corporation, except: (1) litigation
involving claims for liability, the probable recoveries in which and the estimated costs and
expenses of defense of which, in the opinion of general counsel to the Corporation, will be
entirely within the Corporation’s applicable insurance policy limits (subject to applicable
deductibles) or are not in excess of the total of the available reserves held under the Corporation’s
applicable self-insurance program, and (2) litigation involving other types of claims which if
adversely determined will not, in the opinion of general counsel to the Corporation, materially
and adversely affect the financial condition or operations of the Corporation. In addition, no
litigation, proceedings or investigations are pending or, to the knowledge of the Corporation,
threatened against the Corporation seeking to restrain, enjoin or in any way limit the approval or
issuance and delivery of the Official Statement, this Loan Agreement, the Indenture, the Series
2021 Bonds, the Mortgage, the Series 2021 Notes, the Water Purchase Contracts, the Tax
Compliance Agreement or any other required Bond Documents by the Authority or the Series
2021 Notes, this Loan Agreement, the Water Purchase Contracts, the Tax Compliance Agreement
or any other required Bond Documents by the Corporation or which would in any manner
challenge or adversely affect the corporate existence or powers of the Corporation to enter into
and carry out the transactions described in or contemplated by or the execution, delivery, validity
or performance by the Corporation of the terms and provisions of the Series 2021 Notes, the
Water Purchase Contracts or this Loan Agreement or any of the Bond Documents to which it is a
party.
(f)
Financial Statements. The financial statements of the Corporation heretofore
delivered to the Authority correctly and fairly present the financial condition of the Corporation
as of the dates and for the periods stated therein, and the results of the operations of the
Corporation for each of such periods, respectively, all in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America consistently applied except as stated in the
notes thereto, and there has been no material adverse change in the condition, financial or
otherwise, of the Corporation from that set forth in said financial statements, except as disclosed
in the Official Statement.
(g)
Full Disclosure. The financial statements referred to in paragraph (f) of this
Section do not, nor does this Loan Agreement, the Series 2021 Notes, the Water Purchase
Contracts or any other of the Bond Documents to which the Corporation is a party or any written
statement (including the Official Statement) furnished by the Corporation to the Authority,
contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make
the statements contained therein or herein not misleading. There is no fact which the Corporation
has not disclosed to the Authority in writing which materially affects adversely or, so far as the
Corporation can now foresee, will materially affect adversely the financial condition of the
Corporation, its status as a Tax-Exempt Organization, its ability to own and operate its properties
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or its ability to make the payments hereunder and under the Series 2021 Notes when and as the
same becomes due and payable.
(h)
Enforceability. Each of the Bond Documents to which the Corporation is a party
and the Water Purchase Contracts is a valid and binding agreement of the Corporation
enforceable in accordance with its terms (subject as to enforcement, but not the validity, to any
applicable bankruptcy, reorganization, insolvency, moratorium or other laws affecting the
enforcement of creditors’ rights generally and to applicable principles of equity if equitable
remedies are sought).
(i)
Warranty of Title. The Corporation has good and marketable title to all of its
Property, free and clear of all mortgages, liens, security interests, charges and encumbrances
except Permitted Encumbrances, and there exists no mortgage, lien, security interest, charge or
encumbrance (including, without limitation, any mechanic’s lien or judgment lien) on such
Property that has or will have a material adverse effect upon the Corporation’s operations or the
performance of the Corporation’s obligations under this Loan Agreement. The Corporation has,
pursuant to the Mortgage, conveyed to the Authority and the Mortgage Trustee a valid mortgage
lien on the real property (described in the Mortgage), and has granted to the Authority a valid
security interest in the personal property (described in the Mortgage). The Corporation is
lawfully possessed of all of such property and is the owner thereof as aforesaid free and clear of
all mortgages, liens, security interests, charges or encumbrances whatsoever, except the Permitted
Encumbrances and the interests of the Trustee, the Bondowners and the Authority under the
Indenture; and the Corporation has full power and authority to mortgage the real property and to
grant a security interest in the personal property to the Authority.
(j)
Environmental Matters. The Corporation covenants, represents and warrants,
with respect to Property of the Corporation or any of its Affiliates, that such Property, during the
period of ownership by the Corporation or any of its Affiliates, has complied with and will comply
with, and the Corporation and its Affiliates are not in violation of and will not violate, in
connection with the ownership, use, maintenance or operation of such Property and the conduct
of the business related thereto, any applicable “Environmental Law,” as hereinafter defined,
relating to “Hazardous Materials,” as hereinafter defined. The term “Environmental Law” shall
mean all federal, state and local environmental, land use, zoning, health, chemical use, safety and
sanitation laws, statutes, ordinances and codes relating to the protection of the environment or
governing the use, storage, treatment, generation, transportation, processing, handling, production
or disposal of Hazardous Materials and the rules, regulations, policies, guidelines, interpretations,
decisions, orders and directives of federal, state and local governmental agencies and authorities
with respect thereto, including without limitation, the Comprehensive Environmental Response,
Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, as amended (42 U.S.C. Section 9601, et seq.), the
Hazardous Materials Transportation Act, as amended (49 U.S.C. Section 1801, et seq.), the
Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, as amended (42 U.S.C. Section 6901, et seq.), the
Toxic Substances Control Act, as amended (15 U.S.C. Section 2601, et seq.), the Clean Air Act,
the Federal Water Pollution Control Act of 1972, and the Superfund Amendments and
Reauthorization Act of 1986. The term “Hazardous Materials” shall mean any flammable
explosives, radon, radioactive materials, asbestos, urea formaldehyde foam insulation,
polychlorinated biphenyls, petroleum, petroleum-based products, methane, hazardous materials,
hazardous wastes, hazardous or toxic substances or related materials as set forth in any
Environmental Law or other materials which may or could pose a hazard to the health and safety
of the occupants of the Property or the occupants and/or owners of property near the Property. To
the best knowledge of the Corporation, in all material respects, (1) no Hazardous Materials are now
or have been stored, located, generated, produced, processed, treated, transported, incorporated,
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discharged, emitted, released, deposited or disposed of in, upon, under, over or from the Property of
the Corporation or any of its Affiliates in violation of any Environmental Law; (2) no threat exists
of a discharge, release or emission of a Hazardous Material upon or from the Property of the
Corporation or any of its Affiliates into the environment in violation of any Environmental Law;
(3) none of the Property of the Corporation or any of its Affiliates have been used as or for a mine, a
landfill, a dump or other disposal facility, industrial or manufacturing facility, or a gasoline service
station; (4) no underground storage tank is now located on the Property of the Corporation or any of
its Affiliates, or has previously been located therein and removed therefrom, in violation of any
Environmental Law (except for underground storage tanks for which all required permits have been
obtained and that are in full compliance with all Environmental Laws); (5) there are no electrical
transformers or other equipment containing dielectric fluid containing polychlorinated biphenyls
located in, on or under the Property of the Corporation or any of its Affiliates, nor is there any
friable asbestos contained in, on or under the Property of the Corporation or any of its Affiliates,
nor will the Corporation or any of its Affiliates permit the installation of the same; (6) no violation
of any Environmental Law now exists relating to the Property of the Corporation or any of its
Affiliates, no notice of any such violation or any alleged violation thereof has been issued or given
by any governmental entity or agency, and there is not now any investigation or report involving the
Property of the Corporation or any of its Affiliates by any governmental entity or agency which in
any way relates to Hazardous Materials; (7) no person, party or private or governmental agency or
entity has given any notice of or asserted any claim, cause of action, penalty, cost or demand for
payment or compensation, whether or not involving any injury or threatened injury to human health,
the environment or natural resources, resulting or allegedly resulting from any activity or event
described in (1) above; (8) there are not now any actions, suits, proceedings or damage settlements
relating in any way to Hazardous Materials, in, upon, under, over or from the Property of the
Corporation or any of its Affiliates; (9) none of the Property of the Corporation or any of its
Affiliates is listed in the United States Environmental Protection Agency’s National Priorities List
of Hazardous Waste Sites nor any other log, list, schedule, inventory or record of Hazardous
Materials or Hazardous Waste Sites whether maintained by the United States, or any state or local
governmental unit; and (10) none of the Property of the Corporation or any of its Affiliates is
subject to any lien or claim for lien or threat of a lien in favor of any governmental entity or agency
as a result of any release or threatened release of any Hazardous Material.
(k)
Survival. All representations of the Corporation contained herein or in any Bond
Document shall survive subsequent to the issuance and delivery of the Series 2021 Bonds.

ARTICLE III
LOAN TO THE CORPORATION; USE OF PROCEEDS
Section 3.1.

Loan of Funds to the Corporation.

(a)
The Authority hereby agrees that simultaneously with the execution and delivery of this
Loan Agreement, it will loan the proceeds of the sale of the Series 2021 Bonds to the Corporation, and the
Corporation agrees to receive such loan from the Authority, for the purposes and subject to the terms
provided herein and in the Indenture.
(b)
The loan shall be evidenced by the Series 2021A Note in the principal sum of
$[*Principal Amount-A*] and the Series 2021B Note in the principal sum of $[*Principal Amount-B*].
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Section 3.2.
Use of Proceeds. The proceeds of the Series 2021 Bonds, together with other
available funds of the Corporation, shall be deposited with the Trustee and applied as provided in the
Indenture and in this Loan Agreement to (a) finance the Costs of the Project, (b) prepay the Refunded
Obligations and (c) pay certain costs related to the issuance of the Series 2021 Bonds.

ARTICLE IV
LOAN PAYMENTS AND OTHER PAYMENTS
Section 4.1.

Loan Payments.

(a)
Loan Payments on All Notes. The Corporation will duly and punctually pay the principal
of, redemption premium, if any, and interest on the Notes on the dates and at the places and in the manner
specified in the Notes and in this Loan Agreement, according to the true intent and meaning thereof and
hereof. Notwithstanding any schedule of payments upon the Notes set forth herein or in the Notes, the
Corporation agrees to make payments upon the Notes and be liable therefor at the times and in the
amounts (including principal, interest and redemption premium, if any) equal to the amounts to be paid as
interest, premium, if any, and principal whether at maturity or by redemption upon the Bonds from time
to time Outstanding under the Indenture.
(b)
Loan Payments on the Series 2021A Note. To provide for the payment of the Series
2021A Note, and the principal of, redemption premium, if any, and interest on the Series 2021A Bonds,
the Corporation hereby covenants and agrees that it will make the following payments directly to the
Trustee, from moneys available to the Corporation, for the account of the Authority, for deposit in the
Series 2021A Account of the Debt Service Fund, on the following dates, and otherwise as set out below:
(1)
Debt Service Fund -- Interest: On the fifth day of each calendar month (or on the
next Business Day thereafter if the fifth is not a Business Day), commencing with the fifth day of
July, 2021, and ending on the fifth day of December, 2021, a pro rata portion of the amount of
interest to become due on the Series 2021A Bonds on January 1, 2022, and on the fifth day of
each calendar month thereafter (or on the next Business Day thereafter if the fifth is not a
Business Day), an amount that is not less than one-sixth of the interest to become due on the next
ensuing Interest Payment Date on the Series 2021A Bonds; provided, however, that the
Corporation may be entitled to certain credits on such payments as permitted under Section 4.3.
(2)
Debt Service Fund -- Principal: On the fifth day of each month (or on the next
Business Day thereafter if the fifth is not a Business Day), commencing with the fifth day of July,
2021, and ending on the fifth day of each calendar month thereafter (or on the next Business Day
thereafter if the fifth is not a Business Day), an amount that is not less than one-twelfth of the
next installment of principal due on the Series 2021A Bonds by maturity, mandatory redemption
or otherwise; provided, however, that the Corporation may be entitled to certain credits on such
payments as permitted under Section 4.3.
(3)
Debt Service Fund -- Redemption: On the date required by this Loan Agreement
or the Indenture, all or a portion of any Net Proceeds or other moneys received which is intended
or required to redeem Series 2021A Bonds then Outstanding if the Corporation exercises its right
to redeem Bonds under Section 302 of the Indenture.
(c)
Loan Payments on the Series 2021B Note. To provide for the payment of the Series
2021B Note, and the principal of, redemption premium, if any, and interest on the Series 2021B Bonds,
the Corporation hereby covenants and agrees that it will make the following payments directly to the
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Trustee, from moneys available to the Corporation, for the account of the Authority, for deposit in the
Series 2021B Account of the Debt Service Fund, on the following dates, and otherwise as set out below:
(1)
Debt Service Fund -- Interest: On the fifth day of each calendar month (or on the
next Business Day thereafter if the fifth is not a Business Day), commencing with the fifth day of
July, 2021, and ending on the fifth day of December, 2021, a pro rata portion of the amount of
interest to become due on the Series 2021B Bonds on January 1, 2022, and on the fifth day of
each calendar month thereafter (or on the next Business Day thereafter if the fifth is not a
Business Day), an amount that is not less than one-sixth of the interest to become due on the next
ensuing Interest Payment Date on the Series 2021B Bonds; provided, however, that the
Corporation may be entitled to certain credits on such payments as permitted under Section 4.3.
(2)
Debt Service Fund -- Principal: On the fifth day of each month (or on the next
Business Day thereafter if the fifth is not a Business Day), commencing with the fifth day of July,
2023, and ending on the fifth day of June, 2024, an amount that is not less than one-twelfth of the
amount of principal due on the Series 2021B Bonds on July 1, 2024; provided, however, that the
Corporation may be entitled to certain credits on such payments as permitted under Section 4.3.
(3)
Debt Service Fund -- Redemption: On the date required by this Loan Agreement
or the Indenture, all or a portion of any Net Proceeds or other moneys received which is intended
or required to redeem Series 2021B Bonds then Outstanding if the Corporation exercises its right
to redeem Bonds under Section 302 of the Indenture.
The payments required to be made by paragraphs (a), (b) and (c) of this Section 4.1 are
sometimes hereinafter referred to as “Loan Payments.”
(d)
Unpaid Loan Payments for the Bonds shall bear interest at the rate of 2% in excess of the
Maximum Interest Rate. Any interest charged and collected on an unpaid Loan Payment shall be
deposited to the credit of the Debt Service Fund and applied to pay interest on overdue amounts in
accordance with Section 707 of the Indenture.
(e)
Any supplements to this Loan Agreement authorizing the issuance of Additional Bonds
and Additional Notes shall provide for similar monthly deposits into the Debt Service Fund of amounts
sufficient to ensure the prompt payment of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on any
Additional Bonds or Additional Notes as the same becomes due.
Section 4.2.
Additional Payments. The Corporation agrees to make the following additional
payments to the following persons:
(a)
Rebate Payments. To the Trustee, all rebate payments required under Section
148(f) of the Code, to the extent such amounts are not available to the Trustee in the Rebate Fund
or other funds and accounts held under the Indenture.
(b)
Trustee Fees and Professional Fees. To the Trustee and any Paying Agent,
registrars, counsel, accountants, engineers and other Persons when due, all reasonable fees,
charges and expenses of such Persons for services rendered under the Indenture and under any of
the Bond Documents and expenses incurred in the performance of such services under the
Indenture and any of the Bond Documents for which such Persons are entitled to payment or
reimbursement.
(c)
Authority Fees. To the Authority upon demand, its regular fees and charges and
all reasonable expenses incurred by the Authority in relation to the transactions contemplated by
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this Loan Agreement, the Indenture and any of the Bond Documents which are not otherwise
required to be paid by the Corporation under the terms of this Loan Agreement, including all fees
and charges of the Authority as provided for under the Act.
(d)
Advances. To the Authority or the Trustee, as the case may be, the amount of all
advances of funds made by any of them under the provisions of Section 8.8, with interest thereon
at the Prime Rate, plus 2%.
(e)
Attorneys’ Fees and Other Expenses. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary
contained herein, the Corporation also covenants and agrees, at its expense, to pay, and to
indemnify the Authority and the Trustee from and against, all liabilities, losses, costs, expenses
and charges, including reasonable counsel fees, incurred for the collection of payments due
hereunder or for the enforcement or performance or observance of any covenant or agreement of
the Corporation hereunder or under any Note, the Indenture, the Water Purchase Contracts or any
other Bond Document.
(f)
Taxes and Assessments. The Corporation shall pay all taxes and assessments of
any type or character charged to the Authority or to the Trustee affecting the amount available to
the Authority or the Trustee from payments to be received hereunder or in any way arising due to
the transactions contemplated hereby (including property and other taxes and assessments
assessed or levied by any public agency or governmental authority of whatever character having
the power to levy taxes or assessments) but excluding any taxes based upon the capital of and/or
income, fees and/or expenses received by the Trustee in its individual capacity, or any other
Person other than the Corporation; provided, however, that the Corporation may protest any such
taxes or assessments and to require the Authority or the Trustee, as the case may be, at the
Corporation’s expense, to protest and contest any such taxes or assessments assessed or levied
upon it and to withhold payment of any such taxes or assessments pending disposition of any
such protest or contest unless such withholding, protest or contest would adversely affect the
rights or interests of the Authority or the Trustee.
Section 4.3.
Credits on Loan Payments. In addition to any credits on the Notes resulting
from the payment or prepayment of Loan Payments from other sources:
(a)
any moneys deposited by the Trustee or the Corporation in the Debt Service
Fund (including moneys received as accrued interest from the sale of Bonds and any initial
deposit made from the proceeds of the sale of any Series of Bonds) shall be credited against the
obligation of the Corporation to pay interest on the Notes as the same becomes due;
(b)
any moneys deposited by the Trustee or the Corporation in the Debt Service
Fund shall be credited against the obligation of the Corporation to pay the principal of the Notes
as the same becomes due in the order of maturity thereof, except that prepayments for purposes of
making an optional deposit for redemption shall be applied to the maturities of principal of the
respective Note corresponding to the series and maturities of the Bonds to be redeemed or
purchased, delivered and canceled from the proceeds of such optional deposit;
(c)
the principal amount of Bonds of any series and maturity purchased by the
Corporation and delivered to the Trustee, or purchased by the Trustee and canceled, shall be
credited against the obligation of the Corporation to pay principal on the Note related to such
Series of Bonds so purchased (including installment payments corresponding to mandatory
sinking fund payments, if any, on the Bonds); provided, however, that deposit of a Bond of one
series and maturity may not be credited against a payment which would be used, in the normal
course, to retire a Bond of another series and maturity; and
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(d)
the amount of any moneys transferred by the Trustee from any other fund held
under the Indenture and deposited in the Series 2021A Account or in the Series 2021B Account
shall be credited against the obligation of the Corporation to make Loan Payments on the Series
2021A Note and the Series 2021B Note, as the case may be, as the same becomes due.
Section 4.4.
Obligations of Corporation Unconditional. The Corporation covenants and
agrees with and for the express benefit of the Authority and the Owners of the Bonds that it will pay all
Loan Payments and Additional Payments due under this Loan Agreement and perform its obligations,
covenants and agreements under this Loan Agreement, without notice or demand, and without abatement,
deduction, set-off, counterclaim, recoupment or defense or any right of termination or cancellation arising
from any circumstances whatsoever, whether now existing or hereafter arising, including any change in
the tax or other law of the United States of America, the State or any political subdivision of either
thereof, any change in the Authority’s legal organization or status, or any default of the Authority
hereunder, and regardless of the invalidity of any action of the Authority, and regardless of the invalidity
of any portion of this Loan Agreement, and, to the extent permitted by law, the Corporation hereby
waives the provisions of any statute or other law now or hereafter in effect contrary to any of its
obligations, covenants or agreements under this Loan Agreement or which releases or purports to release
the Corporation therefrom. Nothing in this Loan Agreement shall be construed as a waiver by the
Corporation of any rights or claims the Corporation may have against the Authority under this Loan
Agreement or otherwise, but any recovery upon such rights or claims shall be had from the Authority
separately, it being the intent of this Loan Agreement that the Corporation shall be unconditionally and
absolutely obligated to perform fully all of its obligations, agreements and covenants under this Loan
Agreement and the Notes for the benefit of the Owners of the Bonds.
Section 4.5.
Prepayment of the Notes. Whenever any Bonds have been called for
redemption under any provision of the Indenture, the Corporation shall prepay the Notes in such amounts
required to redeem such Bonds, including the principal, redemption premium, if any, and accrued interest
thereon to the redemption date. The Corporation further agrees that if the payment of principal of and
interest on the Bonds is accelerated upon the occurrence of an Event of Default under the Indenture, all
Loan Payments payable under Section 4.1 for the remainder of the term hereof shall be accelerated and
prepayment shall be made on the Notes in such amounts. Any such prepayments shall be deposited in the
Debt Service Fund, as required by the Indenture or this Loan Agreement or as designated by the
Corporation and applied by the Trustee in accordance with the provisions of the Indenture. Any such
prepayment shall be credited against Loan Payments to become due on the Notes. The Corporation may
also prepay all or any portion of its indebtedness on the Notes by providing for the payment of all or any
portion of the Bonds in accordance with Article XI of the Indenture.

ARTICLE V
COVENANTS OF THE CORPORATION
Section 5.1.

Maintenance and Use of Facilities.

(a)
The Corporation covenants and agrees that it will at all times use its facilities only in
furtherance of its lawful corporate purposes and cause its business to be carried on and conducted in an
effective manner and its Property to be maintained, preserved and kept in good repair, working order and
condition and in as safe condition as its operations will permit and make all necessary and proper repairs
(interior and exterior, structural and non-structural, ordinary as well as extraordinary and foreseen as well
as unforeseen), renewals and replacements thereof so that its operations and business shall at all times be
conducted in an efficient, proper and advantageous manner; provided, however, that nothing herein
contained shall be construed (1) to prevent the Corporation from ceasing to operate any portion of its
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Property, if in its reasonable judgment (evidenced, in the case of such a cessation other than in the
ordinary course of business, by a determination by its governing board) it is advisable not to operate the
same, or (2) to obligate the Corporation to retain, preserve, repair, renew or replace any property, leases,
rights, privileges or licenses no longer used or, in the judgment of its governing board, no longer useful in
the conduct of its business, or (3) to prevent the Corporation from making additions, alterations and
changes in and to its Property so long as such additions, alterations and changes are made in compliance
with the provisions of this Loan Agreement and will not result in a violation of the provisions hereof, or
(4) to prevent the Corporation from removing property from the Facility as permitted by this Loan
Agreement.
(b)
Subject to the provisions of this Article and the Act, the Corporation may use the Facility
as a “water facility” as contemplated by the Act. Except as provided in this Loan Agreement, the
Authority reserves no power or authority with respect to the operation of the Facility by the Corporation
and activities incident thereto, it being the intention of the parties hereto that so long as the Corporation
shall duly and faithfully observe and perform all of the terms, covenants, provisions and agreements of
this Loan Agreement, the Corporation shall manage, administer and govern the Facility in its activities
and affairs on a continuing day-to-day basis, including matters relating to the professional staff and other
functions customarily conducted or pursued by the independent managing and governing authority of a
private not-for-profit water institution. The Corporation agrees that it will not use the Facility or suffer or
permit any of the properties acquired, constructed, or otherwise paid for by, or for which it is reimbursed
out of, in whole or in part, the loan of Bond proceeds, to be used in an unrelated trade or business as
defined in Section 513(a) of the Code, or by any Person who is not an organization described in Section
501(c)(3) of the Code, in either case in such manner or to any extent which could jeopardize the validity
of the Bonds or result in the inclusion of interest on the Tax-Exempt Bonds in federal gross income under
Section 103(a) of the Code. The Corporation agrees that it will not conduct, participate in or operate any
other business activities other than the development, acquisition, construction, reconstruction, operation,
extension or improvement of “projects” relating to “water facilities” (as such terms are defined in the Act)
to provide water to cities, incorporated towns and villages or public water supply districts in the State.
(c)
The Corporation may, at its own expense, and subject to the provisions of this Section,
make such replacements, additions, alterations, changes, modifications and improvements to the Facility
as it deems necessary or desirable, subject to the following conditions:
(1)
no building or buildings constituting a part of the Facility shall be demolished or
removed and no alterations to the Facility shall be made which would substantially impair the
structural strength, utility or market value thereof without in each case the prior written consent of
the Authority and the Trustee; and
(2)
all alterations to the Facility shall become a part of the Facility; provided,
however, that the definitions of the Site and the Facility contained herein and in the Indenture
may be amended, if necessary, to include such alterations.
(d)
The Corporation may from time to time in its sole discretion and at its own cost and
expense, subject to the restrictions contained in this Section, install or place equipment and tangible
personal property in the Facility which has been purchased with funds derived from sources other than the
depreciation of the Facility or proceeds of Bonds. Provided that such property shall not be material to the
operation of the Facility, the Corporation may remove such equipment and tangible personal property at
any time at its own cost and expense, whether or not the same has been affixed or annexed to the Facility,
but any damage caused to the Facility by any such removal shall be restored at the sole cost and expense
of the Corporation.
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(e)
The Corporation shall cause the Engineer to annually review the conditions of the
Property and shall cause the Engineer to prepare a written report regarding such review and containing
recommendations, if any, for changes to the operations and maintenance of the Property.
Section 5.2
Maintenance of Corporate Existence and Status. Except as otherwise
expressly provided herein, the Corporation covenants and agrees that it will (a) preserve its corporate or
other separate legal existence, (b) preserve all its rights and licenses to the extent necessary or desirable in
the operation of its business and affairs, (c) be and remain qualified to do business and conduct its affairs
in each jurisdiction where its ownership of Property or the conduct of its business or affairs requires such
qualification, and (d) maintain its status as a Tax-Exempt Organization throughout the term of this Loan
Agreement.
Section 5.3.
Compliance with Laws, Orders and Regulations. The Corporation covenants
and agrees to conduct its affairs and carry on its business and operations in such manner as to comply
with any and all applicable laws of the United States of America and the several states thereof and duly to
observe and conform to all valid orders, regulations or requirements of any governmental authority
applicable to the conduct of its business and operations and the ownership of its Property; provided,
nevertheless, that nothing contained in this Section 5.3 shall require it to comply with, observe and
conform to any such law, order, regulation or requirement of any governmental authority so long as the
validity thereof shall be contested in good faith.
Section 5.4.
Taxes, Charges and Assessments. The Corporation covenants and agrees to
pay promptly all lawful taxes, governmental charges and assessments at any time levied or assessed and
due upon or against it or its Property; provided, however, that it may contest in good faith by appropriate
proceedings any such taxes, charges or assessments or the collection of any such sums and, pending such
contest, may delay or defer payment thereof and may pay taxes in installments; and provided further that
such contest shall not impair the ability of the Corporation to meet its obligations under this Loan
Agreement.
Section 5.5.
Payment of Obligations. The Corporation covenants and agrees to pay
promptly or otherwise to satisfy and discharge all of its obligations and Indebtedness (including, in
addition to Indebtedness, guaranties by the Corporation of Indebtedness of any other Person) and all
demands and claims against it as and when the same becomes due and payable, other than any thereof
(exclusive of the Notes issued and Outstanding hereunder and the obligations to make payments on Notes
under Section 4.1) whose validity, amount or collectability is being contested in good faith by appropriate
proceedings, so long as such contest shall not impair the ability of the Corporation to meet its obligations
under this Loan Agreement. The Corporation shall give immediate notice to the Authority and the
Trustee if any such contests involve amounts at any given time which in the aggregate exceed $50,000.
Section 5.6.

Insurance.

(a)
The Corporation covenants and agrees that it will at all times maintain or cause to be
maintained, at its sole cost and expense, insurance with respect to its Property which is commercially and
reasonably insurable, the operation thereof and its business against such casualties, contingencies and
risks (including but not limited to public liability, property and casualty, workers’ compensation, and
employee dishonesty) and in such amounts equal to the full replacement value of the Property which is
commercially and reasonably insurable; provided that, to the extent that any contractor for construction of
the Facility or any addition thereto shall provide a duplicate insurance policy or a builder’s risk policy or
certificate of insurance showing that the same coverage as is herein required is being carried by such
contractor, and if in the opinion of an Insurance Consultant such insurance coverage adequately protects
the interests of the Authority, the Trustee and the Corporation with respect to the Facility and any such
addition, the insurance provided for by this paragraph (a) shall not be required for such construction
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period with respect to the Facility or such addition while the Facility or such addition is so covered by
such other insurance. The Trustee and the Authority shall be additional named insureds on all such
insurance policies as their respective interests may appear.
(b)
The Corporation shall annually review the insurance the Corporation maintains pursuant
hereto as to its customariness and adequacy. In addition, the Corporation shall cause such a review to be
conducted annually by an Insurance Consultant and shall cause such Insurance Consultant to prepare a
written report regarding such review and containing such Insurance Consultant’s recommendations, if
any, for changes in such insurance. The Corporation shall cause copies of its review, or the report of the
Insurance Consultant, as the case may be, to be delivered promptly to the Trustee. The Corporation
agrees to follow the recommendations of such Insurance Consultant to the extent practicable as
determined by the governing board of the Corporation, except to the extent that its governing board
determines that such recommendations are not feasible, the reasons for such determination to be set forth
in an Officer’s Certificate delivered to the Trustee which states the Corporation’s concurrence with such
decision. Copies of all insurance policies required to be maintained hereunder or certificates thereof shall
be delivered to the Trustee.
(c)
All such policies of insurance required by paragraph (a) shall be issued by and
maintained in responsible insurance companies, organized under the laws of one of the states of the
United States, and permitted under the laws of the State. All such policies shall be carried in the name of
the Corporation, and in the names of the Authority and the Trustee as their respective interests may
appear and if applicable. All such policies for property and casualty insurance shall contain standard
mortgage clauses which provide for Net Proceeds of insurance resulting from claims per casualty
thereunder which are $100,000 or less for loss or damage covered thereby to be made payable directly to
the Corporation and Net Proceeds from such claims in excess of $100,000 to be made payable directly to
the Trustee. The Net Proceeds of property and casualty insurance shall be applied as provided in
Section 5.7. To the extent the insurance required by this Section is provided through commercial
insurance policies, the Corporation will deposit annually with the Trustee policies evidencing all such
insurance, or a certificate or certificates or binders of the respective insurers stating that such insurance is
in force and effect. Each policy shall contain a provision that the insurer shall not cancel nor modify it
without giving prior written notice to each insured named therein, at least 30 days before the cancellation
or modification becomes effective. Not less than 15 days prior to the expiration of any policy, the
Corporation shall furnish the Trustee evidence satisfactory to the Trustee that the policy has been renewed
or replaced in conformity with the provisions of this Section, or that there is no necessity therefor under
the terms hereof. In lieu of separate policies, the Corporation may maintain a single policy, blanket or
umbrella policy, or a combination thereof, in which event the Corporation shall deposit with the Trustee a
certificate or certificates of the respective insurers as to the amount of coverage in force upon the Property
of the Corporation.
(d)
On or before the date of issuance of the Series 2021 Bonds, the Corporation shall obtain a
standard ALTA mortgage loan policy or policies of title insurance, or a commitment therefor, showing the
Corporation, the Authority and the Trustee as insured parties, with respect to the Mortgaged Property,
with such endorsements as shall be reasonably required by the Authority and the Original Purchaser, in an
aggregate amount not less than the principal amount of the Series 2021 Bonds, which policy or policies
shall insure that the Corporation holds good and marketable title to the Mortgaged Property and that the
mortgage trustee has a first lien pursuant to the Mortgage on the Mortgaged Property, subject only to
Permitted Encumbrances.
Section 5.7.
Damage or Destruction. In the event of damage to, or destruction of, the
Facility or any portion thereof resulting from fire or other casualty, the Net Proceeds of any insurance
relating to such damage, if such proceeds are $100,000 or less, shall be paid directly to the Corporation
and the Corporation agrees that, to the extent permitted by law, it will forthwith replace, repair,
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reconstruct and restore the Facility to substantially the same or an improved condition or utility value as
existed prior to the event causing such damage or destruction and will to the extent necessary apply the
Net Proceeds of any insurance relating to such damage received by the Corporation to the payment or
reimbursement of the costs of such replacement, repair, reconstruction and restoration. Any remaining
balance not required for said purpose shall be paid to the Trustee for deposit in the Debt Service Fund.
Net Proceeds of any insurance relating to such damage exceeding $100,000 shall be paid directly to the
Trustee.
If the Facility or any portion thereof is destroyed by fire or other casualty and the damage or
destruction is estimated to exceed $100,000, the Corporation agrees to promptly notify the Authority and
the Trustee of such event and the Corporation shall, within 90 days after such damage or destruction,
elect, one of the following two options by written notice of such election to the Trustee:
(a)
Option A -- Repair and Restoration. The Corporation may elect to use all or part
of such Net Proceeds to replace, repair, reconstruct and restore the damaged facilities. In such
event the Corporation shall proceed forthwith to replace, repair, reconstruct and restore the
damaged facilities to substantially the same condition or utility value as existed prior to the event
causing such damage or destruction and will apply the Net Proceeds of any insurance relating to
such damage or destruction received by the Corporation from the Trustee to the payment or
reimbursement of the costs of such replacement, repair, reconstruction and restoration. So long
as the Corporation is not in default hereunder, any Net Proceeds of insurance relating to such
damage or destruction received by the Trustee shall be deposited in a separate account to be
established by the Trustee in the Project Fund and released from time to time by the Trustee to the
Corporation upon the receipt of:
(1)
The Written Request of the Corporation specifying the expenditures
made or to be made or the indebtedness incurred in connection with such replacement,
repair, reconstruction and restoration and stating that such Net Proceeds, together with
any other moneys legally available for such purposes, will be sufficient to complete such
replacement, repair, reconstruction and restoration; and
(2)

the written approval of such Written Request by an Engineer.

It is further understood and agreed that if the Corporation elects this Option A or is
unable to obtain the opinion required by Option B below, the Corporation shall complete the
replacement, repair, reconstruction and restoration of the Facility, whether or not the Net
Proceeds of insurance received by the Corporation for such purposes are sufficient to pay for the
same. Upon completion of such replacement, repair, reconstruction and restoration any excess
moneys from the Net Proceeds of such insurance over and above the costs of such replacement,
repair, reconstruction and restoration shall be deposited by the Trustee in the Debt Service Fund.
If the Corporation elects to use only part of such Net Proceeds for replacements, repairs,
reconstruction and restoration of the Facility, then the remaining part of such Net Proceeds shall
be applied pro rata to the prepayment of the Bonds and in such event the Corporation shall, in its
notice of election to the Trustee, direct the Trustee to deposit such moneys when and if received
in the Debt Service Fund.
The Corporation agrees to apply such Net Proceeds so received solely to the purposes
specified in such notice of election.
(b)
Option B -- Prepayment of Bonds. The Corporation may elect to have all or part
of such Net Proceeds payable as a result of such damage or destruction applied pro rata to the
prepayment of the Series 2021 Bonds, the Outstanding Parity Obligations, any Additional Bonds
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or any Additional Obligations; provided, the Corporation must supply the Authority and the
Trustee with an opinion of an Engineer stating that the property destroyed was not essential to the
use of the Facility as a complete and operational facility and that the Corporation’s Net Revenues
Available for Debt Service will not be materially adversely affected by such destruction;
provided, however, no such opinion shall be required if all Outstanding Indebtedness is to be
redeemed and paid. In such event the Corporation shall, in its notice of election to the Trustee,
direct the Trustee to deposit such Net Proceeds or a specified portion thereof, when and as
received, in the Debt Service Fund. If only part of such Net Proceeds is applied to the
prepayment of the Bonds, then the remaining part of such Net Proceeds shall be applied as
provided under Option A above.
Section 5.8.
Condemnation or Loss of Title. If the Facility or any portion thereof is
condemned or taken for any public or quasi-public use or title thereto is found to be deficient, the Net
Proceeds of such condemnation or taking or the Net Proceeds of any realization on the title insurance
required to be maintained hereunder, if such proceeds do not exceed $100,000, shall be paid directly to
the Corporation and applied as hereinafter provided under the heading “Option A” and shall be subject to
all of the provisions of said Option A.
If such Net Proceeds exceed $100,000, the Corporation hereby irrevocably assigns to the
Authority and to the Trustee, as their respective interests may appear, all right, title and interest of the
Corporation in and to any Net Proceeds of any award, compensation or damages (hereinafter referred to
as an “award”), payable in connection with any such condemnation or taking and in and to any proceeds
of such insurance. Such Net Proceeds shall be initially paid to the Trustee for disbursement or use as
hereinafter provided.
If any such award or proceeds of title insurance exceed $100,000, the Corporation shall within 90
days after the date when title to the Facility or portion thereof vests in the party condemning or taking the
same, or the date on which such insurance proceeds are determined, elect one of the following two
options by written notice of such election to the Trustee:
(a)
Option A -- Repairs and Improvements. The Corporation may elect to use all or
part of the Net Proceeds of the award made in connection with such condemnation or taking or of
such insurance for replacement of or repairs and improvements to the Facility and in such event
such Net Proceeds or part thereof shall be deposited in a separate account to be established by the
Trustee in the Project Fund and so long as the Corporation is not in default hereunder, the
Corporation may receive such Net Proceeds from the Trustee from time to time upon the receipt
by the Trustee of:
(1)
the Written Request of the Corporation specifying the expenditures made
or to be made or the indebtedness incurred in connection with such restoration, repairs
and improvements and stating that such Net Proceeds, together with any of the moneys
legally available for such purposes, will be sufficient to complete such restoration, repairs
and improvements; and
(2)

the written approval of such Written Request by an Engineer.

If the Corporation elects to use only part of such Net Proceeds for replacement of or
repairs and improvements to the Facility, then the remaining part of such Net Proceeds shall be
applied pro rata to the prepayment of the Bonds and in such event the Corporation shall, in its
notice of election to the Trustee, direct the Trustee to deposit such moneys when and if received
in the Debt Service Fund.
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The Corporation agrees to apply any such Net Proceeds so received solely to the purposes
specified in such notice of election.
(b)
Option B -- Prepayment of Bonds. The Corporation may elect to have all or part
of such Net Proceeds payable as a result of such condemnation or taking or of such insurance
applied pro rata to the prepayment of the Series 2021 Bonds, the Outstanding Parity Obligations,
any Additional Bonds or any Additional Obligations; provided, the Corporation must supply the
Authority and the Trustee with an opinion of an Engineer stating that the property condemned or
the property interest lost because of the title defect which resulted in the realization on such
insurance, as the case may be, was not essential to the use of the Facility as a complete and
operational facility and that the Corporation’s Net Revenues Available for Debt Service will not
be materially adversely affected by such condemnation or taking (or title defect); provided,
however, no such opinion shall be required if all Outstanding Indebtedness is to be redeemed and
paid. In such event the Corporation shall, in its notice of election to the Trustee, direct the
Trustee to deposit such Net Proceeds, or part thereof, when and as received, in the Debt Service
Fund. If only part of such Net Proceeds is applied to the prepayment of the Bonds, then the
remaining part of such Net Proceeds shall be applied as provided under Option A above.
The Authority and the Trustee shall cooperate with the Corporation, at the Corporation’s expense,
in the handling and conduct of any prospective or pending condemnation proceedings with respect to the
Facility or any part thereof.
Section 5.9.

Rate Covenant.

(a)
The Corporation covenants and agrees that it will, prior to the close of each Fiscal Year,
set rates and charges for its facilities such that the Net Revenues Available for Debt Service of the
Corporation will not be less than the sum of 1.10 times the Average Annual Debt Service when calculated
with respect to the Series 2021 Notes, any Additional Notes and any Additional Obligations. If the Net
Revenues Available for Debt Service, as calculated at the end of any Fiscal Year, is less than the rate
covenant requirement, the Corporation covenants to retain a Consultant to make recommendations to
increase the annual Debt Service coverage for subsequent Fiscal Years to at least the rate covenant
requirement. The Corporation agrees that it will follow the recommendations of the Consultant. So long
as the Corporation shall retain a Consultant and the Corporation shall follow such Consultant’s
recommendations, and so long as the Net Revenues Available for Debt Service is in no event less than
1.00 times the Average Annual Debt Service with respect to the Series 2021 Notes, any Additional Notes
and any Additional Obligations, this Section shall be deemed to have been complied with for such Fiscal
Year even if the Average Annual Debt Service coverage is below the rate covenant requirement and will
not constitute an Event of Default under this Loan Agreement. A copy of the Consultant’s report shall be
delivered, at the expense of the Corporation, to the Original Purchaser, the Trustee and to any requesting
Owner of the Bonds.
(b)
The Corporation will not furnish or permit to be furnished by or from the Facility any
free water or other free service of any kind. The Corporation will levy charges for all water service of
any kind furnished at the rates at the time established therefor by the Corporation.
Section 5.10. Restriction on Encumbrances. The Corporation shall not create or incur or
permit to be created or incurred or to exist any mortgage, lien, security interest, charge or encumbrance
upon its Property except Permitted Encumbrances, and shall promptly discharge or terminate all
mortgages, liens, security interests, charges and encumbrances on its Property that are not Permitted
Encumbrances. The Corporation shall comply with all terms, covenants and provisions contained in any
Permitted Encumbrances existing upon its Property or any part thereof or securing any of its Indebtedness
unless the validity, amount or collectability thereof is being contested in good faith or the failure to
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comply or contest would not materially impair its ability to pay its Indebtedness when due nor subject a
material amount of the Property of the Corporation to loss or forfeiture.
Section 5.11. Sale, Lease or Other Disposition of Property. The Corporation covenants and
agrees that it will not in any Fiscal Year, sell, lease or otherwise dispose of any Property comprising the
Facility, except transfers of Property:
(a)
To any Person if prior to the sale, lease or other disposition there is delivered to
the Trustee an Officer’s Certificate stating (1) that in the judgment of the signer such Property has
become, or within the next succeeding 24 calendar months is reasonably expected to become,
inadequate, obsolete, worn out, unsuitable, unprofitable, undesirable or unnecessary, (2) the sale,
lease or other disposition thereof will not impair the structural soundness, efficiency or economic
value of the remaining Property of the Corporation, and (3) that any proceeds realized from such
sale, lease or other disposition are to be applied either to acquire or enter into a Capitalized Lease
for additional Property to be used in the operation of the Facility or deposited in the Debt Service
Fund and used to pay the principal of the Bonds at the earliest permissible date.
(b)

To any Person in the ordinary course of business.

(c)
To any Person in an arm’s length transaction for value and there is delivered to
the Trustee an Officer’s Certificate stating (1) that the transfer will not result in an Event of
Default or impair the ability of the Corporation to meet its obligations hereunder, and (2) that any
proceeds realized from such sale, lease or other disposition are to be applied either to acquire or
enter into a Capitalized Lease for additional Property to be used in the operation of the Facility or
deposited in the Debt Service Fund and used to pay the principal of the Bonds on their next
payment date.
(d)
Section 5.12.

As part of a merger, consolidation, sale or conveyance permitted by Section 5.12.
Merger, Consolidation, Sale or Conveyance.

(a)
The Corporation covenants that it will not merge or consolidate with any other Person or
sell or convey, except as otherwise permitted in this Loan Agreement, all or substantially all of its
Property to any other Person unless:
(1)
Either the Corporation will be the surviving Person or the successor or transferee
Person shall be a Person organized and existing under the laws of the United States of America or
a state thereof, shall be a Tax-Exempt Organization, and shall expressly assume in writing the due
and punctual payment of the principal of and premium, if any, and interest on all Outstanding
Notes according to their tenor, and the due and punctual performance and observance of all of the
covenants and conditions of this Loan Agreement by a Supplemental Loan Agreement
satisfactory to the Authority and the Trustee, executed and delivered by the Authority and such
Person;
(2)
The Trustee shall have received an Officer’s Certificate to the effect that
immediately after the merger, consolidation, sale or conveyance the successor or transferee
Person could meet the conditions described in this Loan Agreement for the incurrence of one
dollar of Additional Indebtedness under Section 6.3(a)(2)(A) or (B);
(3)
If there remains unpaid any Bond which bears interest that is not includable in
gross income under the Code, the Trustee shall have received an opinion of Bond Counsel, in
form and substance satisfactory to the Trustee, to the effect that under then existing law the
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consummation of such merger, consolidation, sale or conveyance, whether or not contemplated
on any date of the delivery of such Bond, would not cause the interest payable on such Bond to
become includable in gross income under the Code;
(4)
The Trustee shall have received an Officer’s Certificate which demonstrates and
certifies that immediately upon such merger, consolidation, sale or conveyance the successor or
transferee Person will not, as a result thereof, be in default in the performance or observance of
any covenant or agreement to be performed or observed by it under this Loan Agreement or the
Indenture; and
(5)
Such successor or transferee shall possess such licenses and permits to operate
such Property as may be required if it is to operate such Property.
(b)
In the case of any such merger, consolidation, sale or conveyance and upon any such
assumption by the successor or transferee Person, such successor or transferee Person shall succeed to and
be substituted for its predecessor, with the same effect as if it had been named herein as the Corporation.
(c)
In the case of any such merger, consolidation, sale or conveyance, such changes in
phraseology and form (but not in substance) may be made in any Notes thereafter to be issued as may be
appropriate.
(d)
The Trustee shall receive an opinion of Counsel as conclusive evidence that any such
merger, consolidation, sale or conveyance, and any such assumption, complies with the provisions of this
Section and would not cause the interest payable on the Tax-Exempt Bonds to be includable in gross
income under the Code, and that it is proper for the Trustee under the provisions of this Section to consent
to the execution of the Supplemental Loan Agreement provided for in this Section.
Section 5.13. Indemnity. The Corporation covenants and agrees, at its expense, to pay and to
indemnify and save each of the Authority and the Trustee and their respective members, directors,
officers, employees and agents harmless from and against all loss, liability, damage or expense including
without limitation, attorneys’ fees and expenses arising out of any and all claims, demands, expenses,
penalties, fines, taxes of any character or nature whatsoever regardless of by whom imposed, and losses
of every conceivable kind, character and nature whatsoever including, but not limited to, claims for loss
or damage to any property or injury to or death of any person, asserted by or on behalf of any person,
firm, corporation or governmental authority arising out of, or in any way connected with the Facility, or
the conditions, occupancy, use, possession, conduct or management of, or any work done in or about the
Facility, or the Corporation’s failure to perform under, or comply with, any obligation or covenant in this
Loan Agreement or any other Bond Document to which the Corporation is a party. The Corporation also
covenants and agrees at its expense to pay, and to indemnify and save each of the Authority and the
Trustee and their respective members, directors, officers, employees and agents harmless of, from and
against, all costs, reasonable counsel fees, expenses and liabilities incurred by them or by the Corporation
in any action or proceeding brought by reason of any such claim, demand, expense, penalty, fine or tax
arising or, resulting from this Loan Agreement, the Indenture or any other Bond Document. If any action
or proceeding is brought against the Authority or the Trustee or their respective members, directors,
officers, employees or agents by reason of any such claim or demand, the Corporation, upon notice from
the Authority or the Trustee, covenants to resist and defend such action or proceeding on demand of the
Authority or the Trustee or their respective members, directors, officers, employees or agents.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, neither the Authority nor the Trustee nor their respective members,
directors, officers, employees and agents shall be indemnified against liability for damage arising out of
bodily injury to persons or damage to property caused by their own negligent, willful and malicious acts
or omissions or the negligent, willful and malicious acts or omissions of their own members, directors,
officers, agents or employees. The Corporation also covenants and agrees, at its expense, to pay, and to
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indemnify each of the Authority and the Trustee from and against, all costs, expenses and charges,
including reasonable counsel fees, incurred in obtaining possession of the Facility after default of the
Corporation, or in enforcing any covenant or agreement of the Corporation contained in any Series 2021
Note, this Loan Agreement or any other Bond Document. The provisions of this Section 5.13 shall
survive the termination of this Loan Agreement and payment of the Series 2021 Notes.
Section 5.14. Financial Statements and Other Information. The Corporation covenants that
it will keep proper books of record and account in which full, true and correct entries will be made of all
dealings or transactions of or in relation to the business and affairs of the Corporation in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America consistently applied, and will
furnish to the Authority, the Original Purchaser and the Trustee, and to any requesting Owner or Owners
of 10% or more in aggregate principal amount of any Series of Bonds then Outstanding:
(a)
As soon as practicable after they are available but in no event more than 180 days
after the last day of each Fiscal Year, a complete audit report for such Fiscal Year accompanied
by an opinion of an Accountant stating that such audit presents fairly the financial position of the
Corporation, covering the operations of the Corporation for such Fiscal Year and containing a
balance sheet as of the end of such Fiscal Year and a statement of cash flows and changes in net
assets for such Fiscal Year, showing in each case in comparative form the financial figures for the
preceding Fiscal Year, together with a separate written statement of the Accountant preparing
such report that such Accountant has obtained no knowledge of any Event of Default or condition
that with the passage of time or giving of notice or both would constitute an Event of Default by
the Corporation as set forth in Section 8.1, or if such Accountant has obtained knowledge of any
such Event or Events of Default, it shall disclose in such statement the Event or Events of Default
and the nature thereof.
(b)
At the time of delivery of the audit report referred to in Subsection (a) above, a
certificate of the Corporation signed by its President, Vice President or Treasurer or any other
authorized officer of the Corporation, stating that the Corporation has made a review of its
activities during the preceding Fiscal Year for the purpose of determining whether or not the
Corporation has complied with all of the terms, provisions and conditions of this Loan Agreement
and that the Corporation has kept, observed, performed and fulfilled each and every covenant,
provision and condition of this Loan Agreement on its part to be performed and is not in default
in the performance or observance of any of the terms, covenants, provisions or conditions hereof
(including without limitation Section 5.9), or if the Corporation shall be in default such certificate
shall specify all such defaults and the nature thereof.
(c)
Such additional information as the Authority, the Original Purchaser, the Trustee
or the Owner or Owners of 10% or more in aggregate principal amount of any Series of Bonds
then Outstanding may reasonably request concerning the Corporation, including such statistical
and other operating information requested on a periodic basis, in order to enable the Authority,
the Original Purchaser, the Trustee or such Owner or Owners to determine whether the covenants,
terms and provisions of this Loan Agreement have been complied with by the Corporation and
for that purpose all pertinent books, documents and vouchers relating to its business, affairs and
properties shall at all times during regular business hours be open to the inspection of such
Accountant or other agent (who may make copies of all or any part thereof as shall from time to
time be designated and compensated by the Authority, the Original Purchaser, the Trustee or such
Owner or Owners of any Series of the Bonds).
(d)
Without limiting the foregoing the Corporation will permit the Authority, the
Original Purchaser, the Trustee and the Owner or Owners of 10% or more in aggregate principal
amount of any Series of Bonds then Outstanding (or such persons as such Owner or Owners may
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designate) to visit and inspect at the expense of such person, any of the properties of the
Corporation and to discuss the affairs, finances and accounts of the Corporation with its and their
officers and independent accountants, all at such reasonable times and as often as the Authority,
the Original Purchaser, the Trustee or such Owner or Owners may reasonably request; provided,
however, any expenses reasonably incurred by the Trustee in connection with its duties under this
Loan Agreement, the Indenture and any Bond Document shall be paid by the Corporation.
(e)
The Corporation shall give prompt written notice of a change of its accountants
to the Authority and the Trustee. The notice shall state: (1) the effective date of such change;
(2) whether there were any unresolved disagreements with the former accountants on any matter
of accounting principles or practices, financial statement disclosure, or auditing scope or
procedure, which the accountants claimed would have caused them to refer to the disagreement in
a report on the disputed matter, if it was not resolved to their satisfaction; and (3) such additional
information relating thereto as the Authority and the Trustee may reasonably request.
Section 5.15. Tax Covenants. The Corporation covenants and agrees that it will not take any
action that would adversely affect the exclusion from gross income for federal income tax purposes of the
interest on the Tax-Exempt Bonds and will take whatever action is necessary to comply with the
requirements of the Code to maintain the exclusion from gross income for federal income tax purposes of
the interest on the Tax-Exempt Bonds. The Corporation hereby covenants and agrees that it will not use
the Facility or suffer or permit the Facility to be used in any manner or to any extent, and will take no
action or refrain from taking any action, nor, to the extent within its control, suffer or permit any action to
be taken or condition to exist which causes or may cause the interest on the Tax-Exempt Bonds to be
includible in federal gross income for federal income tax purposes.
Section 5.16. Licenses and Permits. The Corporation shall procure and maintain all licenses
and permits necessary or desirable in the operation of its business, programs and facilities which the
governing board of the Corporation determines are appropriate; provided, however, that the Corporation
shall not be required to procure or maintain in effect any permit or license that the governing board of the
Corporation determines in good faith, is not in the best interests of the Corporation and is no longer
necessary or desirable in the conduct of its business and the lack of which will not materially impair the
ability of the Corporation to pay or perform its obligations under this Loan Agreement.
Section 5.17. Water Purchase Contracts. The Corporation will perform its obligations under
the Water Purchase Contracts, including without limitation the collection of payments to be made by the
Participating Members pursuant to the Water Purchase Contracts and taking all necessary action that it
deems reasonably necessary to enforce its rights thereunder.
Section 5.18. Certain Employees to be Bonded. All officers and employees of the
Corporation handling the funds and accounts of the Facility shall be bonded in each Fiscal Year in an
amount not less than the total amount of principal and interest becoming due on all obligations of the
Corporation during the Fiscal Year or, so long as any of the Series 2021 Notes are Outstanding, the
amount required by the Authority.
Section 5.19. Environmental Matters. The Corporation shall not store, locate, generate,
produce, process, treat, transport, incorporate, discharge, emit, release, deposit or dispose of any
Hazardous Material in, upon, under, over or from the Property of the Corporation in material violation of
any Environmental Laws, shall not permit any Hazardous Material to be stored, located, generated,
produced, processed, treated, transported, incorporated, discharged, emitted, released, deposited, disposed
of or to escape therein, thereupon, thereunder, thereover or therefrom in material violation of any
Environmental Laws, shall cause all Hazardous Materials to be properly removed therefrom and properly
disposed of in accordance with all applicable material Environmental Laws, shall not install or permit to
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be installed any underground storage tank therein or thereunder in material violation of any
Environmental Laws, and shall comply with all other material Environmental Laws which are applicable
to the Property of the Corporation. The Corporation, to the extent allowed by law, shall indemnify each
of the Authority and the Trustee against, shall hold each of the Authority and the Trustee harmless from,
and shall reimburse each of the Authority and the Trustee for, any and all claims, demands, judgments,
penalties, fines, liabilities, costs, damages and expenses, including court costs and attorneys’ fees directly
or indirectly incurred by the Authority or the Trustee (prior to trial, at trial and on appeal) in any action
against or involving the Authority or the Trustee, resulting from any breach of the foregoing covenants, or
from the discovery of any Hazardous Material in, upon, under or over, or emanating from, the Property of
the Corporation, whether or not the Corporation is responsible therefor, it being the intent of the
Corporation, the Authority and the Trustee that neither the Authority nor the Trustee shall have any
liability or responsibility for damage or injury to human health, the environment or natural resources
caused by, for abatement and/or clean-up of, or otherwise with respect to, Hazardous Materials by virtue
of the interest of the Authority or the Trustee in the Property of the Corporation pursuant to this Loan
Agreement or any of the other Bond Documents, or as the result of the Authority or the Trustee exercising
any of its rights or remedies with respect thereto under this Loan Agreement or under any other
instrument, including but not limited to becoming the owner thereof by foreclosure or conveyance in lieu
of foreclosure. The foregoing covenants contained in this Section and the representations and warranties
of the Corporation contained in Section 2.2(j) shall be deemed continuing covenants, representations and
warranties for the benefit of the Authority and the Trustee, any successors and assigns of the Authority
and the Trustee, including but not limited to any purchaser at a foreclosure sale, any transferee of the title
of the Trustee for any other purchaser at a foreclosure sale, and any subsequent owner of the Property of
the Corporation, and shall survive the satisfaction or release of this Loan Agreement, the Indenture, any
Bond Document or any other instrument, any foreclosure of a mortgage lien under the Mortgage or any
other instrument, and/or any acquisition of title to the Property of the Corporation or any part thereof by
the Authority or the Trustee, by deed in lieu of foreclosure or otherwise. Any amounts covered by the
foregoing indemnification shall bear interest from the date incurred at the Prime Rate plus 2% or, if less,
the maximum rate permitted by law, and shall be payable on demand. The provisions of this Section 5.19
shall survive the termination of this Loan Agreement and the payment of the Series 2021 Notes.

ARTICLE VI
PERMITTED INDEBTEDNESS
Section 6.1.

Additional Bonds and Additional Notes.

(a)
The Authority may, in its sole discretion, at the request of the Corporation, authorize the
issuance of Additional Bonds for the purposes and upon the terms and conditions provided herein and in
Section 203 of the Indenture. If the Corporation is not in default hereunder, the Authority may, on
request of the Corporation from time to time, use its best efforts to make an additional loan and to issue
Additional Bonds in aggregate amounts as requested by the Corporation in accordance with the
Authority’s rules and policies then in effect but in no event shall the Authority be liable for not issuing
such Additional Bonds, it being the intent hereof to reserve to the Authority the full and complete
discretion to decline to make such additional loan and to issue such Additional Bonds; provided that (1)
the terms of such Additional Bonds, the purchase price to be paid therefor and the manner in which the
proceeds therefrom are to be disbursed have been approved in writing by the Corporation; (2) the
Authority and the Corporation have entered into a Supplemental Loan Agreement to acknowledge that
Loan Payments are revised to the extent necessary to provide for the payment of the principal of,
redemption premium, if any, and interest on the Additional Bonds and to extend the term of this Loan
Agreement if the maturity of any of the Additional Bonds would otherwise occur after the expiration of
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the term of this Loan Agreement; and (3) the Corporation has complied with the provisions of Section
203 of the Indenture with respect to the issuance of such Additional Bonds.
(b)
So long as no Event of Default hereunder or under the Indenture has occurred and is
continuing, the Corporation from time to time after the execution and delivery hereof may, with the
written consent of the Authority and the Trustee, issue and deliver to the Authority (but only to the
Authority) one or more Additional Notes pursuant to this Loan Agreement, as from time to time amended
and supplemented, in addition to the Series 2021 Notes. Additional Notes may be issued for any purpose
for which Additional Bonds may be issued under the Indenture. The principal amount of any Additional
Note shall be equal to the principal amount of the corresponding series of Additional Bonds being issued
concurrently with such Additional Note. The Corporation agrees that the net proceeds from the loan
evidenced by such Additional Notes shall be deposited with the Trustee as provided in Section 203 of the
Indenture and in the Supplemental Indenture executed in connection with the issuance of such Additional
Bonds.
(c)
Any such Additional Notes may bear interest at any rate lawful at the time of issuance
thereof and may mature over any period of time not exceeding the maximum maturity permitted by law,
and as may be agreed upon by the Corporation and the Authority. It is understood and agreed, however,
that any Additional Notes shall (1) be given a designation by year or alphabetical letter differentiating
such Additional Notes from other Notes then Outstanding, (2) be substantially in the form of the Note
attached hereto as Exhibit A (with appropriate variations or insertions), and (3) be pledged and assigned
by the Authority to the Trustee as security for a corresponding series of Additional Bonds concurrently
issued under the Indenture for the purpose of obtaining funds to make the loan to the Corporation
evidenced by such Additional Notes.
(d)
Additional Notes shall be authorized by a supplement to this Loan Agreement. Upon the
issuance of any Additional Notes and sale thereof, the same shall together with any other Note then
Outstanding, be equally and ratably secured by the security interest in Unrestricted Receivables, the
Revenues and the Water Purchase Contracts granted hereunder and the lien of the Mortgage.
(e)
Prior to the issuance and delivery of any Additional Bonds and Additional Notes, and as a
condition precedent thereto, the following documents and showings shall be executed and delivered to the
Authority and the Trustee:
(1)
A supplement to this Loan Agreement, executed by the Corporation and the
Authority, specifying, among other things, the principal amount, rate of interest, maturity, terms
of optional prepayment, if any, and form of any Additional Notes, and a supplement to the
Indenture, executed by the Authority and the Trustee, creating the Additional Bonds being issued
to make the loan evidenced by the Additional Notes, specifying, among other things, the terms
thereof, pledging and assigning such Additional Notes as security for the Additional Bonds and
providing for the disposition of the proceeds of such loan.
(2)
A certificate of the Corporation stating that no Event of Default under this Loan
Agreement has occurred and is continuing and that no event has occurred and is continuing which
with the lapse of time or giving of notice, or both, would constitute such an Event of Default.
(3)

If such Additional Notes are being issued to finance an Additional Project:

(A)
a certificate of an Engineer setting forth the cost or estimated cost of the
Additional Project; and
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(B)
a certificate from the Corporation showing that the proceeds of the sale
of the Additional Notes and other funds made available to the Trustee, together with
estimated interest income thereon, will be an amount not less than the estimated cost of
the Additional Project plus any required reserves pursuant to the Supplemental Indenture
providing for the issuance of the corresponding series of Additional Bonds.
(4)
The certificates, reports or opinions demonstrating compliance with the
applicable tests set forth in Section 6.3.
(5)
A supplement to the Mortgage extending the term and coverage of the lien
thereof to any new property and/or any Additional Project being financed by such Additional
Note, which supplement to the Mortgage shall provide that the Additional Note to be issued shall
be secured by the Mortgage as so supplemented equally and ratably with the Note and any other
Additional Notes then Outstanding and shall contain such other provisions as the Authority or the
Trustee deems necessary.
(6)
Such other certificates, title insurance policies, endorsements or reports,
financing statements, financial statements and opinions of Counsel as the Authority or the Trustee
may reasonably request.
Section 6.2.

Additional Obligations.

(a)
The Corporation may issue or incur Additional Obligations for any proper corporate
purpose if the conditions set forth in subsections (e)(2), (e)(3), (e)(4), (e)(5) and (e)(6) of Section 6.1 are
met when the term “Additional Obligations” is substituted for the term “Additional Notes.” Such
Additional Obligations shall have a security interest in all of the Corporation’s Unrestricted Receivables,
Revenues and the Water Purchase Contracts hereunder and a mortgage lien on and security interest in the
Mortgaged Property under the Mortgage standing on a parity with the security interest granted to the
Authority by this Loan Agreement and the mortgage lien and security interest granted by the Mortgage,
provided that any security interest in any or all of the Unrestricted Receivables, Revenues and the Water
Purchase Contracts and any mortgage lien or security interest under the Mortgage granted to secure such
Additional Obligations provides that all amounts realized, so long as the Bonds remain Outstanding, from
such security interest, mortgage lien and security shall be paid to the Trustee for disposition in accordance
with Section 707 of the Indenture. The owners of such Additional Obligations shall not have a security
interest in or other rights to or be entitled to share on a parity with the Owners of the Bonds in the Debt
Service Fund. Such Additional Obligations may be further secured in any manner not inconsistent with
the provisions and intent of the Indenture or this Loan Agreement.
(b)
If the Corporation shall propose to secure any such Additional Obligations by a pledge,
lien, mortgage or other security interest as described above, the Authority, the Trustee and the
Corporation shall take, or shall cause to be taken, such actions (including entering into a Supplemental
Loan Agreement, Supplemental Indenture or an amendment or supplement to the Mortgage) and execute,
deliver, file and record such instruments of security as their respective counsel agree to be necessary or
appropriate to grant to and/or otherwise secure for the owner or owners of the Additional Obligations a
pledge of and a security interest in Unrestricted Receivables, Revenues and the Water Purchase Contracts
pledged under this Loan Agreement and a mortgage lien and security interest in the Mortgaged Property
under the Mortgage, equivalent to that of the Authority. The Corporation shall as a condition of securing
such Additional Obligations execute, deliver, file and record, and cause to be executed, delivered, filed
and recorded by such owner or owners, such documents as counsel for the Authority and the Corporation
agree to be necessary or appropriate to grant to and/or otherwise secure for the Authority a pledge of and
a security interest in any security granted to the owner or owners of the Additional Obligations and not
theretofore granted to the Authority equivalent to the interest granted to such owner or owners of such
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Additional Obligations, to the end that all such Outstanding, secured Additional Obligations and all
Outstanding Notes shall be of equal rank and be entitled to share pari passu in such security. The
Corporation shall reimburse the Authority for all reasonable expenses incurred by it or its advisors in
connection with the issuance or incurrence of an Additional Obligation.
(c)
Any default under any instrument or agreement providing for repayment of any
Additional Obligations secured on a parity with the Notes as provided in this Section shall be a default
under this Loan Agreement and there shall be included in any instrument or agreement providing for
repayment of such Additional Obligations a provision that any default under this Loan Agreement shall
be a default under such instrument or agreement. Any action which cures a default under any such
instrument or agreement shall also cure such default under this Loan Agreement. Unless otherwise
agreed to by the Trustee, the Trustee shall act as trustee under any instrument securing any such
Additional Obligations. Any instrument or agreement providing for repayment of such Additional
Obligations shall include a provision that, prior to exercising any remedies upon a default by the
Corporation under such instrument or agreement, the Trustee (or the owners thereof, if the Trustee
otherwise consents) shall consider the interests of the owner or owners of the Additional Obligations and
the Bondowners and shall proceed such that the interests of such owner or owners of the Additional
Obligations and the Bondowners shall be equally protected.
Section 6.3.
Restrictions as to Incurrence of Additional Indebtedness. Other than
Indebtedness of the Corporation Outstanding on the date of delivery of this Loan Agreement, the Series
2021A Note in the amount of $[*Principal Amount-A*] being given by the Corporation in connection
with the issuance of the Series 2021A Bonds, the Series 2021B Note in the amount of $[*Principal
Amount-B*] being given by the Corporation in connection with the issuance of the Series 2021B Bonds,
Additional Notes given by the Corporation pursuant to Section 6.1 in connection with the issuance of
Additional Bonds under the Indenture and Additional Obligations incurred pursuant to Section 6.2, the
Corporation covenants and agrees that it will not incur any Additional Indebtedness, other than the
following Additional Indebtedness, and then only if there shall not exist any Event of Default or condition
that with the passage of time or giving of notice or both would constitute an Event of Default under the
Indenture, this Loan Agreement or any Bond Document (unless such Additional Indebtedness is to be
incurred to cure such Event of Default):
(a)

Long-Term Indebtedness provided that:

(1)
there shall be delivered to the Trustee an Officer’s Certificate setting
forth the intended uses of the proceeds of such Long-Term Indebtedness and, if such
intended uses include the acquisition, construction or installation of land, facilities,
equipment or other capital improvements, the estimated cost thereof; and
(2)
the Corporation Representative shall have delivered with respect to the
Corporation to the Trustee either:
(A)
an Officer’s Certificate that the Debt Service Coverage Ratio for
the most recently ended Fiscal Year was not less than 1.10 for all Outstanding
Long-Term Indebtedness (exclusive of any Outstanding Long-Term Indebtedness
that is to be refunded or redeemed with proceeds of the Indebtedness proposed to
be incurred) and the Long-Term Indebtedness then proposed to be incurred; or
(B)
an Accountant’s Certificate to the effect that for the most
recently ended Fiscal Year the Debt Service Coverage Ratio of the Corporation
was not less than 1.10 and a report or opinion by a Consultant (a “Consultant’s
Report”) to the effect that the estimated annual Debt Service Coverage Ratio for
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each of the first two full Fiscal Years following the estimated completion of the
acquisition, construction, renovation or replacement being paid for with the
proceeds of such additional Long-Term Indebtedness, or following the incurrence
of Long-Term Indebtedness for other purposes, will be not less than 1.25 after
giving effect to the incurrence of such additional Long-Term Indebtedness and
the application of the proceeds thereof.
(b)
Refunding Indebtedness, if the average annual principal and interest payments
will not increase by more than 10% or the conditions for Long-Term Indebtedness set forth in
Section 6.3(a) have been met.
(c)
Short-Term Indebtedness if immediately after the incurrence of such Short-Term
Indebtedness, the principal amount of all Outstanding Short-Term Indebtedness does not exceed
15% of the Total Operating Revenues of the Corporation as shown on the audited financial
statements of the Corporation for the most recent Fiscal Year; provided, however, for a period of
at least 20 consecutive days within each Fiscal Year, the Corporation shall reduce the aggregate
principal amount of all Outstanding Short-Term Indebtedness to 5% or less of its Total Operating
Revenues for the immediately preceding Fiscal Year, and if the Corporation fails to meet such
requirement such Indebtedness shall be considered Long-Term Indebtedness of the Corporation
subject to the requirements of paragraph (a) of this Section. Short-Term Indebtedness may also
be incurred if such Short-Term Indebtedness could be incurred under Section 6.3(a) assuming it
was Long-Term Indebtedness.
(d)

Commitment Indebtedness.

(e)
Liabilities incurred pursuant to reimbursement agreements relating to letters or
lines of credit or similar credit facilities used to secure Indebtedness (or provide liquidity support
therefor).
(f)
Liabilities (other than for borrowed money or rents payable under Capital
Leases) incurred by the Corporation in the regular operations of its business.
(g)
Subordinated Indebtedness, without limitation but has the same payment dates as
the Series 2021 Notes.
(h)
Non-Recourse Indebtedness; provided that the principal amount of such NonRecourse Indebtedness to be incurred, together with the then-Outstanding Non-Recourse
Indebtedness incurred pursuant to this Section, shall not exceed 10% of the Book Value of the
Corporation’s Property, Plant and Equipment.
(i)
Guaranties; provided the requirements for Long Term or Short-Term
Indebtedness, as appropriate, are met.
(j)
Capitalized Leases; provided that such Capitalized Leases could be incurred
under Section 6.3(a) assuming they were Long-Term Indebtedness.
(k)
The Corporation may incur Purchase Money Indebtedness if, immediately after
entering into such Purchase Money Indebtedness, the aggregate principal amount due on all
Purchase Money Indebtedness then-Outstanding will not be greater than 15% of the Revenues of
the Corporation as shown on the audited financial statements of the Corporation for the most
recent Fiscal Year for which audited financial statements are available.

-25-

Indebtedness may be classified and incurred under any of the above-referenced subsections with
respect to which the tests set forth in such subsections are met. The Corporation may elect to have
Indebtedness that was classified and issued pursuant to one provision of this Section, reclassified as
having been incurred under another provision of this Section, by demonstrating compliance with such
other provision on the assumption that such Indebtedness is being reissued on the date of delivery of the
materials required to be delivered under such other provision. From and after such demonstration, such
Indebtedness shall be deemed to have been incurred under the provision with respect to which such
compliance has been demonstrated until any subsequent reclassification of such Indebtedness.
The Corporation shall, prior to, or as soon as reasonably practicable after, the incurrence of any
Indebtedness by the Corporation, deliver to the Trustee an Officer’s Certificate which identifies the
Indebtedness incurred, identifies the subsection of this Section pursuant to which such Indebtedness was
incurred, demonstrates compliance with the provisions of such subsection and attaches a copy of the
instrument evidencing such Indebtedness.
Section 6.4.

Calculation of Debt Service.

(a)
Guaranties. When calculating the Debt Service requirements attributable to a Guaranty
that is deemed to be Indebtedness of the Corporation:
(1)
The principal amount of such Indebtedness shall be deemed to equal the principal
amount of the obligation guaranteed by the Corporation.
(2)

The Debt Service on such Indebtedness shall be deemed to be:

(A)
0% of the debt service requirements (calculated in the same manner as
Debt Service of the Corporation) on the guaranteed obligation, if the Corporation has not
been called upon to make a payment under Guaranty within the 12 months immediately
preceding the date of the calculation, and the primary obligor’s income available for debt
service (calculated in the same manner as Net Revenues Available for Debt Service of the
Corporation) for the period of calculation was or is projected or forecasted to be at least
equal to 200% of the average annual debt service requirements of the primary obligor
(calculated in the same manner as Average Annual Debt Service of the Corporation);
(B)
20% of the debt service requirements (calculated in the same manner as
Debt Service of the Corporation) on the guaranteed obligation, if the Corporation has not
been called upon to make a payment under Guaranty within the 12 months immediately
preceding the date of the calculation, and the primary obligor’s income available for debt
service (calculated in the same manner as Net Revenues Available for Debt Service of the
Corporation) for the period of calculation was or is projected or forecasted to be at least
equal to 125% (but less than 200%) of the average annual debt service requirements of
the primary obligor (calculated in the same manner as Average Annual Debt Service of
the Corporation); or
(C)
100% of the debt service requirements (calculated in the same manner as
Debt Service of the Corporation) on the guaranteed obligation, if either (i) the
Corporation has made any payment in respect of the debt service requirements on the
guaranteed obligation within the 12 months immediately preceding the date of the
calculation, or (ii) the primary obligor’s income available for debt service (calculated in
the same manner as Net Revenues Available for Debt Service of the Corporation) for the
period of calculation was or is projected or forecasted to be less than 125% of the
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average annual debt service requirements of the primary obligor (calculated in the same
manner as Average Annual Debt Service of the Corporation).
(b)
Long-Term Indebtedness Supported by Commitment Indebtedness. The Debt Service on
Long-Term Indebtedness with respect to which the Corporation has incurred Commitment Indebtedness
that would refinance such Indebtedness for a period extending beyond its original maturity date, may at
the discretion of the Corporation be deemed to be payable in accordance with the terms of such
Commitment Indebtedness if the financial institution providing the Commitment Indebtedness is rated at
least “A” by both Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s.
(c)
Variable Rate Indebtedness. In determining the Debt Service on any Indebtedness which
provides for interest to be payable thereon at a rate per annum that may vary from time to time over the
term thereof in accordance with procedures provided in the instrument creating such Indebtedness and
which for any future period of time is not susceptible of precise determination, the interest rate on such
Indebtedness for any period prior to the date of calculation or for which the interest rate has been
determined shall be the actual interest rate payable during such period, and for each year in which such
Indebtedness is Outstanding and for which the actual interest rate cannot be determined, the interest rate
on such Indebtedness for the period of determination shall be deemed to be the higher of the average
annual rate of interest payable on such Indebtedness during the 12 months immediately preceding the date
of calculation or the current rate, or if such Indebtedness is to be incurred (or was incurred less than 12
months preceding such date), the higher of the initial rate or the average annual rate of interest payable on
such Indebtedness during such period immediately preceding the date of calculation.

ARTICLE VII
TERM AND TERMINATION OF LOAN AGREEMENT
Section 7.1.
Term of Loan Agreement.
This Loan Agreement shall be effective
concurrently with the initial delivery of the Series 2021 Bonds and shall continue in force and effect until
the principal of, redemption premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds have been fully paid (or provision
for their payment has been made in accordance with Article XI of the Indenture), together with all sums
to which the Authority and the Trustee are entitled from the Corporation under this Loan Agreement and
the Notes.
Section 7.2.

[Reserved]

Section 7.3.
Defeasance. If the Corporation shall pay and discharge or provide for the
payment or redemption and discharge of the whole amount of the principal of, redemption premium, if
any and interest on the Notes and Bonds at the time Outstanding as provided in the Indenture, and shall
pay or cause to be paid all rebate amounts required under Section 148(f) of the Code and all other sums
payable hereunder, or shall make arrangements satisfactory to the Trustee and the Authority for such
payment or redemption and discharge, then and in that case all property, rights and interest hereby
assigned or pledged shall revert to the Corporation, and the right, title and interest of the Authority therein
shall thereupon cease, terminate and become void; and this Loan Agreement, and the covenants of the
Corporation contained herein, shall be discharged and the Authority, in such case on demand of the
Corporation and at its cost and expense, shall execute and deliver to the Corporation a proper instrument
or proper instruments acknowledging the satisfaction and termination of this Loan Agreement, and shall
assign and transfer or cause to be assigned or transferred, and shall deliver or cause to be delivered to the
Corporation, all property, including money, then held by the Authority other than moneys deposited with
the Trustee for the payment of the principal of, redemption premium, if any or interest on the Notes and
Bonds together with the Notes marked paid or canceled. If the Corporation shall pay and discharge or
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provide for the payment or redemption and discharge of the whole amount of the principal of, redemption
premium, if any, and interest on any particular Note and Series of Bonds at the time Outstanding as
provided in the Indenture, or shall make arrangements satisfactory to the Authority for such payment or
redemption and discharge, such Note and Series of Bonds shall cease to be entitled to any lien, benefit or
security under this Loan Agreement or any other Bond Document, and all covenants, agreements and
obligations of the Corporation to the owner of such Note shall thereupon cease, terminate and become
void and the Authority shall deliver or cause the Trustee to deliver to the Corporation such Note marked
paid or canceled; provided that the Owners of the related Series of Bonds shall be entitled to payment
thereof at the times and in the manner stipulated therein and in the Indenture from the sources provided
for such payment.

ARTICLE VIII
DEFAULT AND REMEDIES
Section 8.1.
Events of Default. The occurrence and continuance of any of the following
events shall constitute an “Event of Default” hereunder:
(a)
failure of the Corporation to pay any installment of interest or principal, or any
premium, on the Series 2021 Notes, any Additional Notes or any Additional Obligations when the
same shall become due and payable, whether at maturity or upon any date fixed for prepayment
or by acceleration or otherwise or the failure to comply with any provisions applicable to
Subordinated Indebtedness; or
(b)
failure of the Corporation to observe or perform any of the other covenants,
conditions or provisions hereof or to make any other payment required to be made hereunder and
to remedy such default within 30 days after written notice thereof from the Authority or the
Trustee to the Corporation, provided that if in the opinion of the Trustee such default is
correctable but is such that it cannot be corrected within such period, it shall not constitute an
Event of Default if corrective action is instituted by the Corporation within such period and
diligently pursued until the default is corrected; or
(c)
if any representation or warranty made by the Corporation in this Loan
Agreement, the Water Purchase Contracts or any other Bond Document or in any statement or
certificate furnished by the Corporation to the Authority or the Trustee or the Original Purchaser
of any Bonds in connection with the sale of any Bonds, or furnished by the Corporation pursuant
hereto proves untrue in any material respect as of the date of the issuance or making thereof and
shall not be made good within 30 days after written notice thereof to the Corporation by the
Authority or the Trustee; or
(d)
failure of the Corporation to observe or perform any of the covenants, conditions
or provisions of the Mortgage and to remedy such default within 30 days after notice thereof from
the Authority or the Trustee to the Corporation, provided that if in the opinion of the Authority
and the Trustee such default is correctable but is such that it cannot be corrected within such
period, it shall not constitute an Event of Default if corrective action is instituted by the
Corporation within such period and diligently pursued until the default is corrected; or
(e)
default in the payment of the principal of or interest on any obligation of the
Corporation for borrowed money, as and when the same shall become due, or under any
mortgage, agreement or other instrument under or pursuant to which such indebtedness is issued,
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and continuance of such default beyond the period of grace, if any, allowed with respect thereto;
or
(f)
entry or filing of any judgment, writ or warrant of attachment or of any similar
process in an amount in excess of $50,000 against the Corporation or against any of its property
and failure of the Corporation to vacate, pay, bond, stay or contest in good faith such judgment,
writ, warrant of attachment or other process for a period of 30 days; or
(g)
admission by the Corporation of insolvency or bankruptcy or its inability or
failure to pay its debts as they become due, or the Corporation makes an assignment for the
benefit of creditors or applies for or consents to the appointment of a trustee, custodian or
receiver for the Corporation, or for a substantial part of its property or the Corporation is
generally not paying its debts as such debts become due; or
(h)
appointment of a trustee, custodian or receiver for the Corporation or for a
substantial portion of its property and failure to obtain discharge of such within 30 days after such
appointment; or
(i)
institution of bankruptcy, reorganization, arrangement, insolvency or liquidation
proceedings, proceedings under Title 11 of the United States Code, as amended, or other
proceedings for relief under any bankruptcy law or similar law for the relief of debtors by or
against the Corporation (other than bankruptcy proceedings instituted by the Corporation against
third parties), and, if instituted against the Corporation, allowance against the Corporation or the
Corporation consents to such proceedings or fails to obtain dismissal, stay or other nullification
within 30 days after such institution; or
(j)
the occurrence and continuance of any “Event of Default” specified in
Section 701 of the Indenture.
Section 8.2.

Remedies Upon Default.

(a)
Upon the occurrence and continuance of any Event of Default hereunder, the Authority
shall have the following rights and remedies, in addition to any other remedies herein or by law provided:
(1)
Acceleration of Maturity; Waiver of Event of Default and Rescission of
Acceleration. The Trustee, as assignee of the Authority, may, by written notice to the
Corporation, declare the principal of the Series 2021 Notes, any Additional Notes and, if deemed
appropriate, any Additional Obligations (if not then due and payable) to be due and payable
immediately, and upon any such declaration the principal of the Series 2021 Notes, Additional
Notes or Additional Obligations, as the case may be, shall become and be immediately due and
payable as if all of the sums of money payable thereunder were originally stipulated to be paid on
such accelerated payment date, anything in the Series 2021 Notes, Additional Notes or Additional
Obligations, as the case may be, or in this Loan Agreement contained to the contrary
notwithstanding. This provision, however, is subject to the condition that if, at any time after the
principal of the Series 2021 Notes, Additional Notes or Additional Obligations have been so
declared and become due and payable and prior to the date of any sale of any part of the
Mortgaged Property pursuant to the Mortgage, all arrears of interest and principal then due, if
any, upon the Series 2021 Notes, Additional Notes and Additional Obligations and the fees, costs,
advances and expenses (including without limitation attorneys’ fees and expenses) of the
Authority and the Trustee shall be paid by the Corporation, and every other default in the
observance or performance of any covenant, condition or agreement contained in this Loan
Agreement, any Supplemental Agreement, the Series 2021 Notes, any Additional Notes, any
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Additional Obligations and/or the Mortgage shall be made good, or be secured, to the satisfaction
of the Authority on advice of Counsel, or provision deemed by the Authority on advice of
Counsel to be adequate shall be made therefor, then and in every such case the Trustee, by written
notice to the Corporation, may waive the Event of Default by reason of which the principal of the
Series 2021 Notes, Additional Notes or Additional Obligations have been so declared and become
due and payable, and may rescind and annul such declaration and its consequences; but no such
waiver, rescission or annulment shall extend to or affect any subsequent Event of Default or
impair any right consequent thereon.
(2)
Right to Bring Suit, Etc. The Trustee, with or without entry, personally or by
attorney, may in its discretion without notice or demand (A) proceed to protect and enforce its
rights by a suit or suits in equity or at law, whether for damages or for the specific performance of
any covenant or agreement contained in the Series 2021 Notes, any Additional Notes, any
Additional Obligations, the Mortgage or this Loan Agreement, or in aid of the execution of any
power therein or herein granted, or for any foreclosure, or for the enforcement of any other
appropriate legal or equitable remedy, as the Trustee shall deem effectual to protect and enforce
any of its rights or duties thereunder or hereunder or (B) take all actions necessary or appropriate
to cause the Mortgage Trustee to exercise the rights and powers set forth in the Mortgage or
(C) avail itself of all other rights or remedies available to it.
(3)
Right to Enter. The Trustee may enter and take possession of the Facility or any
part thereof without termination of this Loan Agreement and use its best efforts to lease the
Facility as provided in the Mortgage.
(b)
If the Trustee or the Mortgage Trustee exercises any of its rights under this Article, it
shall give notice of such exercise to the Corporation (1) in writing in the manner provided in Section 10.4
and (2) by telephone or facsimile, provided that failure to give such notice by telephone or facsimile shall
not affect the validity of the exercise of any right or remedy under this Article.
(c)
If the Trustee elects to re-lease the Facility or any part thereof under the provisions of the
Mortgage, it may collect the rents from such re-lease and apply the same, first, to the payment of the fees,
costs, advances and expenses of entry and leasing, and, second, to the Loan Payments payable hereunder.
If the proceeds from such re-lease are not sufficient to pay in full the foregoing, the Corporation shall
remain and be liable therefor. The Corporation promises and agrees to pay the amount of any such
deficiency from time to time, and the Trustee may at any time and from time to time sue and recover
judgment for any such deficiency or deficiencies plus interest at the Prime Rate plus 2% from the date of
the invoice for such deficiency until paid.
Section 8.3.

Authority May Enforce Demand.

(a)
In case the Corporation shall have failed to pay the principal and interest and other
amounts payable hereunder upon demand, the Authority, in its own name, shall be entitled and
empowered to institute such actions or proceedings at law or in equity for the collection of the amounts so
due and unpaid, and may prosecute any such action or proceedings to judgment or final decree, and may
enforce any such judgment or final decree against the Corporation and collect the moneys adjudged or
decreed to be payable out of the property of the Corporation wherever situated, in the manner provided by
law.
(b)
The Authority shall, if permitted by law, be entitled to recover judgment as aforesaid
either before or after or during the pendency of any proceedings for the enforcement of the lien of the
Mortgage; and the right of the Authority to recover such judgment shall not be affected by any sale
hereunder or by the exercise of any other right, power or remedy for the enforcement of the provisions of
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the Mortgage or the foreclosure of the lien thereof; and in case of a sale of the Mortgaged Property and of
the application of the proceeds of sale, as provided in the Mortgage to the payment of the debt hereby
incurred, the Authority shall be entitled to enforce payment of and to receive all amounts then remaining
due and unpaid hereunder, and shall be entitled to recover judgment for any portion of the debt remaining
unpaid, with interest at the greater of the Prime Rate or the Maximum Interest Rate.
(c)
No recovery of any judgment by the Authority and no levy of any execution under any
judgment upon the Mortgaged Property or upon any other property, shall affect the lien of the Mortgage
or of this Loan Agreement or any lien, rights, powers (including but not limited to the power of sale) or
remedies of the Authority hereunder, but such lien, rights, powers or remedies of the Authority shall
continue unimpaired as before.
(d)
Any moneys thus collected by the Authority under this Section shall be applied by the
Authority as provided in Section 14 of the Mortgage for the application of moneys collected from the sale
or other disposition of the Mortgaged Property.
Section 8.4.
Appointment of Receiver. The Corporation further covenants that upon the
happening of any Event of Default and thereafter during the continuance of such Event of Default unless
the same has been waived as hereinbefore provided, the Trustee shall be entitled as a matter of right if it
so elects, (a) forthwith and without declaring the principal of the Notes to be due and payable, or (b) after
declaring the same to be due and payable, or (c) upon the commencement of any foreclosure of the
Mortgage or action to enforce the specific performance thereof or in aid thereof or upon the
commencement of any other proceedings, judicial or otherwise, to enforce any right of the Trustee to
institute such actions or proceedings at law or in equity for the appointment of a receiver or receivers of
the Mortgaged Property and all the earnings, revenues, rents, issues, profits and income thereof, with such
powers as the court making such appointment shall confer.
Section 8.5.
Remedies Cumulative. No remedy conferred upon or reserved to the Trustee in
this Loan Agreement, the Series 2021 Notes, the Mortgage or any other document or instrument is
intended to be exclusive of any other remedy or remedies, and each and every such remedy shall be
cumulative, and shall be in addition to every other remedy given hereunder or now or hereafter existing at
law or in equity or by statute. No delay or omission of the Trustee to exercise any right or power accruing
upon any Event of Default shall impair any such right or power, or shall be construed to be a waiver of
any such Event of Default or an acquiescence therein; and every power and remedy given by this Loan
Agreement to the Trustee may be exercised from time to time and as often as may be deemed expedient
by the Trustee.
Section 8.6.
Uniform Commercial Code, Rights of a Secured Creditor. During the
continuance of any default hereunder or under the Indenture or any other document or instrument
evidencing, securing or otherwise relating to the Series 2021 Notes, any Additional Notes or any
Additional Obligations, the Authority shall have all the rights of and remedies with regard to the
Unrestricted Receivables and Revenues available to a secured creditor under the Missouri Uniform
Commercial Code.
Section 8.7.
Waiver of Extension, Stay Laws. To the extent permitted by law, the
Corporation will not during the continuance of any Event of Default hereunder insist upon, or plead, or in
any manner whatsoever claim or take any benefit or advantage of any stay or extension law wherever
enacted, now or at any time hereafter in force, which may affect the covenants and terms of performance
of this Loan Agreement; and the Corporation hereby expressly waives all benefits or advantage of any
such law or laws and covenants not to hinder, delay or impede the execution of any power herein granted
or delegated to the Authority, but to suffer and permit the execution of every power as though no such law
or laws had been made or enacted.
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Section 8.8.
Authority’s Right to Perform Corporation’s Covenants. If the Corporation
shall fail to (a) pay any tax, charge, assessment or imposition pursuant hereto, (b) remove any lien,
encumbrance or charge pursuant hereto, (c) maintain the Facility in repair pursuant hereto, (d) procure the
insurance required hereby or pay any insurance premium with respect thereto, (e) pay any amount
required to be rebated to the United States Government pursuant to the requirements of Section 148(f) of
the Code when due, or (f) make any other payment or perform any other act required to be performed
hereunder, then and in each such case the Authority or the Trustee may (but shall not be obligated to)
remedy such default for the account of the Corporation and make advances for that purpose. No such
performance or advance shall operate to release the Corporation from any such default or prejudice any
rights of the Trustee, the Authority or the Bondowners arising under any of the Bond Documents in
consequence of such failure. Any sums so advanced by the Authority or the Trustee shall bear interest at
the Prime Rate plus 2% from the date of the advance until repaid. The Authority or the Trustee may enter
the Facility or any portion thereof in order to effectuate the purposes of this Section.
Section 8.9.
Right of Entry by Authority. The duly authorized agents of the Authority or
the Trustee may at all reasonable times to enter the Facility, or any parts thereof, for the purpose of
inspecting the Facility to ensure compliance with Section 5.1, Section 5.19 and the Act.
Section 8.10. Application of Moneys Collected. Any amounts collected pursuant to action
taken under this Article shall be applied in accordance with the provisions of Section 707 of the
Indenture, and, to the extent applied to the payment of amounts due on the Bonds, shall be credited
against amounts due on the Notes.

ARTICLE IX
ASSIGNMENTS
Section 9.1.
Assignment of Security Interest in Unrestricted Receivables and Water
Purchase Contracts and Mortgage, Pledge and Assignment Under the Mortgage .
(a)
In order to secure the payment of the Series 2021 Notes and the performance of the duties
and obligations of the Corporation under the Series 2021 Notes and this Loan Agreement, the Corporation
does hereby pledge and assign and pursuant to the Mortgage has pledged and assigned unto the Authority
and its successors and assigns forever, and granted a security interest in, all Unrestricted Receivables of
the Corporation and all of its rights under the Water Purchase Contracts of the Corporation in effect as of
the date hereof or which may hereafter be executed, the creation of which security interest is governed by
the Missouri Uniform Commercial Code.
(b)
The Corporation shall, at its own expense, take all necessary action to maintain and
preserve the security interest in the Unrestricted Receivables and the Water Purchase Contracts granted by
this Loan Agreement and to the personal property granted by the Mortgage so long as any Bonds, the
Series 2021 Notes or any Additional Notes are Outstanding. In addition, the Corporation shall,
immediately after the execution and delivery of this Loan Agreement and thereafter from time to time,
cause this Loan Agreement, the Mortgage and any financing statements in respect thereof to be filed,
registered and recorded in such manner and in such places as may be required by law in order to fully
perfect and protect the security interest hereof and thereof and from time to time will perform or cause to
be performed any other act as provided by law and will execute or cause to be executed any and all
continuation statements and shall provide such further instruments that may be legally required or
requested by the Trustee for such perfection and protection. Except to the extent it is exempt therefrom,
the Corporation shall pay or cause to be paid all filing, registration and recording fees and all expenses
incident to the preparation, execution and acknowledgment of such instruments of perfection, and all
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federal or state fees and other similar fees, duties, imposts, assessments and charges arising out of or in
connection with the execution and delivery of this Loan Agreement, the Mortgage and such instruments
of perfection. If the Corporation fails to execute any of such instruments within 10 days after demand to
do so, the Corporation does hereby make, constitute and irrevocably appoint the Trustee as its attorney-infact, authorized in its name, place and stead so to do.
(c)
Notwithstanding the security interest granted in the Corporation’s Unrestricted
Receivables and Water Purchase Contracts hereunder and the personal property pursuant to the Mortgage,
it is understood and agreed that so long as the Corporation makes when due and payable all Loan
Payments hereunder, all payments of principal of and interest on Additional Obligations and all
Additional Payments required by the Loan Agreement, including without limitation the payments
described in Sections 4.1 and 4.2, the Corporation shall be entitled to utilize its Unrestricted Receivables
and the revenues and receipts from the Water Purchase Contracts for its proper corporate purposes.
(d)
So long as no default shall have occurred and be continuing under this Loan Agreement,
the Authority and the Trustee shall release, without the consent of any of the Bondowners, any of the
property subject to the lien of the Mortgage upon compliance with the requirements for such release
contained in the Mortgage.
Section 9.2.
Assignment of Authority’s Rights. Under the Indenture, the Authority will, as
additional security for the Bonds, assign, transfer, pledge and grant a security interest in certain of its
rights under the Notes and under this Loan Agreement to the Trustee. The Trustee is hereby given the
right to enforce, either jointly with the Authority or separately, the performance of the obligations of the
Corporation, and the Corporation hereby consents to the same and agrees that the Trustee may enforce
such rights as provided in the Indenture and the Corporation will make payments required hereunder and
by the Notes directly to the Trustee.
Section 9.3.

Revenues.

(a)
The Corporation agrees that, upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, all of the
Revenues of the Corporation shall be deposited as soon as practicable upon receipt in a fund designated as
the “Revenue Fund” which the Corporation shall establish and maintain, subject to the provisions of
subsection (b) of this Section, with the Trustee for such purpose. Subject only to the provisions of this
Loan Agreement permitting the application thereof for the purposes and on the terms and conditions set
forth herein, the Corporation hereby pledges, and to the extent permitted by law grants a security interest
to the Trustee, as assignee of the Authority, in the Revenue Fund and all of the Revenues of the
Corporation to secure the payment of and the performance by the Corporation of its other obligations
under this Loan Agreement. The Corporation shall execute and cause to be filed Uniform Commercial
Code financing statements, and shall execute and deliver such other documents (including, but not limited
to, continuation statements) as may be necessary or reasonably requested by the Trustee, as assignee of
the Authority, in order to perfect or maintain as perfected such security interest or give public notice
thereof to the extent permitted by law.
(b)
During any period that the Revenue Fund is opened in accordance with Section 9.3(a)
and held in the name and to the credit of the Trustee, as assignee of the Authority, the Trustee, as assignee
of the Authority, shall use and withdraw amounts in said fund from time to time to make required
payments on the Bonds as such payments become due (whether by maturity, redemption, acceleration or
otherwise), and, if such amounts shall not be sufficient to pay in full all such payments due on any date,
then to the payment of Debt Service on the Bonds and Additional Obligations, ratably, without any
discrimination or preference, and to such other payments in the order which the Trustee, as assignee of
the Authority, in its discretion, shall determine to be in the best interests of the Owners of the Bonds, the
Trustee, as assignee of the Authority, and the holders of Additional Obligations, without discrimination or
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preference. During any period that the Revenue Fund is held in the name and to the credit of the Trustee,
as assignee of the Authority, the Corporation shall only be entitled to use or withdraw any of the
Revenues of the Corporation to the extent that the Trustee, as assignee of the Authority, so approves for
the payment of current or past due operating expenses of the Corporation. The Corporation agrees to
execute and deliver all instruments as may be required to implement this Section. The Corporation
further agrees that a failure to comply with the terms of this Section shall cause irreparable harm to the
Trustee, as assignee of the Authority, the owners of the Bonds and the holders of Additional Obligations
and shall entitle the Trustee, as assignee of the Authority, and the owners of the Bonds with or without
notice, to take immediate action to compel the specific performance of the obligations of the Corporation
as provided in this Section.

ARTICLE X
MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS
Section 10.1. Amendments, Changes and Modifications. Subsequent to the issuance of any
Bonds and prior to their payment in full (or provision thereof having been made in accordance with the
provisions of the Indenture), this Loan Agreement may not be amended, changed, modified, altered or
terminated without the written consent of the Trustee required by the Indenture.
Section 10.2. Instruments of Further Assurance. The Authority covenants that it will do,
execute, acknowledge and deliver, or cause to be done, executed, acknowledged and delivered, at the
expense of the Corporation, such Supplemental Loan Agreements, and such further acts, instruments,
financing statements and other documents as the Trustee may reasonably require for the better assuring,
pledging and assigning unto the Trustee the property and revenues herein described, to the payment of the
principal of and interest on the Bonds. This Loan Agreement, all supplements to this Loan Agreement,
the Series 2021 Notes, any Additional Notes, the Water Purchase Contracts and all other Bond
Documents and other documents, instruments or policies of insurance required by the Trustee shall be
delivered to and held by the Trustee.
Section 10.3. Payments Due on Saturdays, Sundays and Holidays. In any case where the
day for any payment due under this Loan Agreement shall be not be a Business Day, then payment need
not be made on such date but may be made on the next succeeding Business Day with the same force and
effect as if made on the date fixed for payment, and no interest shall accrue for the period after such date.
Section 10.4. Notices. It shall be sufficient service of any notice, request, complaint, demand
or other paper required by this Loan Agreement to be given to or filed with the Authority, the Trustee or
the Corporation if the same is given or filed in the manner and at the addresses specified in Section 1203
of the Indenture.
Section 10.5. Immunity of Officers, Directors, Employees and Members of the Authority.
No recourse shall be had for the payment of the principal of or premium or interest on any of the Notes or
for any claim based thereon or upon any representation, obligation, covenant or agreement in this Loan
Agreement contained against any past, present or future officer, member, employee, director or agent of
the Authority, or of any successor public or private corporation thereto, as such, either directly or through
the Authority, or any successor public or private corporation thereto, under any rule of law or equity,
statute or constitution or by the enforcement of any assessment or penalty or otherwise, and all such
liability of any such officer, member, employee, director or agent as such is hereby expressly waived and
released as a condition of and consideration for the execution of this Loan Agreement and the issuance of
the Notes.
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Section 10.6. No Violations of Law. Any other term or provision in this Loan Agreement to
the contrary notwithstanding:
(a)
In no event shall this Loan Agreement be construed as (1) depriving the
Authority of any right or privilege or (2) requiring the Authority or any member, director, officer,
agent, employee, representative or advisor of the Authority to take or omit to take, or to permit or
suffer the taking of, any action by itself or by anyone else, which deprivation or requirement
would violate, or result in the Authority being in violation of the Act or any other applicable State
or federal law; and
(b)
At no time and in no event will the Corporation permit, suffer or allow any of the
proceeds of the Notes to be transferred to any Person in violation of, or to be used in any manner
which is prohibited by, the Act or any other State or federal law.
Section 10.7. Severability. If any provision of this Loan Agreement shall be held invalid or
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render
unenforceable any other provision hereof. All covenants of the Corporation hereunder shall be given
independent effect so that, if a particular action or condition is prohibited by any of such covenants, the
fact that it would be permitted by an exception to, or be otherwise within the limitations of, another
covenant shall not avoid the occurrence of a default or Event of Default if such action is taken or
condition exists.
Section 10.8. Counterparts. This Loan Agreement may be simultaneously executed in several
counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which shall constitute but one and the same
instrument.
Section 10.9. Governing Law. This Loan Agreement shall be governed exclusively by and
construed in accordance with the applicable laws of the State.
Section 10.10. Entire Agreement. ORAL AGREEMENTS OR COMMITMENTS TO
LOAN MONEY, EXTEND CREDIT OR TO FORBEAR FROM ENFORCING REPAYMENT OF
A DEBT INCLUDING PROMISES TO EXTEND OR RENEW SUCH DEBT ARE NOT
ENFORCEABLE. TO PROTECT THE CORPORATION AND THE AUTHORITY FROM
MISUNDERSTANDING OR DISAPPOINTMENT, ANY AGREEMENTS THE CORPORATION
AND THE AUTHORITY REACH COVERING SUCH MATTERS ARE CONTAINED IN THIS
WRITING, WHICH IS THE COMPLETE AND EXCLUSIVE STATEMENT OF THE
AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE AUTHORITY AND THE CORPORATION, EXCEPT AS THE
AUTHORITY AND THE CORPORATION MAY LATER AGREE IN WRITING TO MODIFY
IT.
Section 10.11. Anti-Discrimination Against Israel Act. Pursuant to Section 34.600 of the
Revised Statutes of Missouri, the Corporation certifies it is not currently engaged in and shall not, for the
duration of this Loan Agreement, engage in a boycott of goods or services from (a) the State of Israel,
(b) companies doing business in or with the State of Israel or authorized by, licensed by, or organized
under the laws of the State of Israel, or (c) persons or entities doing business in the State of Israel.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Authority and Corporation have caused this Loan Agreement to
be executed as of the day and year first above written.

STATE ENVIRONMENTAL IMPROVEMENT
AND ENERGY RESOURCES AUTHORITY
(STATE OF MISSOURI)

By:
Chairman
[SEAL]
ATTEST:

[*Assistant*] Secretary

[Loan Agreement]

S-1

JEFFERSON COUNTY WATER AUTHORITY

By:
President
[SEAL]
ATTEST:

Secretary

[Loan Agreement]

S-2

SCHEDULE 1
TO LOAN AGREEMENT

The Site

Schedule 1

EXHIBIT A
TO LOAN AGREEMENT

PROMISSORY NOTE
THIS PROMISSORY NOTE IS SECURED BY THAT CERTAIN DEED OF TRUST, MORTGAGE
AND SECURITY AGREEMENT DATED AS OF NOVEMBER 1, 2001, AS AMENDED AND
SUPPLEMENTED, BY AND AMONG THE JEFFERSON COUNTY WATER AUTHORITY, THE
MORTGAGE TRUSTEE AND THE STATE ENVIRONMENTAL IMPROVEMENT AND ENERGY
RESOURCES AUTHORITY (STATE OF MISSOURI), IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS AND
CONDITIONS OF SECTION 443.055 OF THE REVISED STATUTES OF MISSOURI.

$__________

June ___, 2021

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned JEFFERSON COUNTY WATER
AUTHORITY (the “Corporation”) promises to pay to the order of the STATE ENVIRONMENTAL
IMPROVEMENT AND ENERGY RESOURCES AUTHORITY (STATE OF MISSOURI) (the
“Authority”), at its office in Jefferson City, Missouri, or such other place as the owner hereof may
designate in writing, the sum of __________ DOLLARS ($__________), and to pay interest thereon, in
installments (“Loan Payments”) at the times and in the amounts specified in the hereinafter referred to
Loan Agreement.
The Corporation promises to make such Loan Payments and Additional Payments in accordance
with the provisions of and in the manner referred to in the Loan Agreement dated as of the date hereof
(the “Loan Agreement”), by and between the Authority and the Corporation, the Indenture of Trust dated
as of the date hereof (the “Indenture”), by and between the Authority and UMB Bank, N.A., as trustee
(the “Trustee”), and the Deed of Trust, Mortgage and Security Agreement dated as of November 1, 2001
(as amended and supplemented, the “Mortgage”), by the Corporation for the Authority, the terms and
provisions of each and all of the same being incorporated by reference.
In the event of default under the Loan Agreement, the unpaid principal and accrued interest on
this Note may, at the option of the owner hereof, be declared due and payable in accordance with the
provisions of the Loan Agreement, the Indenture and the Mortgage. The failure of the owner of this Note
to exercise such option and to declare such indebtedness to be due as specified in the Loan Agreement,
the Indenture and the Mortgage shall not constitute a waiver of the right at any time thereafter to declare
the entire indebtedness to be due and payable.
This Note is subject to prepayment as provided in the Loan Agreement.
The Corporation hereby waives presentment, demand of payment, protest and notice of nonpayment and of protest and any and all other notices and demands whatsoever.
This Note shall be governed by the laws of the State of Missouri.

JEFFERSON COUNTY WATER AUTHORITY

By:
President
[SEAL]
ATTEST:

Secretary

ENDORSEMENT

Pay to the order of UMB Bank, N.A., Trustee, pursuant to the aforesaid Indenture authorizing
$__________ principal amount of [*Tax-Exempt / Taxable*] Water Facilities Revenue Bonds (Jefferson
County Water Authority Project), Series 2021[*A / B*], and the aforesaid Deed of Trust, Mortgage and
Security Agreement, without recourse.

STATE ENVIRONMENTAL IMPROVEMENT
AND ENERGY RESOURCES AUTHORITY
(STATE OF MISSOURI)

By:
Chairman

GILMORE & BELL, P.C.
DRAFT 1 – MAY 18, 2021
FOR DISCUSSION PURPOSES ONLY

[SPACE ABOVE FOR RECORDER’S USE ONLY]
1.

Title of Document:

First Supplemental Deed of Trust, Mortgage and Security
Agreement

2.

Date of Document:

June 1, 2021

3.

Grantor(s):

Jefferson County Water Authority

4.

Grantee(s):

Norman E. Fretwell

5.

Grantor’s Mailing Address:

c/o City of Festus, Missouri
711 West Main Street
Festus, Missouri 63028

6.

Grantee’s Mailing Address:

c/o UMB Bank, N.A.
2 South Broadway, Suite 600
St. Louis, Missouri 63102

7.

Legal description:

See Schedule 1

8.

Reference to Book and Page Nos: Deed of Trust, Mortgage and Security Agreement:
Book 1142, Page 1931

This cover page is attached solely for the purpose of complying with the requirements stated in
§§59.310.2; 59.313.2 RSMo. of the Missouri Recording Act.

Return Recorded Document To:
Gilmore & Bell, P.C.
211 North Broadway, Suite 2000
St. Louis, Missouri 63102
Attention: Mark D. Grimm, Esq.

FIRST SUPPLEMENTAL DEED OF TRUST, MORTGAGE AND
SECURITY AGREEMENT

THIS FIRST SUPPLEMENTAL DEED OF TRUST, MORTGAGE AND SECURITY
AGREEMENT (this “Supplemental Mortgage”), made and entered into as of June 1, 2021, by and
between the JEFFERSON COUNTY WATER AUTHORITY (formerly known as the Festus-Jefferson
County Water Authority), a Missouri nonprofit corporation, as grantor (the “Corporation”), and
_______________, an individual citizen of the State of Missouri, as grantee and trustee (together with his
successors in trust collectively referred to herein as the “Mortgage Trustee”), for the benefit of the
STATE ENVIRONMENTAL IMPROVEMENT AND ENERGY RESOURCES AUTHORITY
(STATE OF MISSOURI), a body corporate and politic and a governmental instrumentality of the State
of Missouri, having its principal office located in Jefferson City, Missouri, whose mailing address is 425
Madison Street, 2nd Floor, P.O. Box 744, Jefferson City, Missouri 65102, (the “Authority”), as
beneficiary.
RECITALS
1.
This Supplemental Mortgage amends and supplements the Deed of Trust, Mortgage and
Security Agreement dated as of November 1, 2001 (the “Original Mortgage” and, together with all
amendments and supplements thereto, the “Mortgage”), executed by the Corporation to the Mortgage
Trustee, for the benefit of the Authority and its assigns, and conveying the Real Property described in
Schedule 1 attached hereto, and recorded in the office of the Recorder of Deeds for Jefferson County,
Missouri, in Book 1142, at Page 1931, and pledging, assigning and granting a security interest in the
Personal Property described in Schedule 2 attached hereto.
2.
The Mortgage secures a loan made to the Corporation by the Authority of the proceeds of
the Authority’s $10,435,000 original principal amount of Water Pollution Control and Drinking Water
Revenue Bonds (State Revolving Funds Programs – Master Trust), Series 2001C (the “Series 2001C
Bonds”), issued by the Authority under Sections 260.005 to 260.125, inclusive, RSMo. and Appendix
B(1) thereto (collectively, the “Act”) and a Bond Indenture dated as of November 1, 2001, between the
Authority and UMB Bank, N.A., as trustee (the “Trustee”), which loan was made to the Corporation
under a Loan Agreement dated as of November 1, 2001, by and among the Authority, the Missouri
Department of Natural Resources (“DNR”) and the Corporation, as amended by the First Loan Agreement
Amendment dated as of January 1, 2003.
3.
The Mortgage also secures a loan made to the Corporation by the Authority of the
proceeds of the Authority’s $8,230,000 original principal amount of Water Pollution Control and Drinking
Water Revenue Bonds (State Revolving Funds Programs – Master Trust), Series 2002A (the “Series
2002A Bonds”), issued by the Authority under the Act and a Bond Indenture dated as of May 1, 2002,
between the Authority and the Trustee, which loan was made to the Corporation under a Loan Agreement
dated as of May 1, 2002, by and among the Authority, DNR and the Corporation, as amended by the First
Loan Agreement Amendment dated as of January 1, 2003.
4.
The Mortgage also secures a loan made to the Corporation by DNR, in the maximum
principal amount of $751,000, pursuant to the State of Missouri Direct Loan Program and a Loan
Agreement dated as of July 1, 2012 (the “2012 Loan Agreement”), between DNR and the Corporation.

5.
To evidence the loan of the proceeds of the Series 2001C Bonds, the Corporation
delivered to the Authority a Promissory Note dated November 1, 2001, in the original principal amount of
$10,435,000 (the “Series 2001C Note”).
6.
To evidence the loan of the proceeds of the Series 2002A Bonds, the Corporation
delivered to the Authority a Promissory Note dated May 8, 2002, in the original principal amount of
$8,230,000 (the “Series 2002A Note”).
7.
To evidence the loan made by DNR, the Corporation delivered to DNR its Promissory
Note (State of Missouri – Direct Loan Program), Series 2012 (the “Series 2012 Note”), in the maximum
principal amount of $751,000.
8.
The Corporation has requested the Authority to authorize and issue a series of Additional
Obligations (as defined in the 2012 Loan Agreement) for the purpose of providing funds to finance,
refinance and reimburse the costs of additional improvements and renovations to the water facilities of the
Corporation, and the Authority is authorized under Section 5A.18 of the 2012 Loan Agreement to issue
Additional Obligations secured by the Mortgage for the purpose of providing funds to finance the costs of
any Additional Project (as defined in the 2012 Loan Agreement). To provide for the payment of any
Additional Obligations, the Corporation may hereafter execute additional notes (the “Parity Notes” and,
together with the Series 2001C Note, the Series 2002A Note and the Series 2012 Note, the “Notes”).
9.
Concurrently with the delivery of this Supplemental Mortgage, the Authority will issue
$[*Principal Amount-A*] principal amount of Tax-Exempt Water Facilities Revenue Bonds (Jefferson
County Water Authority Project), Series 2021A and $[*Principal Amount-B*] principal amount of
Taxable Water Facilities Revenue Bonds (Jefferson County Water Authority Project), Series 2021B
(together, the “Series 2021 Bonds”), pursuant to the Act and an Indenture of Trust dated as of
June 1, 2021 (the “2021 Indenture”) by and between the Authority and the Trustee, for the purpose of
making a loan of the proceeds thereof to the Corporation under a Loan Agreement dated as of
June 1, 2021 (the “2021 Loan Agreement” and, together with the 2012 Loan Agreement, the “Loan
Agreements”) by and between the Authority and the Corporation, to provide funds to (a) finance the costs
of acquiring, constructing, extending and improving facilities for the furnishing of water for community
purposes, (b) prepay the Series 2001C Note and the Series 2002A Note and (c) pay costs of issuance of
the Series 2021 Bonds, in consideration of payments by the Corporation that will be sufficient to pay the
principal of, redemption premium, if any, and the interest on the Series 2021 Bonds.
10.
The Series 2021 Bonds will be secured under the 2021 Indenture on a parity with the
Series 2012 Note and will constitute “Parity Obligations” (as defined in the 2012 Loan Agreement).
11.
To evidence the loan of the proceeds of the Series 2021 Bonds and to provide for the
payment of the Series 2021 Bonds, the Corporation has executed its Promissory Note, Series 2021A, in
the principal amount of $[*Principal Amount-A*] and its Promissory Note, Series 2021B, in the principal
amount of $[*Principal Amount-B*] (together, the “Series 2021 Notes”) (true and correct copies of such
Series 2021 Notes being attached hereto as Exhibit A).
12.
To secure the payment of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Series
2021 Bonds, the Authority under the 2021 Indenture has assigned to the Trustee substantially all of the
Authority’s right, title and interest in and to the 2021 Loan Agreement and the Notes, and furthermore has
endorsed and assigned the Series 2021 Notes to the Trustee (without recourse).

13.
The Corporation desires to make and enter into this Supplemental Mortgage to further
secure the payment and performance of the obligations of the Corporation under the Notes and the Loan
Agreements.
NOW, THEREFORE, THIS FIRST SUPPLEMENTAL DEED OF TRUST, MORTGAGE
AND SECURITY AGREEMENT WITNESSETH:
GRANTING CLAUSES
That the Corporation, in consideration of the premises and the sum of One Dollar duly paid to the
Corporation by the Mortgage Trustee, and of other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and
adequacy of which is hereby acknowledged, and to secure the payment and performance of the duties and
obligations of the Corporation under the Series 2012 Note, the Series 2021 Notes, any Parity Notes and
the Loan Agreements hereby confirms the Original Mortgage and grants a deed of trust, mortgage and
security interest as follows:
I.

GRANT OF DEED OF TRUST AND MORTGAGE ON REAL PROPERTY.

The Corporation does hereby GRANT, BARGAIN AND SELL, CONVEY AND CONFIRM
unto the Mortgage Trustee, and its successors in trust and its assigns, forever, with power of sale, all and
singular, the real property described in Schedule 1 hereto (said property being herein referred to as the
“Real Property”); TO HAVE AND TO HOLD all and singular the Real Property with all rights and
privileges hereby mortgaged, conveyed, pledged and assigned or agreed or intended so to be, to the
Mortgage Trustee and its successors and assigns forever, subject to Permitted Encumbrances (as defined
in the 2012 Loan Agreement), upon the terms and subject to the conditions hereinafter set forth.
II.

GRANT OF SECURITY INTEREST IN PERSONAL PROPERTY.

The Corporation does hereby pledge and assign unto the Authority and its successors and assigns
forever, and grant a security interest thereunto in the personal property of the Corporation described in
Schedule 2 hereto (said property being referred to herein as the “Personal Property”), subject to Permitted
Encumbrances, upon the terms and subject to the conditions hereinafter set forth.
The Real Property and the Personal Property are referred to herein collectively as the “Mortgaged
Property.”
NOW, THEREFORE, if the Corporation pays unto the Authority the indebtedness evidenced by
the Series 2012 Note, the Series 2021 Notes and any Parity Notes and performs, complies with and abides
by each and every of the agreements, conditions and covenants contained and set forth in the Loan
Agreements, the Series 2012 Note, the Series 2021 Notes, any Parity Notes and this Supplemental
Mortgage, then this Supplemental Mortgage and the estate hereby created shall be reconveyed, without
warranty, to the parties designated by the terms of this Supplemental Mortgage, and the security interest
herein granted shall be canceled and released and all evidences of indebtedness canceled by the Authority.
AND TO FURTHER SECURE its payments and performance under the Loan Agreements and
the Notes, the Corporation does hereby covenant and agree as follows:
Section 1.
Definitions of Words and Terms. In addition to words and terms defined
herein, words and terms used in this Supplemental Mortgage shall have the meanings ascribed to them in

the 2012 Loan Agreement, unless some other meaning is plainly indicated. A copy of the 2012 Loan
Agreement and this Supplemental Mortgage shall be kept on file at the principal corporate trust office of
the Trustee.
Section 2.
General Covenant. The Corporation will perform, comply with and abide by all
of the agreements, conditions and covenants contained and set forth in the Loan Agreements, the Series
2012 Note, the Series 2021 Notes, any Parity Notes and this Supplemental Mortgage, and in every other
document evidencing, securing or otherwise relating to the debt hereby secured, all incorporated herein by
reference. It is understood and agreed that so long as the Corporation makes when due and payable
payments on the obligations secured hereby, and performs and complies with such agreements, conditions
and covenants, the Corporation shall be entitled to utilize the Mortgaged Property for its proper corporate
purposes pursuant to the provisions of the Loan Agreements.
Section 3.
Payment of Costs, Charges, and Expenses. The Corporation agrees to pay all
reasonable costs, charges and expenses, including attorneys’ fees and abstract costs, reasonably incurred
or paid at any time by the Authority, the Mortgage Trustee or the Trustee because of the failure of the
Corporation to perform, comply with, and abide by each and every one of the agreements, conditions and
covenants of the Loan Agreements, the Series 2012 Note, the Series 2021 Notes, this Supplemental
Mortgage or any other document evidencing, securing or otherwise relating to the debt hereby secured.
Section 4.
Parity Obligations. The Corporation may issue or incur one or more Parity
Notes or Parity Obligations secured by the Mortgage in addition to the Series 2021 Notes, as provided by
and subject to the limitations of Section 5A.18 of the 2012 Loan Agreement. Such Parity Notes and
Parity Obligations shall, together with the Series 2012 Note, the Series 2021 Notes and any other Notes
and Parity Obligations then-Outstanding, be equally and ratably secured by the lien and security interest
of the Mortgage on the Mortgaged Property. It is the intent hereof that the rights and remedies of the
holders of the Notes and Parity Obligations be equal and pari passu and nothing contained herein shall be
deemed to give to the holders of any Notes and Parity Obligations any rights or remedies superior or
inferior to the rights or remedies of the holder or holders of any other Notes and Parity Obligations. The
Trustee, as assignee of the Authority, shall have the right to take such action as is required to assure that
the Mortgaged Property will secure any such Parity Notes and Parity Obligations on a parity basis with
the Series 2012 Note, the Series 2021 Notes, any Parity Notes and any Parity Obligations equally and
ratably secured by the Mortgage.
THIS INSTRUMENT SECURES FUTURE ADVANCES MADE UNDER THE LOAN
AGREEMENTS AND THE NOTES, PROVIDED THAT THE TOTAL PRINCIPAL AMOUNT
OUTSTANDING AT ANY ONE TIME SHALL NOT EXCEED $20,000,000. THIS INSTRUMENT
SHALL BE GOVERNED BY SECTION 443.055, RSMO, BUT THE CORPORATION HEREBY
IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ANY RIGHT IT MAY HAVE TO TERMINATE THIS INSTRUMENT
AS SECURITY FOR FUTURE ADVANCES AT ANY TIME PRIOR TO THE TERMINATION OF
SAID LOAN AGREEMENTS AND NOTES.
Section 5.
Covenants Run with the Land. All of the grants, covenants, terms, provisions
and conditions herein shall run with the land and shall apply to, bind and inure to the benefit of the
successors and assigns of the Corporation and the Authority and the heirs, successors and assigns of the
Mortgage Trustee.
Section 6.
Lease to Corporation. The Mortgage Trustee hereby leases and lets the
Mortgaged Property to the Corporation until a sale be had under the foregoing provisions therefor, upon

the following terms and conditions, to wit: The Corporation, and every and all persons claiming or
possessing the Mortgaged Property, and any part thereof, by, through or under it shall or will pay rent
therefor during said term at the rate of one cent (1¢) per month, payable monthly upon demand and shall
and will surrender peaceable possession of the Mortgaged Property, and any and every part thereof, sold
under said provisions, to the Mortgage Trustee, its successors, assignees or purchasers thereof under such
sale, within ten days after the making of such sale without notice or demand therefor.
Section 7.
Warranty of Title. The Corporation warrants that it has good and marketable
title to the Mortgaged Property free and clear of all liens and claims except the Permitted Encumbrances
and that this Supplemental Mortgage constitutes a direct and valid first mortgage lien upon the Real
Property and a security interest in the Personal Property, both subject only to Permitted Encumbrances,
which security interest is perfected to the extent the same may be perfected by filing under the Missouri
Uniform Commercial Code. The Corporation shall preserve such title and shall forever warrant and
defend the same against all claims other than those constituting Permitted Encumbrances.
Section 8.
Assignment of Authority’s Rights. As additional security for the Series 2021
Bonds, the Authority has endorsed the Series 2021 Notes, without recourse, to the Trustee and under the
2021 Indenture has assigned, transferred, pledged and granted a security interest in its right, title and
interest under the 2021 Loan Agreement (except for fees and rights to indemnification as set forth in the
2021 Loan Agreement), the Series 2021 Notes and the Mortgage to the Trustee. The Trustee is hereby
given the right to enforce, either jointly with the Authority or separately, the performance of the
obligations of the Corporation under the Series 2021 Notes and the 2021 Loan Agreement, and the
Corporation hereby consents to the same and agrees that the Trustee may enforce such rights as provided
in the 2021 Indenture and the Corporation will make payments required by the 2021 Loan Agreement and
by the Series 2021 Notes directly to the Trustee. The Trustee is a third-party creditor-beneficiary of this
Supplemental Mortgage.
Section 9.
Obligations Effective upon Issuance, Sale and Delivery of Series 2021 Bonds.
The several obligations of the Corporation hereunder shall arise absolutely and unconditionally when the
Series 2021 Bonds shall have been issued, sold and delivered by the Authority and the proceeds thereof
paid to and received by the Trustee.
Section 10.
Applicability of the Original Mortgage. Except as otherwise provided in this
Supplemental Mortgage, the provisions of the Original Mortgage are hereby ratified, approved and
confirmed and incorporated herein.
Section 11.
Amendments, Changes and Modifications. This Supplemental Mortgage may
not be effectively amended, changed, modified, altered or terminated, except as provided in Section
5A.18 of the 2012 Loan Agreement.
Section 12.
Severability. The invalidity or unenforceability of any one or more phrases,
sentences, clauses or sections in this Supplemental Mortgage shall not affect the validity or enforceability
of the remaining portions of this Supplemental Mortgage or any part thereof.
Section 13.
Missouri Law Governs. This Supplemental Mortgage shall be governed by and
construed and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the State of Missouri.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Corporation has caused this Supplemental Mortgage to be
executed by its duly authorized officers.
JEFFERSON COUNTY WATER AUTHORITY

By:
President
ATTEST:

Secretary
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ACKNOWLEDGMENT

STATE OF MISSOURI
COUNTY OF JEFFERSON

)
) SS.
)

On this _____ day of June, 2021, before me, a Notary Public in and for said State, personally
appeared GREG CAMP, to me personally known, who, being by me duly sworn, did say that he is the
PRESIDENT of the Jefferson County Water Authority, a Missouri nonprofit corporation, and that said
instrument was signed in behalf of said corporation by authority of its Board of Directors, and said officer
acknowledged said instrument to be executed for the purposes therein stated and as the free act and deed
of said corporation.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my notarial seal, the day
and year last above written.

Printed Name:
Notary Public in and for said State
Commissioned in
(SEAL)
My commission expires:

.

S-2

SCHEDULE 1
TO FIRST SUPPLEMENTAL DEED OF TRUST, MORTGAGE
AND SECURITY AGREEMENT

Description of Real Property

SCHEDULE 2
TO FIRST SUPPLEMENTAL DEED OF TRUST, MORTGAGE
AND SECURITY AGREEMENT

Description of Personal Property

All tangible personal property owned by the Corporation (including, without limitation, all
fixtures, furnishings, machinery and equipment and related support facilities of any nature whatsoever),
whether now or hereafter attached or affixed to or installed or located within, and used or usable in
connection with the development, construction, occupancy, maintenance and/or operation of the Project,
whether attached or detached, as well as renewals, replacements, proceeds, additions, accessories,
increases, parts, fittings, insurance payments, awards and substitutes thereof, together with all interest of
the Corporation in any such items hereafter acquired, as well as the Corporation’s interest in any lease, or
conditional sales agreement under which the same is acquired, all of which personal property mentioned
herein shall be deemed fixtures and accessory to the freehold and a part of the realty and not severable in
whole or in part without material injury to the Project.
All fixtures and tangible personal property owned by the Corporation (including, but not limited
to, furnishings, machinery and equipment and related support facilities, building materials, building
machinery and building equipment) delivered on site to the Real Property during the course of, or in
connection with construction or repair of the buildings and improvements.
All right, title and interest of the Corporation in, to and under any contracts, purchase orders or
agreements for the acquisition, construction, installation or renovation of the Project or any part thereof
now or hereafter entered into.
All right, title and interest of the Corporation to all “Unrestricted Receivables” of the
Corporation, including the “Water Purchase Contacts” (as such terms are defined in the 2021 Indenture).
Any and all proceeds of any and all of the foregoing.

*

*

*

EXHIBIT A
TO FIRST SUPPLEMENTAL DEED OF TRUST, MORTGAGE
AND SECURITY AGREEMENT

[Attach Series 2021 Notes]

Gilmore & Bell, P.C.
Draft v1

_______________________________________

TAX COMPLIANCE AGREEMENT
Dated as of June 1, 2021
_______________________________________

Among

STATE ENVIRONMENTAL IMPROVEMENT AND ENERGY RESOURCES AUTHORITY
(STATE OF MISSOURI),

JEFFERSON COUNTY WATER AUTHORITY,

And

UMB BANK, N.A.,
as Trustee

_______________________________________
$[Principal Amount]
Tax-Exempt Water Facilities Revenue Bonds
(Jefferson County Water Authority Project)
Series 2021A
_______________________________________

TAX COMPLIANCE AGREEMENT
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TAX COMPLIANCE AGREEMENT
THIS TAX COMPLIANCE AGREEMENT (the “Tax Agreement”), entered into as of June 1,
2021, among STATE ENVIRONMENTAL IMPROVEMENT AND ENERGY RESOURCES
AUTHORITY (STATE OF MISSOURI), a body corporate and politic and a governmental
instrumentality of the State of Missouri duly organized and existing under the laws of the State of
Missouri (the “Authority”), JEFFERSON COUNTY WATER AUTHORITY, a nonprofit corporation
organized and existing under the laws of the State of Missouri (the “Corporation”), and UMB BANK,
N.A., a national banking association duly organized and existing under the laws of the United States of
America, as Trustee (the “Trustee”);
RECITALS
1.
This Tax Agreement is being executed and delivered in connection with the issuance by
the Authority of $[Principal Amount] principal amount of Tax-Exempt Water Facilities Revenue Bonds
(Jefferson County Water Authority Project), Series 2021A (the “Bonds”), under an Indenture of Trust
dated the date of this Tax Agreement (the “Bond Indenture”) between the Authority and the Trustee, for
the purpose of making a loan of the proceeds of such Bonds to the Corporation under a Loan Agreement
dated the date of this Tax Agreement (the “Loan Agreement”) between the Authority and the Corporation,
to provide funds for certain purposes as described in this Tax Agreement and in the Bond Indenture and
the Loan Agreement.
2.
The Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), and the applicable
regulations and rulings issued by the U.S. Treasury Department (the “Regulations”), impose certain
limitations on the uses and investment of the Bond proceeds and of certain other money relating to the
Bonds and set forth the conditions under which interest on the Bonds will be excluded from gross income
for federal income tax purposes.
3.
The Authority, the Corporation and the Trustee are entering into this Tax Agreement to set
forth certain representations, facts, expectations, terms and conditions relating to the use and investment
of the Bond proceeds and of certain other related money, to establish and maintain the exclusion of
interest on the Bonds from gross income for federal income tax purposes, and to provide guidance for
complying with the arbitrage rebate provisions of Code § 148(f).
4.
The Authority adopted a State Revolving Funds Programs Tax Compliance Procedure on
July 25, 2013 (the “Tax Compliance Procedure”) to set out general procedures for the Authority to
continuously monitor and comply with the federal income tax requirements set out in the Code and the
Regulations.
5.
The Corporation adopted a Tax Compliance Policy and Procedure on July 19, 2012 (the
“Corporation Tax Compliance Procedure”), to set out general procedures for the Corporation to
continuously monitor and comply with the federal income tax requirements set out in the Code and the
Regulations.
6.
This Tax Agreement is entered into as required by the Tax Compliance Procedure to set
out specific tax compliance procedures applicable to the Bonds.
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NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the mutual representations,
covenants and agreements set forth in this Tax Agreement, the Authority, the Corporation and the Trustee
represent, covenant and agree as follows:

ARTICLE I
DEFINITIONS
Section 1.1.
Definitions of Words and Terms. Except as otherwise provided in this Tax
Agreement or unless the context otherwise requires, capitalized words and terms used in this Tax
Agreement have the same meanings as set forth in Section 101 of the Bond Indenture, and certain other
words and phrases have the meanings assigned in Code § 148 and the Regulations. In addition, the
following words and terms used in this Tax Agreement have the following meanings:
“Adjusted Gross Proceeds” means the Gross Proceeds of the New Money portion or the
Refunding Portion, as applicable, reduced by amounts (i) in a Bona Fide Debt Service Fund or a
reasonably required reserve or replacement fund, (ii) that as of the Issue Date are not expected to be Gross
Proceeds, but which arise after the end of the applicable spending period, and (iii) representing grant
repayments or sale or Investment proceeds of any purpose Investment.
“Annual Compliance Checklist” means a checklist for the Financed Facility designed to
measure compliance with the requirements of this Tax Agreement, the Authority Tax Compliance
Procedure and the Corporation Tax Compliance Procedure after the Issue Date as further described in
Section 4.2(e) and substantially in the form attached to this Tax Agreement as Exhibit F.
“Authority” means the State Environmental Improvement and Energy Resources Authority
(State of Missouri) and its successors and assigns, or any body, agency or instrumentality of the State of
Missouri succeeding to or charged with the powers, duties and functions of the Authority.
“Authority SRF Bonds” means any of the Authority’s tax-exempt State Revolving Fund
Revenue Bonds issued on behalf of DNR to finance loans to for water and wastewater purposes.
“Available Construction Proceeds” means the sale proceeds of the New Money Portion,
increased by Investment earnings on the sale proceeds, earnings on amounts in a reasonably required
reserve or replacement fund allocable to the New Money Portion but not funded from the New Money
Portion, and earnings on such earnings, reduced by sale proceeds (a) in a reasonably required reserve or
replacement fund, and (b) used to pay Costs of Issuance of the New Money Portion. But Available
Construction Proceeds do not include Investment earnings on amounts in a reasonably required reserve or
replacement fund after the earlier of (1) the date two years after the Issue Date, or (2) the date
construction of the Financed Facility is substantially completed. If the Authority has elected under
Code § 148(f)(4)(C)(vi)(IV) to rebate earnings on a reasonably required reserve or replacement fund, then
Available Construction Proceeds do not include any earnings on such account.
“Bona Fide Debt Service Fund” means a fund, which may include Bond proceeds, that is (a)
used primarily to achieve a proper matching of revenues with principal and interest payments on the
Bonds within each Bond Year, and (b) depleted at least once each Bond Year, except for a reasonable
carryover amount not to exceed the greater of (1) the earnings on the fund for the immediately preceding
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Bond Year, or (2) one-twelfth of the principal and interest payments on the Bonds for the immediately
preceding Bond Year.
“Bond” or “Bonds” means any bond or bonds of the series of Tax-Exempt Water Facilities
Revenue Bonds (Jefferson County Water Authority), Series 2021A, authenticated and delivered under the
Bond Indenture.
“Bond Compliance Officer” means the Authority’s Deputy Director or other person named in
the Tax Compliance Procedure.
“Bond Counsel” means Gilmore & Bell, P.C., or other firm of nationally recognized bond
counsel acceptable to the Authority and the Corporation.
“Bond Indenture” means the Indenture of Trust dated as of June 1, 2021, as originally executed
by the Authority and the Trustee, as amended and supplemented by Supplemental Bond Indentures in
accordance with the provisions of the Bond Indenture.
[**“Bond Insurance Policy” means the [**municipal Bond Insurance Policy**][**financial
guaranty insurance policy**] issued by the Bond Insurer concurrently with the issuance of the Bonds
guaranteeing the scheduled payment of the principal of and interest on the Bonds when due.**]
[**“Bond Insurer” means [Bond Insurer Name].**]
“Bond Year” means each 1-year period (or shorter period for the first Bond Year) ending January
1, or another 1-year period selected by the Corporation.
“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.
“Computation Date” means each date on which arbitrage rebate for the Bonds is computed. The
Corporation may treat any date as a Computation Date, subject to the following limits:
(a)

the first rebate installment payment must be made for a Computation Date not later than 5
years after the Issue Date;

(b)

each subsequent rebate installment payment must be made for a Computation Date not
later than 5 years after the previous Computation Date for which an installment payment
was made; and

(c)

the date the last Bond is discharged is the final Computation Date.

The Corporation selects January 1, 2026 as the first Computation Date but reserves the right to select a
different date consistent with the Regulations.
“Corporation” means Jefferson County Water Authority, a Missouri nonprofit corporation, and
its successors and assigns and any surviving, resulting or transferee corporation as provided in the Loan
Agreement.
“Corporation Bond Compliance Officer” means the Corporation’s General Manager or other
person named in the Tax Compliance Procedure.
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“Corporation Tax Compliance Procedure” means the Corporation’s Tax Compliance Policy
and Procedure on July 19, 2012, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit J.
“Costs of Issuance” means, generally, any cost or expense incurred on account of and in
connection with the borrowing including, (i) underwriters’ spread (whether realized directly or derived
through purchase of the Bonds at a discount below the price at which they are expected to be sold to the
public); (ii) counsel fees (including bond counsel, underwriter’s counsel, issuer’s counsel, company
counsel in the case of borrowings such as those for exempt facilities, as well as any other specialized
counsel fees incurred in connection with the borrowing); (iii) financial advisor fees incurred in connection
with the borrowing; (iv) rating agency fees; (v) trustee fees incurred in connection with the borrowing;
(vi) paying agent and certifying and authenticating agent fees related to issuance of the Bonds; (vii)
accountant fees (e.g., accountant verifications in the case of advance refundings) related to issuance of the
Bonds; (viii) printing costs (for the Bonds and of preliminary and final offering materials); (ix) costs
incurred in connection with the required public approval process (e.g., publication costs for public notices
generally and costs of the public hearing or voter referendum); and (x) costs of engineering and feasibility
studies necessary to the issuance of the Bonds (as opposed to such studies related to completion of the
Financed Facility, but not to the financing). However, Costs of Issuance do not include fees and expenses
directly related to the cost of credit enhancement for the Bonds to the extent such fees or expenses may be
included as a qualified guaranty in the calculation of the Yield on the Bonds.
“Costs of Issuance Fund” means the State Environmental Improvement and Energy Resources
Authority (State of Missouri) Costs of Issuance Fund--Jefferson County Water Authority Project, and
specifically, the separate account within such fund for the Bonds, established pursuant to the Bond
Indenture.
“Debt Service Fund” means the State Environmental Improvement and Energy Resources
Authority (State of Missouri) Debt Service Fund--Jefferson County Water Authority Project, and
specifically, the separate account within such fund for the Bonds, established pursuant to the Bond
Indenture.
“DNR” means the Department of Natural Resources of the State of Missouri.
“Final Written Allocation” means the written allocation of expenditures of proceeds of the
Original Obligations as summarized on Exhibit E and the written allocation of expenditures of the New
Money Portion prepared by the Corporation Bond Compliance Officer in accordance with the Authority
Tax Compliance Procedure and Section 4.2(b) of this Tax Agreement.
“Financed Facility” means any of the property financed or refinanced with the proceeds of the
Bonds, the Original Obligations, and Qualified Equity as summarized on Exhibit E.
“Gross Proceeds” means (a) sale proceeds (any amounts actually or constructively received by
the Authority from the sale of the Bonds, including amounts used to pay underwriting discount or fees,
but excluding pre-issuance accrued interest), (b) Investment proceeds (any amounts received from
investing sale proceeds or other Investment proceeds), (c) any amounts held in a sinking fund for the
Bonds, (d) any amounts held in a pledged fund or reserve fund for the Bonds, and (e) any other
replacement proceeds. Specifically, Gross Proceeds includes (but is not limited to) amounts held in the
following funds and accounts:
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•
•
•
•

Project Fund.
Costs of Issuance Fund.
Debt Service Fund.
Rebate Fund (to the extent funded with sale proceeds or Investment proceeds).

In addition, Gross Proceeds includes sale proceeds and Investment proceeds of the Bonds
transferred to the trustee for the Refunded Obligations and used to pay the outstanding principal of and
interest on the Refunded Obligations.
“Guaranteed Investment Contract” is any Investment with specifically negotiated withdrawal
or reinvestment provisions and a specifically negotiated interest rate, including any agreement to supply
Investments on 2 or more future dates (e.g., a forward supply contract).
“Investment” means any security, obligation, annuity contract or other investment-type property
that is purchased directly with, or otherwise allocated to, Gross Proceeds. This term does not include a
tax-exempt bond, except for “specified private activity bonds” as defined in Code § 57(a)(5)(C), but it
does include the investment element of most interest rate caps.
“IRS” means the United States Internal Revenue Service.
“Issue Date” means June __, 2021.
“Loan” means the loan of the Bond proceeds made by the Authority to the Corporation under the
Loan Agreement.
“Loan Agreement” means the Loan Agreement dated the date of this Tax Agreement, between
the Authority and the Corporation as from time to time amended by Supplemental Loan Agreements in
accordance with the provisions of the Loan Agreement.
“Management or Service Agreement” means any management, service, or incentive payment
contract with an entity that provides services involving all or a portion of any function of the Financed
Facility (as defined in Regulations § 1.141-3(b), such as a contract to manage all of the Financed Facility
or a portion of the Financed Facility. Contracts for services that are solely incidental to the primary
function of the Financed Facility (for example, contracts for janitorial, office equipment repair, billing, or
similar services) are not treated as Management or Service Agreements.
“Measurement Period” means, with respect to each item of property comprising a portion of the
Financed Facility financed or refinanced with proceeds of the New Money Portion, the period beginning
on the later of (a) the Issue Date or (b) the date the property is placed in service and ending on the earlier
of (1) the final maturity date of the Bonds or (2) the end of the expected economic useful life of the
property. For each item of property financed as part of the Financed Facility with proceeds of the
Original Obligations, “measurement period” means the period beginning on the later of (a) the issue date
of the Original Obligations or (b) the date the property is placed in service and ending on the earlier of (1)
the final maturity date of the Bonds or (2) the end of the expected economic useful life of the property.
“Minor Portion” means the lesser of $100,000 or 5% of the sale proceeds of the Bonds.
“Net Proceeds” means, when used in reference to the Bonds or the New Money Portion, sale
proceeds (excluding pre-issuance accrued interest), less an allocable share of any proceeds deposited in a
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reasonably required reserve or replacement fund, plus an allocable share of all Investment earnings on
such sale proceeds.
“New Money Portion” means the sale proceeds of the Bonds properly allocable to the financing
of new money capital expenditures together with allocable common costs of the Bonds.
“Non-Qualified Use” means use of Bond proceeds or the Financed Facility (1) in a trade or
business carried on by any Non-Qualified User, (2) in any activity of a Tax-Exempt Organization which
constitutes an “unrelated trade or business,” determined by applying Code § 513(a), or (3) to pay Costs of
Issuance. The rules set out in Regulations § 1.141-3 as modified by § 1.145-2 determines whether Bond
proceeds or the Financed Facility is “used” in a trade or business.
“Non-Qualified User” means any person or entity other than a Qualified User.
“Official Intent Date” means January 21, 2021, as described in Section 2.2(e)(3).
“Opinion of Bond Counsel” means a written opinion or advice of Bond Counsel to the effect
that the proposed action or proposed failure to act will not adversely affect the exclusion of interest on the
Bonds from gross income for federal income tax purposes.
“Original Obligation” means, collectively, the Series 2001C Obligation and the Series 2002A
Obligation which were the first debt obligations providing financing for the Financed Facility.
“Output Contract” is defined in Regulations § 1.141-7 and generally includes any contract with
a Non-Qualified User that provides for the purchase of the output of Financed Facility. A similar contract
with a Qualified User is not an Output Contract.
“Post-Issuance Tax Requirements” means those requirements related to the use of proceeds of
the Bonds, the use of the Financed Facility and the investment of Gross Proceeds after the Issue Date of
the Bonds.
“Project” means all of the property being acquired, developed, constructed, renovated, and
equipped by the Authority using proceeds of the Bonds, the Original Obligations and Qualified Equity, as
described in Exhibit D.
“Project Fund” means the State Environmental Improvement and Energy Resources Authority
(State of Missouri) Project Fund--Jefferson County Water Authority Project, established pursuant to the
Bond Indenture.
“Qualified Equity” means funds that are not derived from proceeds of a tax-exempt financing
that are spent on the Financed Facility at any time during the period beginning not earlier than the later of
(a) 60 days prior to the Official Intent Date or (b) three years prior to the Issue Date and ending not later
than the date the Financed Facility is capable of and actually used at substantially its designed level.
Qualified Equity excludes an ownership interest in real property or tangible personal property.
“Qualified Use Agreement” means an agreement or arrangement that (a) does not cause or result
in Non-Qualified Use of the Financed Facility and which (b) is described in one of the following
paragraphs:
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(1)
A lease or other short-term use by members of the general public who occupy the
Financed Facility on a short-term basis as customers in the ordinary course of the Corporation’s
tax-exempt purposes.
(2)
Agreements with Qualified Users or Non-Qualified Users to use all or a portion
of the Financed Facility for a period up to 200 days pursuant to an arrangement whereby (a) the
use of the Financed Facility under the same or similar arrangements is predominantly by natural
persons who are not engaged in a trade or business and (b) the compensation for the use is
determined based on generally applicable, fair market value rates that are in effect at the time the
agreement is entered into or renewed. Any Qualified User or Non-Qualified User using all or any
portion of the Financed Facility under this type of arrangement may have a right of first refusal to
renew the agreement at rates generally in effect at the time of the renewal.
(3)
Agreements with Qualified Users or Non-Qualified Users to use all or a portion
of the Financed Facility for a period up to 100 days pursuant to arrangements whereby (a) the use
of the property by the person would be general public use but for the fact that generally
applicable and uniformly applied rates are not reasonably available to natural persons not
engaged in a trade or business, (b) the compensation for the use under the arrangement is
determined based on applicable, fair market value rates that are in effect at the time the agreement
is entered into or renewed, and (c) the Financed Facility was not constructed for a principal
purpose of providing the property for use by that Qualified User or Non-Qualified User. Any
Qualified User or Non-Qualified User using all or any portion of the Financed Facility under this
type of arrangement may have a right of first refusal to renew the agreement at rates generally in
effect at the time of the renewal.
(4)
Agreements with Qualified Users or Non-Qualified Users to use all or a portion
of the Financed Facility for a period up to 50 days pursuant to a negotiated arm’s-length
arrangement at fair market value so long as the Financed Facility was not constructed for a
principal purpose of providing the property for use by that person.
“Qualified User” means a Tax-Exempt Organization or a State, territory, possession of the
United States, the District of Columbia, or any political subdivision thereof, or any instrumentality of
such entity, but it does not include the United States or any agency or instrumentality of the United States.
“Reasonable Retainage” means Gross Proceeds retained by the Corporation for reasonable
business purposes, such as to ensure or promote compliance with a construction contract; provided that
such amount may not exceed (a) for purposes of the 18-month spending test, 5% of net sale proceeds of
the New Money Portion on the date 18 months after the Issue Date, or (b) for purposes of the 2-year
spending test, 5% of the Available Construction Proceeds as of the end of the 2-year spending period.
“Rebate Analyst” means Gilmore & Bell, P.C. or any successor Rebate Analyst selected pursuant
to this Tax Agreement.
“Rebate Fund” means the State Environmental Improvement and Energy Resources Authority
(State of Missouri) Rebate Fund--Jefferson County Water Authority Project, established pursuant to the
Bond Indenture.
“Refunded Obligations” means, collectively, the Refunded Series 2001C Obligation and the
Refunded Series 2002A Obligation.
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“Refunded Series 2001C Obligation” means the $__________ outstanding principal amount of
the Series 2001C Obligation.
“Refunded Series 2002A Obligation” means the $__________ outstanding principal amount of
the Series 2002A Obligation.
“Refunding Portion” means the sale proceeds of the Bonds properly allocable to a current
refunding of the Refunded Obligations together with allocable common costs of the Bonds.
“Regulations” means all regulations issued by the U.S. Treasury Department to implement the
provisions of Code §§ 103 and 141 through 150 and applicable to the Bonds.
“Series 2001C Obligation” means the Loan Agreement dated as of November 1, 2001, among
the Authority, DNR and the Corporation, which is secured by a Promissory Note dated November 1, 2001
from the Corporation to the Authority in the principal amount of $10,435,000.
“Series 2002A Obligation” means the Loan Agreement dated as of May 1, 2002, among the
Authority, DNR and the Corporation, which is secured by a Promissory Note dated May 8, 2002 from the
Corporation to the Authority in the principal amount of $8,230,000.
“Series 2021B Bonds” means the Authority’s $[*Principal Amount-B*] principal amount of
Taxable Water Facilities Revenue Bonds (Jefferson County Water Authority Project), Series 2021B.
“Tax Agreement” means this Tax Compliance Agreement as it may from time to time be
amended and supplemented in accordance with its terms.
“Tax Compliance Procedure” means the Authority’s State Revolving Funds Programs Tax
Compliance Procedure dated July 25, 2013, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit I.
“Tax-Exempt Bond File” means documents and records for the Bonds, maintained by the
Corporation Bond Compliance Officer pursuant to the Tax Compliance Procedure.
“Tax-Exempt Organization” means a nonprofit organization, organized under the laws of the
United States of America or any state, that is described in Code § 501(c)(3) and is exempt from federal
income taxes under Code § 501(a).
“Transcript” means the Transcript of Proceedings relating to the authorization and issuance of
the Bonds.
“Trustee” means UMB Bank, N.A., and its successor or successors and any other corporation or
association which at any time may be substituted in its place at the time serving as Trustee under the Bond
Indenture.
“Underwriter” means Stifel, Nicolaus & Company, Incorporated, the underwriter of the Bonds.
“Yield” means yield on the Bonds, computed under Regulations § 1.148-4, and yield on an
Investment, computed under Regulations § 1.148-5.
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ARTICLE II
GENERAL REPRESENTATIONS AND COVENANTS
Section 2.1.
Representations and Covenants of the Authority. The Authority represents
and covenants to the Corporation and the Trustee as follows:
(a)
Organization and Authority. The Authority (1) is a body corporate and politic and a
governmental instrumentality of the State of Missouri duly organized and existing under the laws of the
State of Missouri, (2) has lawful power and authority to issue the Bonds for the purposes set forth in the
Bond Indenture, to enter into, execute and deliver the Bond Indenture, the Loan Agreement and this Tax
Agreement and to carry out its obligations under this Tax Agreement and under such documents, and (3),
by all necessary action has duly authorized the person executing this document to execute and deliver this
Tax Agreement.
(b)

Tax-Exempt Status of Bonds–General Covenant.

(1)
The Authority (to the extent within its power or control) will not use any money
on deposit in any fund or account maintained in connection with the Bonds, whether or not such
money was derived from the proceeds of the sale of the Bonds or from any other source, in a
manner that would cause the Bonds to be “arbitrage bonds,” within the meaning of Code § 148,
and will not (to the extent within its power or control) otherwise use or permit the use of any
Bond proceeds or any other funds of the Authority, directly or indirectly, in any manner, or take or
permit to be taken any other action or actions, that would cause interest on the Bonds to be
included in gross income for federal income tax purposes.
(2)
The Authority has and will account for the expenditure of the Bond proceeds and
Qualified Equity for the Project as described in Section 4.2. For purposes of the following
covenants related to the use of the Financed Facility portion of the Project, any Non-Qualified
Use shall be treated as first allocated entirely to the portion of the Project financed with Qualified
Equity.
(c)
Public Hearing and Approval. In connection with the issuance of the Bonds, the
Authority held a public hearing as required under Code § 147(f) regarding the proposed issuance of the
Bonds, at 10:00 A.M. on May 21, 2021, at the offices of the Authority in Jefferson City, Missouri, after
published notice of the hearing advised the public that a public hearing would be held on such date to
discuss the proposed issuance of the Bonds and that interested parties would have an opportunity to
express their views at that hearing. The hearing was open to the public, and those present were invited to
express their views relating to the issuance of the Bonds and the proposed use of the Bond proceeds.
After the public hearing the Governor of the State of Missouri approved the issuance of the Bonds as
required by Code § 147(f). The Certificate of Approval is attached to this Tax Agreement as Exhibit A,
together with an affidavit of publication of the notice of the hearing.
(d)
IRS Form 8038. Bond Counsel prepared IRS Form 8038 (Information Return for TaxExempt Private Activity Bond Issues) based on the representations and covenants of the Corporation and
the Authority contained in this Tax Agreement or otherwise provided by the Corporation and the
Authority. Bond Counsel signed the return as a paid preparer following completion and delivered copies
to the Authority for execution and for the Authority’s records. The Authority does not know of any
inaccuracies in the Form 8038 included as Exhibit B. The Authority agrees to timely execute and return
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to Bond Counsel the execution copy of Form 8038 for filing with the IRS. A copy of the “as-filed” copy
along with proof of filing will be included as Exhibit B.
(e)
Registration Requirement. The Bond Indenture requires that all of the Bonds will be
issued and held in registered form within the meaning of Code § 149(a).
(f)
Hedge Bonds. Based solely on the representations of the Corporation, the Authority
expects that (a) at least 85% of the net sale proceeds of the New Money Portion (the sale proceeds of the
New Money Portion less any sale proceeds invested in a reserve fund) will be used to carry out the
governmental purpose of the New Money Portion within 3 years after the Issue Date, and (b) not more
than 50% of the proceeds of the New Money Portion will be invested in investments having a
substantially guaranteed Yield for 4 years or more. At least 85% of the net sale proceeds of the Original
Obligations (the sale proceeds of the Original Obligations less any sale proceeds invested in a reserve
fund) were used to carry out the governmental purpose of the Original Obligations within 3 years after the
issue date of such obligations, and not more than 50% of the proceeds of the Original Obligations were
invested in Investments having a substantially guaranteed Yield for 4 years or more.
(g)
Single Issue; No Other Issues. The Bonds constitute a single “issue” under
Regulations § 1.150-1(c). The Series 2021B Bonds are being sold and issued at the same time as the
Bonds but the Bonds and the Series 2021B Bonds constitute separate issues because interest on the Series
2021B Bonds is includable in gross income for federal income tax purposes. Except for the Series 2021B
Bonds, no other obligations of the Authority (1) are being sold within 15 days of the sale of the Bonds, (2)
are being sold under the same plan of financing as the Bonds, and (3) are expected to be paid from
substantially the same source of funds as the Bonds (disregarding guarantees from unrelated parties, such
as bond insurance).
(h)
Authority Reliance on Other Parties. The expectations, representations and covenants of
the Authority concerning uses of Bond proceeds and certain other money described in this Tax Agreement
and other matters are based solely upon covenants, representations and certifications of the Corporation
and other parties set forth in this Tax Agreement or exhibits to this Tax Agreement. Although the
Authority has made no independent investigation of the representations of other parties, including the
Corporation, the Authority is not aware of any facts or circumstances that would cause it to question the
accuracy or reasonableness of any representation made in this Tax Agreement or exhibits to this Tax
Agreement.
(i)
Bank Qualified Tax-Exempt Obligation. The Authority is not designating the Bonds as
“qualified tax-exempt obligations” under Code § 265(b)(3).
Section 2.2.
Representations and Covenants of the Corporation.
represents and covenants to the Authority and the Trustee as follows:

The Corporation

(a)
Organization and Authority. The Corporation (1) is a private nonprofit corporation duly
organized and validly existing under the laws of the State of Missouri not operated for private or
corporate profit, (2) has lawful power and authority to enter into, execute and deliver the Loan Agreement
and this Tax Agreement and to carry out its obligations under the Loan Agreement and this Tax
Agreement and (3) by all necessary corporate action, has been duly authorized to execute and deliver the
Loan Agreement and this Tax Agreement, acting by and through its duly authorized officers.
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(b)
Tax-Exempt Status of the Corporation. The Corporation (1) has been determined to be
and is a Tax-Exempt Organization, and (2) has not declared and has not been determined to have any
“unrelated business taxable income” (as defined in Code § 512) which could have a material adverse
effect on its status as a Tax-Exempt Organization or which, if such income were subject to federal income
taxation, could have a material adverse effect on the condition, financial or otherwise, of the Corporation.
The Corporation received a letter from the IRS to the effect that it is a Tax-Exempt Organization, a copy
of which is attached to this Tax Agreement as Exhibit C. This letter has not been withdrawn, and no
audit or investigation by the IRS of the tax-exempt status of the Corporation is presently being conducted.
There has been no change or threatened change in the status of the Corporation as a Tax-Exempt
Organization as of the date of this Tax Agreement. At all times during the Measurement Period, the
Corporation has and will maintain its status as a Tax-Exempt Organization and will take no action or
permit any action to be taken that could result in the alteration or loss of its status as a Tax-Exempt
Organization.
(c)
Tax-Exempt Status of Bonds–General Covenant. In order to maintain the exclusion of the
interest on the Bonds from gross income for federal income tax purposes, the Corporation (1) will take
whatever action, and refrain from whatever action, necessary to comply with the applicable requirements
of the Code, (2) will not use or invest, or permit the use or investment of, any Bond proceeds, other
money held under the Bond Indenture, or other funds of the Corporation, in a manner that would violate
applicable provisions of the Code; and (3) will not use, or permit the use of, any portion of the Financed
Facility in a manner that would violate applicable provisions of the Code.
(d)

Qualified 501(c)(3) Bonds.

(1)
Ownership. During the Measurement Period, all of the property comprising the
Financed Facility has and will be owned for federal income tax purposes by a Qualified User.
(2)
Non-Qualified Use Limitation. During the Measurement Period, the amount of
Bond proceeds used in a Non-Qualified Use has not and will not exceed 5% of the Net Proceeds
of the Bonds. The Corporation understands that, for purposes of this paragraph, use of the
Financed Facility is treated as the use of Bond proceeds. As of the Issue Date, except for any
Costs of Issuance financed with the Net Proceeds of the Bonds, the Corporation does not expect
that any proceeds of the Bonds or any portion of the Financed Facility have been or will be used
in a Non-Qualified Use during the Measurement Period.
(3)
Management or Service Agreements. As of the Issue Date, the Corporation has
not entered into any Management or Service Agreements for any portion of the Financed Facility
with Non-Qualified Users during the Measurement Period. During the Measurement Period, the
Corporation has not and will not enter into or renew any Management or Service Agreement with
any Non-Qualified User without first consulting with Bond Counsel.
(4)
Leases and Other Use Agreements. As of the Issue Date, the Corporation has not
entered into any leases or similar use agreements or arrangements with respect to any portion of
the Financed Facility other than Qualified Use Agreements during the Measurement Period.
During the Measurement Period, the Corporation has not and will not enter into or renew any
lease or similar use agreement or arrangement other than a Qualified Use Agreement without first
consulting with Bond Counsel.
(5)
Output Contracts. As of the Issue Date, the Corporation has not entered into any
Output Contract with respect to the Financed Facility during the Measurement Period. During the

Tax Compliance Agreement

11

Measurement Period, the Corporation will not enter into or renew any Output Contract with
respect to the Financed Facility without first consulting with Bond Counsel.
(e)

Expenditure of Bond Proceeds.

(1)
General. The Corporation will evidence each allocation of the proceeds of the
New Money Portion and Qualified Equity for the Project to an expenditure in writing. No
allocation will be made more than 18 months following the later of (i) the date of the expenditure
or (ii) the date the Financed Facility allocable to the New Money Portion was placed in service.
(2)
Qualified Equity. The Corporation has and will account for the expenditure of
proceeds of the New Money Portion, proceeds of the Original Obligations and Qualified Equity
for the Project as described in Section 4.2. For purposes of the following covenants related to the
use of the Financed Facility portion of the Project, any Non-Qualified Use shall be treated as first
allocated entirely to the portion of the Project financed with Qualified Equity.
(3)

Reimbursement of Expenditures; Official Intent.

(A)
New Money Portion. On the Official Intent Date, the governing body of
the Corporation adopted a resolution declaring the intent of the Corporation to finance the
New Money Portion of the Financed Facility with tax-exempt bonds and to reimburse the
Corporation for expenditures made for the New Money Portion of the Financed Facility
prior to the issuance of the Bonds. A copy of the resolution is attached to this Tax
Agreement as Exhibit E. [** $____________ of the proceeds of the New Money
Portion will be allocated to expenditures paid by the Corporation prior to the Issue Date
and should be shown on line 45a of Form 8038.**] No portion of the Net Proceeds of the
New Money Portion will be used to reimburse an expenditure paid by the Corporation
more than 60 days prior to the date the resolution was adopted. The Corporation will
evidence each allocation of the proceeds of the New Money Portion to an expenditure in
writing. No reimbursement allocation will be made for an expenditure made more than 3
years before the date of the reimbursement allocation. In addition, no reimbursement
allocation will be made more than 18 months following the later of (i) the date of the
expenditure or (ii) the date the Financed Improvements was placed in service.
(B)
Refunding Portion. The governing body of the Corporation adopted one
or more resolutions declaring the intent of the Corporation to finance the Financed
Facility with tax-exempt bonds and to reimburse the Corporation for expenditures made
for the Financed Facility prior to the issuance of the Original Obligations. No portion of
the Net Proceeds of the Original Obligations was used to reimburse an expenditure paid
by the Corporation more than 60 days prior to the date the respective resolution was
adopted other than Preliminary Expenditures. The Corporation evidenced each allocation
of the proceeds of the Original Obligations to an expenditure in writing.
(f)

$150 Million Limitation; Qualified Hospital Bonds; Limit on Non-Hospital Bonds.

(1)
At least 95% of the Net Proceeds of the Bonds will be used to finance, refinance
or reimburse capital expenditures incurred after August 5, 1997.
(2)
The name and tax identification number of each “beneficiary” of the Financed
Facility” is listed as an attachment to IRS Form 8038 (part of Exhibit B to this Tax Agreement).
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A Qualified User is considered to be a “beneficiary” of the Financed Facility if it owns or leases
any portion of the Financed Facility, has contractual rights to use the Financed Facility similar to
an owner or a tenant, or has a contractual right to purchase more than 10% of the output of the
Financed Facility.
(g)
Limit on Maturity of Bonds. A list of the assets of the Financed Facility and a
computation of their “average reasonably expected economic life” is attached to this Tax Agreement as
Exhibit E. Based on this computation, the “average maturity” of the Bonds as computed by Bond
Counsel, does not exceed 120% of the average reasonably expected economic life of the Financed
Facility. For the purpose of Code § 147(b), the “average reasonably expected economic life” of the
Project financed with proceeds of the Original Obligations was determined as follows: the average
economic life of that portion of the Financed Facility as of the issue date of the Original Obligations was
first multiplied by 120%, then reduced by the number of years elapsed from the issue date of the Original
Obligations to the Issue Date.
(h)
Prohibited Facilities. No portion of the proceeds of the Original Obligations have been
or the proceeds of the Bonds will be used to provide any airplane, skybox, or other private luxury box,
any facility primarily used for gambling, or any store the principal business of which is the sale of
alcoholic beverages for consumption off premises, as such terms are used in Code § 147(e).
(i)
Limit on Costs of Issuance. Not more than 2% of the sale proceeds of the Bonds will be
used to pay Costs of Issuance.
(j)
Bonds Not Federally Guaranteed. The Corporation will not take any action or permit
any action to be taken which would cause the Bonds to be “federally guaranteed” within the meaning of
Code § 149(b).
(k)
Reports to IRS; Form 8038. The Corporation will instruct and assist the Authority in
filing all appropriate returns, reports and attachments to income tax returns required by the Code,
including without limitation IRS Form 8038 (Information Return for Tax-Exempt Private Activity Bond
Issues). The information contained in Parts II through VIII of IRS Form 8038 attached as Exhibit B was
provided to the Authority and Bond Counsel by the Corporation, and such information is true, complete
and correct as of the Issue Date. [**The Corporation has allocated $__________ of the Net Proceeds of
the New Money Portion to reimburse expenditures made prior to the Issue Date and that amount should
be reflected on Line 45a of Form 8038. A list of expenditures to be reimbursed is included as part of
Exhibit E.**] The Corporation specifically confirms the accuracy of the following information:

Type of Property Financed by Nonrefunding Proceeds
Land
Buildings and Structures
Equipment with Recovery Period of More Than 5 Years
Equipment with Recovery Period of 5 Years or Less
Other -- [**Add Description**]
Total -- (Should Equal Line 30 on Form 8038)
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Amount
$.00
.00
.00
.00
.00
$ 0.00

North American Industry Classification System (NAICS) of
Property Financed by Non-Refunding Proceeds
Amount of Non
Refunding
Classification Number
Proceeds
237110
.00
Total-- (Should Equal Line 30 on Form 8038)
$ 0.00
(l)
Single Issue; No Other Issues. The Bonds constitute a single “issue” under
Regulations § 1.150-1(c). The Series 2021B Bonds are being sold and issued at the same time as the
Bonds but the Bonds and the Series 2021B Bonds constitute separate issues because interest on the Series
2021B Bonds is includable in gross income for federal income tax purposes. Except for the Series 2021B
Bonds, no other obligations of the Corporation (1) are being sold within 15 days of the sale of the Bonds,
(2) are being sold under the same plan of financing as the Bonds, and (3) are expected to be paid from
substantially the same source of funds as the Bonds (disregarding guarantees from unrelated parties, such
as bond insurance).
(m)

Hedge Bonds.

(1)
New Money Portion. The Corporation expects that (a) at least 85% of the net
sale proceeds of the New Money Portion (the sale proceeds of the New Money Portion less any
sale proceeds invested in a reserve fund) will be used to carry out the governmental purpose of
the New Money Portion within 3 years after the Issue Date, and (b) not more than 50% of the
proceeds of the New Money Portion will be invested in Investments having a substantially
guaranteed Yield for 4 years or more.
(2)
Refunding Portion. At least 85% of the net sale proceeds of the Original
Obligations (the sale proceeds of the Original Obligations less any sale proceeds invested in a
reserve fund) were used to carry out the governmental purpose of the Original Obligations within
3 years after the issue date of such obligations, and not more than 50% of the proceeds of the
Original Obligations were invested in Investments having a substantially guaranteed Yield for 4
years or more.
(n)
Arbitrage Certifications. The facts, estimates and expectations recited in Article III of
this Tax Agreement are true and accurate as of the Issue Date; and the Corporation believes that the
estimates and expectations recited in such Article are reasonable as of the Issue Date. The Authority, the
Trustee, Gilmore & Bell, P.C., Bond Counsel, and the Underwriter may rely on such statements and
expectations. The Corporation does not expect that the Bond proceeds will be used in a manner that
would cause any Bond to be an “arbitrage bond” within the meaning of Code § 148; and to the best of the
Corporation’s knowledge and belief, there are no other facts, estimates or circumstances that would
materially change such expectations.
(o)
Interest Rate Swap. As of the Issue Date, the Corporation has not entered into an interest
rate swap agreement or any other similar arrangement designed to modify its interest rate risk with respect
to the Bonds. The Corporation will not enter into any such arrangement in the future without consulting
with Bond Counsel.
(p)
Guaranteed Investment Contract. As of the Issue Date, the Corporation does not expect
to enter into a Guaranteed Investment Contract for any Gross Proceeds of the Bonds. The Corporation
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will be responsible for complying with Section 4.4(d) if a Guaranteed Investment Contract is used for the
investment of Gross Proceeds at a later date.
(q)
Bank Qualified Tax-Exempt Obligation.
obligations” under Code § 265(b)(3).

The Bonds are not “qualified tax-exempt

Section 2.3.
Representations and Covenants of the Trustee. The Trustee represents and
covenants to the Authority and the Corporation as follows:
(a)
The Trustee will comply with the provisions of this Tax Agreement that apply to it as
Trustee and any written letter or Opinion of Bond Counsel, specifically referencing the Bonds and
received by the Trustee, that sets forth any action necessary to comply with any statute, regulation or
ruling that may apply to it as Trustee and relating to reporting requirements or other requirements
necessary to preserve the exclusion of the interest on the Bonds from gross income for federal income tax
purposes.
(b)
The Trustee, acting on behalf of the Corporation and the Authority, may from time to
time cause a firm of attorneys, consultants or independent accountants or an investment banking firm to
provide the Trustee with such information as it may request in order to determine all matters relating to
(1) the Yield on the Bonds as it relates to any data or conclusions necessary to verify that the Bonds are
not “arbitrage bonds” within the meaning of Code § 148, and (2) compliance with arbitrage rebate
requirements of Code § 148(f). The Corporation will pay all costs and expenses incurred in connection
with supplying the foregoing information.
(c)
The Trustee, acting on behalf of the Corporation and the Authority, will retain records
related to the investment and expenditure of Gross Proceeds held in funds and accounts maintained by the
Trustee and any records provided to the Trustee by the Authority or Corporation related to the PostIssuance Tax Requirements in accordance with Section 4.2(a) of this Tax Agreement. The Trustee will
retain these records until three years following the final maturity of (i) the Bonds or (ii) any obligation
issued to refund the Bonds; provided, however, if the Trustee is not retained to serve as Trustee for any
obligation issued to refund the Bonds (a “Refunding Obligation”), then the Trustee may satisfy its record
retention duties under this Section 2.3(c) by providing copies of all records in its possession related to the
Bonds to the Trustee for the Refunding Obligation or other party agreed upon by the Corporation and the
Authority.
Section 2.4.
Survival of Representations and Covenants. All representations, covenants
and certifications of the Authority, the Corporation and the Trustee contained in this Tax Agreement or in
any certificate or other instrument delivered by the Authority, the Corporation or the Trustee under this
Tax Agreement, will survive the execution and delivery of such documents and the issuance of the Bonds,
as representations of facts existing as of the date of execution and delivery of the instruments containing
such representations. The foregoing covenants of this Section will remain in full force and effect
notwithstanding the defeasance of the Bonds.

ARTICLE III
ARBITRAGE CERTIFICATIONS AND COVENANTS
Section 3.1.
General. The purpose of this Article III is to certify, under Regulations § 1.1482(b), the Authority’s expectations as to the sources, uses and investment of Bond proceeds and other
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money, in order to support the Authority’s conclusion that the Bonds are not arbitrage bonds. The person
executing this Tax Agreement on behalf of the Authority is an officer of the Authority responsible for
issuing the Bonds.
Section 3.2.
Reasonable Expectations. The facts, estimates and expectations set forth in this
Article III are based upon the Authority’s understanding of the documents and certificates that comprise
the Transcript and the representations, covenants and certifications of the parties thereto. To the
Authority’s knowledge, the facts and estimates set forth in this Tax Agreement are accurate, and the
expectations of the Authority set forth in this Tax Agreement are reasonable. The Authority has no
knowledge that would cause it to believe that the representations, warranties and certifications described
in this Tax Agreement are unreasonable or inaccurate or may not be relied upon.
Section 3.3.
Purposes of the Financing. The Bonds are being issued to make a loan to the
Corporation to provide funds to (a) finance the costs of certain water facilities of the Corporation, (b)
refund the Refunded Obligations, and (b) pay certain Costs of Issuance. The purpose of refunding the
Refunded Obligations is to achieve debt service savings and provide for an orderly plan of finance.
Section 3.4.
Funds and Accounts. The following funds and accounts have been established
in the custody of the Trustee under the Bond Indenture:
•
•
•
•

Project Fund.
Costs of Issuance Fund.
Debt Service Fund.
Rebate Fund.

Section 3.5.

Amount and Use of Bond Proceeds and Other Money.

(a)
Amount of Bond Proceeds. The total proceeds to be received by the Authority from the
sale of the Bonds will be as follows:
Principal Amount
[**Net Original Issue Premium/(Discount)**]
Less Underwriting Discount
Total Proceeds Received by Authority
(b)
as follows:

$[Principal Amount].00
.00
.00
$ 0.00

Use of Bond Proceeds. The Bond proceeds are expected to be allocated to expenditures

(1)
$__________ will be deposited in the Costs of Issuance Fund and used to pay
Costs of Issuance of the Bonds.
(2)
$__________ will be deposited in the Project Fund. Of this amount,
$__________ will be used to reimburse the Corporation for costs of the Financed Facility paid
before the Issue Date, and $___________ will be used to pay future costs of the Financed Facility
and $__________ will be transferred to UMB Bank, N.A., as trustee for the Refunded
Obligations and used to pay the principal of and interest on the Refunded Obligations on July 1,
2021.
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(c)
Use of Other Money. Money of the Corporation other than proceeds of the Bonds are
expected to be allocated to expenditures as follows:
(1)
$__________ from the debt service fund established for the Refunded Series
2001C Obligation will be used to pay the principal of and interest on the Refunded Series 2001C
Obligation on July 1, 2021.
(2)
$__________ from the debt service fund established for the Refunded Series
2002A Obligation will be used to pay the principal of and interest on the Refunded Series 2002A
Obligation on July 1, 2021.
(3)
$___________ of proceeds of the Series 2021B Bonds will be deposited to the
Series 2021B Account of the Costs of Issuance Fund and used to pay Costs of Issuance of the
Bonds and the Series 2012B Bonds.
Section 3.6.

Current Refunding.

(a)
Proceeds Used For Current Refunding; Refinancing of Loans; Authority SRF Bonds.
Proceeds of the Refunding Portion will be used to pay principal of and interest on the Refunded
Obligations. All of these proceeds will be used on July 1, 2021 to redeem the Refunded Obligations, and
not later than 90 days after the Issue Date. Further, the Authority and DNR have advised the Corporation
that the Refunded Obligations were financed in whole or in part by Authority SRF Bonds subject to the
Code and Regulations. On Exhibit K, DNR has certified that for federal income tax purposes, DNR will
allocate proceeds of the Bonds transferred to DNR for purposes other than the payment of interest on and
principal of Authority SRF Bonds coming due more than 90 days following the Issue Date. Based on
these certifications, Bond Counsel advises that the refunding of the Refunded Obligations is not an
advance refunding of Authority SRF Bonds. DNR further advises that Bond proceeds transferred to it
will be invested at a Yield that is less than the Yield on the Bonds and the lowest Yield on any Authority
SRF Bonds outstanding prior to the date it is spent or advanced to fund new loans.
(b)
Transferred Proceeds. There are no unspent proceeds (sale proceeds, Investment
proceeds or transferred proceeds) of the Refunded Obligations. Therefore, there are no transferred
proceeds of the Bonds.
Section 3.7.
Project Completion – New Money Portion. The Corporation has incurred, or
will incur within 6 months after the Issue Date, a substantial binding obligation to a third party to spend at
least 5% of the Net Proceeds of the New Money Portion on the Financed Facility. The completion of the
Financed Facility and the allocation of the Net Proceeds of the New Money Portion to expenditures will
proceed with due diligence. At least 85% of the net sale proceeds of the New Money Portion will be
allocated to expenditures on the Financed Facility within 3 years after the Issue Date.
Section 3.8.
Loan Agreement/Sinking Funds. The Authority is loaning the Bond proceeds
to the Corporation under the Loan Agreement. The Corporation is required under the Loan Agreement to
make periodic payments to the Trustee in amounts sufficient to pay the principal of and interest on the
Bonds. The Trustee will deposit such payments into the Debt Service Fund. Except for the Debt Service
Fund, neither the Authority nor the Corporation has established or expects to establish any sinking fund or
other similar fund that is expected to be used to pay principal of or interest on the Bonds. The Debt
Service Fund is used primarily to achieve a proper matching of revenues with principal and interest
payments on the Bonds within each Bond Year, and the Authority and the Corporation expect that the
Debt Service Fund will qualify as a Bona Fide Debt Service Fund.
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Section 3.9.
(a)

Reserve, Replacement and Pledged Funds.

Debt Service Reserve Fund. No reserve or replacement fund has been established for the

Bonds.
(b)
No Other Replacement or Pledged Funds. None of the Bond proceeds will be used as a
substitute for other funds that were intended or earmarked to pay costs of the Financed Facility, and that
have been or will be used to acquire higher yielding Investments. Except for the Debt Service Fund, there
are no other funds pledged or committed in a manner that provides a reasonable assurance that such funds
would be available for payment of the principal of or interest on the Bonds if the Authority or the
Corporation encounters financial difficulty.
Section 3.10. Purpose Investment Yield. The Yield on the Loan will not exceed the Yield on
the Bonds by more than 1/8%, as permitted by Regulations § 1.148-2(d)(2)(i). In determining such Loan
Yield, “qualified administrative costs” of the Loan paid by the Corporation are taken into account to
increase payments for, and reduce receipts from, the Loan, as permitted by Regulations § 1.148-5(e)(3).
“Qualified administrative costs” are (1) costs or expenses paid, directly or indirectly, to purchase, carry,
sell or retire the Loan, and (2) costs of issuing, carrying or repaying the Bonds, and the underwriting fees;
but fees paid to the Authority are not qualified administrative costs.
Section 3.11.

Issue Price and Yield on Bonds.

(a)
Issue Price. Based on the Underwriter’s certifications in the Underwriter’s Receipt for
Bonds and Closing Certificate, the Authority and the Corporation hereby elect to establish the issue prices
of the Bonds pursuant to Regulations § 1.148-1(f)(2)(i) (relating to the so-called “general rule”).
Therefore, the aggregate issue price of the Bonds for such purpose is $__________.
(b)
Bond Yield. Based on the issue prices, the Yield on the Bonds is _____%, as computed
by Bond Counsel as shown on Exhibit H. Neither the Authority nor the Corporation has entered into an
interest rate swap agreement with respect to any portion of the proceeds of the Bonds.
[**The Bond Insurer has issued the Bond Insurance Policy, which guarantees the scheduled
payment of the principal of and interest on the Bonds when due. [**In the Underwriter Receipt for Bonds
and Closing Certificate**], the Underwriter has represented that the premium for the Bond Insurance
Policy does not exceed a reasonable, arm’s-length charge for the transfer of credit risk and that the present
value of the Bond Insurance Policy premium is less than the present value of the interest expected to be
saved as a result of the Bond Insurance Policy. In the certificate of Bond Insurer, the Bond Insurer has
represented that the Bond Insurance Policy premium does not include any payment for any direct or
indirect services other than the transfer of credit risk. The premium for the Bond Insurance Policy is
treated as a payment for a qualified guarantee under Regulations § 1.148-4(f).**]
Section 3.12.

Miscellaneous Arbitrage Matters.

(a)
No Abusive Arbitrage Device. The Bonds are not and will not be part of a transaction or
series of transactions that has the effect of (1) enabling the Authority or the Corporation to exploit the
difference between tax-exempt and taxable interest rates to gain a material financial advantage, and (2)
overburdening the tax-exempt bond market.
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(b)
No Over-Issuance. The sale proceeds of the Bonds, together with expected investment
earnings thereon and other money contributed by the Corporation do not exceed the cost of the
governmental purpose of the Bonds as described above.
Section 3.13. Conclusion. On the basis of the facts, estimates and circumstances set forth in
this Tax Agreement, the Authority does not expect that the Bond proceeds will be used in a manner that
would cause any Bond to be an “arbitrage bond” within the meaning of Code § 148 and the Regulations.

ARTICLE IV
POST-ISSUANCE TAX REQUIREMENTS, POLICIES AND PROCEDURES
Section 4.1.

General.

(a)
Purpose of Article. The purpose of this Article IV is to supplement the Tax Compliance
Procedure and to set out specific policies and procedures governing compliance with the federal income
tax requirements that apply after the Bonds are issued. The Authority and the Corporation recognize that
interest on the Bonds will remain excludable from gross income only if the Post-Issuance Tax
Requirements are followed after the Issue Date. The Authority and the Corporation further acknowledge
that written evidence substantiating compliance with the Post-Issuance Tax Requirements must be
retained to permit the Bonds to be refinanced with tax-exempt obligations and substantiate the position
that interest on the Bonds is exempt from gross income in the event of an audit of the Bonds by the IRS.
(b)
Written Policies and Procedures of the Authority. The Authority intends for the Tax
Compliance Procedure, as supplemented by this Tax Agreement, to be its primary written policies and
procedures for monitoring compliance with the Post-Issuance Tax Requirements for the Bonds and to
supplement any other formal policies and procedures related to tax compliance that the Authority has
established. The provisions of this Tax Agreement are intended to be consistent with the Tax Compliance
Procedure. In the event of any inconsistency between the Tax Compliance Procedure and this Tax
Agreement, the terms of this Tax Agreement will govern.
(c)
Corporation Responsible for Post-Issuance Tax Requirements. A copy of the Tax
Compliance Procedure is attached to this Tax Agreement as Exhibit I. The Tax Compliance Procedure
contemplates that the Corporation will follow the Tax Compliance Procedure. The Authority and the
Corporation acknowledge that the investment and expenditure of proceeds of the Bonds are within the
control of the Corporation, and that substantially all of the proceeds of the property financed or refinanced
by the Bonds is controlled by the Corporation. For these reasons, the Authority is relying on the
Corporation to carry out the Post-Issuance Tax Requirements as set out this Tax Agreement and the Tax
Compliance Procedure. The Corporation agrees to undertake these obligations and the obligations
imposed on it by the Tax Compliance Procedure. The Authority and the Bond Compliance Officer will
cooperate with the Corporation when necessary to enable the Corporation to fulfill its Post-Issuance Tax
Requirements. Subject to this Section 4.1(c) and 4.1(d), this cooperation includes, but is not limited to,
signing Form 8038-T in connection with the payment of arbitrage rebate or Yield reduction payments,
participating in any federal income tax audit of the Bonds or related proceedings under a voluntary
compliance agreement procedure (VCAP) or a remedial action procedure pursuant to Regulations
§§ 1.141-12 and 1.145-2.
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(d)
Advice or Opinion of Bond Counsel. Prior to taking any action requested by the
Corporation Bond Compliance Officer to carry out the Post-Issuance Tax Requirements, the Authority is
entitled to seek and receive advice or an Opinion of Bond Counsel acceptable to the Authority.
(e)
Payment of Costs of Post-Issuance Tax Requirements and Indemnifications. Neither the
Authority nor the Trustee is required to incur any cost in connection with any action taken related to the
Post-Issuance Tax Requirements, it being the intent of the parties that all costs of the Post-Issuance Tax
Requirements will be paid by, or immediately reimbursed by, the Corporation. With respect to all actions
requested of the Authority by the Corporation involving Post-Issuance Tax Requirements, the Authority is
entitled to recover from the Corporation all legal and other fees and expenses incurred and has all rights
of indemnification against the Corporation generally contained in the Loan Agreement and the Indenture.
Section 4.2.

Record Keeping; Use of Bond Proceeds and Use of Financed Facility.

(a)
Record Keeping. The Corporation Bond Compliance Officer will maintain the TaxExempt Bond File for the Bonds in accordance with the Tax Compliance Procedure. Unless otherwise
specifically instructed in any advice or a written Opinion of Bond Counsel or to the extent otherwise
provided in this Tax Agreement, the Corporation Bond Compliance Officer shall retain records related to
the Post-Issuance Tax Requirements until 3 years following the final maturity of (i) the Bonds or (ii) any
obligation issued to refund the Bonds. Any records maintained electronically must comply with Section
4.01 of Revenue Procedure 97-22, which generally provides that an electronic storage system must (1)
ensure an accurate and complete transfer of the hardcopy records which indexes, stores, preserves,
retrieves and reproduces the electronic records, (2) include reasonable controls to ensure integrity,
accuracy and reliability of the electronic storage system and to prevent unauthorized alteration or
deterioration of electronic records, (3) exhibit a high degree of legibility and readability both
electronically and in hardcopy, (4) provide support for other books and records of the Authority and (5)
not be subject to any agreement that would limit the ability of the IRS to access and use the electronic
storage system on the Authority’s premises. If requested, the Corporation Bond Compliance Officer will
provide the Bond Compliance Officer with a complete copy of the Tax-Exempt Bond File.
(b)
Accounting and Allocation of Bond Proceeds to Expenditures. The Corporation Bond
Compliance Officer will account for the investment and expenditure of New Money Portion proceeds in
the level of detail required by the Authority Tax Compliance Procedure. The Corporation Bond
Compliance Officer will supplement the expected allocation of Bond proceeds to expenditures with a
Final Written Allocation as required by the Authority Tax Compliance Procedure. A sample form of Final
Written Allocation is attached as Exhibit G. Proceeds of the Refunding Portion will be used as described
in Sections 3.5 and 3.6. The Corporation Bond Compliance Officer will maintain accounting records
showing the investment and expenditure of this money as part of the Tax-Exempt Bond File. The
Corporation Bond Compliance Officer has prepared written records substantiating the allocation of
proceeds the Original Obligations to the Financed Facility through requisitions from the project fund
established under the indentures for the Original Obligations. This allocation is summarized on
Exhibit E and is intended to constitute the Final Written Allocation for the Original Obligations.
(c)
Annual Compliance Checklist. Attached as Exhibit F is a form of Annual Compliance
Checklist for the Bonds. The Corporation Bond Compliance Officer will prepare and complete an Annual
Compliance Checklist for the Financed Facility at least annually in accordance with the Tax Compliance
Procedure. If the Annual Compliance Checklist identifies a deficiency in compliance with the
requirements of this Tax Agreement, then the Corporation Bond Compliance Officer will consult with the
Bond Compliance Officer and in conjunction with the Bond Compliance Officer will take the actions

Tax Compliance Agreement

20

identified in advice or an Opinion of Bond Counsel or the Tax Compliance Procedure to correct any
deficiency.
(d)
Advice or Opinions of Bond Counsel. The Corporation Bond Compliance Officer is
responsible for obtaining and delivering to the Authority and the Trustee any advice or Opinion of Bond
Counsel required under the provisions of this Tax Agreement, including any advice or Opinion of Bond
Counsel required by this Tax Agreement or the Annual Compliance Checklist.
Section 4.3.
Investment Yield Restriction. Except as described below, Gross Proceeds must
not be invested at a Yield greater than the Yield on the Bonds:
(a)
Project Fund and Cost of Issuance Fund. Bond proceeds deposited in the Project Fund
and the Cost of Issuance Fund and Investment earnings on such proceeds may be invested without Yield
restriction for up to 3 years following the Issue Date. If any unspent proceeds remain in such funds after
3 years, such amounts may continue to be invested without Yield restriction so long as the Corporation
pays to the IRS all Yield reduction payments in accordance with Regulations § 1.148-5(c). These
payments are required whether or not the Bonds are exempt from the arbitrage rebate requirements of
Code § 148.
(b)
Proceeds Allocable to a Current Refunding of the Refunded Obligations. Bond proceeds
deposited in the Refunding Account or otherwise allocable to a current refunding of the Refunded
Obligations (see Section 3.6 hereof) may be invested at an unrestricted rate for up to 90 days following
the Issue Date.
(c)
Debt Service Fund. To the extent that the Debt Service Fund qualifies as a Bona Fide
Debt Service Fund, money in such account may be invested without yield restriction for 13 months after
the date of deposit. Earnings on such amounts may be invested without yield restriction for 1 year after
the date of receipt of such earnings.
(d)
Rebate Fund. Money other than sale proceeds or Investment proceeds of the Bonds on
deposit in the Rebate Fund may be invested without Yield restriction.
(e)
Minor Portion. In addition to the amounts described above, Gross Proceeds not
exceeding the Minor Portion may be invested without yield restriction.
Section 4.4.

Procedures for Establishing Fair Market Value .

(a)
General. No Investment may be acquired with Gross Proceeds for an amount (including
transaction costs) in excess of the fair market value of such Investment, or sold or otherwise disposed of
for an amount (including transaction costs) less than the fair market value of the Investment. The fair
market value of any Investment is the price a willing buyer would pay to a willing seller to acquire the
Investment in a bona fide, arm’s-length transaction. Fair market value will be determined in accordance
with Regulations § 1.148-5.
(b)
Established Securities Market. Except for Investments purchased for a yield-restricted
defeasance escrow, if an Investment is purchased or sold in an arm’s-length transaction on an established
securities market (within the meaning of Code § 1273), the purchase or sale price constitutes the fair
market value. Where there is no established securities market for an Investment, market value must be
established using one of the paragraphs below. The fair market value of Investments purchased for a
Yield-restricted defeasance escrow must be determined in a bona fide solicitation for bids that complies
with Regulations § 1.148-5.
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(c)
Certificates of Deposit. The purchase price of a certificate of deposit (a “CD”) is treated
as its fair market value on the purchase date if (1) the CD has a fixed interest rate, a fixed payment
schedule, and a substantial penalty for early withdrawal, (2) the Yield on the CD is not less than the Yield
on reasonably comparable direct obligations of the United States, and (3) the Yield is not less than the
highest Yield published or posted by the CD issuer to be currently available on reasonably comparable
CDs offered to the public.
(d)
Guaranteed Investment Contracts. The Authority and the Corporation are applying
Regulations § 1.148-5(d)(6)(iii)(A) to the Bonds. The purchase price of a Guaranteed Investment
Contract is treated as its fair market value on the purchase date if all of the following requirements are
met:
(1)
Bona Fide Solicitation for Bids. The Corporation or the Trustee makes a bona
fide solicitation for the Guaranteed Investment Contract, using the following procedures:
(A)
The bid specifications are in writing and are timely forwarded to
potential providers, or are made available on an internet website or other similar
electronic media that is regularly used to post bid specifications to potential bidders. A
writing includes a hard copy, a fax, or an electronic e-mail copy.
(B)
The bid specifications include all “material” terms of the bid. A term is
material if it may directly or indirectly affect the yield or the cost of the Guaranteed
Investment Contract.
(C)
The bid specifications include a statement notifying potential providers
that submission of a bid is a representation (i) that the potential provider did not consult
with any other potential provider about its bid, (ii) that the bid was determined without
regard to any other formal or informal agreement that the potential provider has with the
Authority, the Corporation, the Trustee, or any other person (whether or not in connection
with the bond issue), and (iii) that the bid is not being submitted solely as a courtesy to
the Authority, the Corporation, the Trustee, or any other person, for purposes of satisfying
the requirements of the Regulations.
(D)
The terms of the bid specifications are “commercially reasonable.” A
term is commercially reasonable if there is a legitimate business purpose for the term
other than to increase the purchase price or reduce the yield of the Guaranteed Investment
Contract.
(E)
The terms of the solicitation take into account the Corporation’s
reasonably expected deposit and draw-down schedule for the amounts to be invested.
(F)
All potential providers have an equal opportunity to bid. If the bidding
process affords any opportunity for a potential provider to review other bids before
providing a bid, then providers have an equal opportunity to bid only if all potential
providers have an equal opportunity to review other bids. Thus, no potential provider
may be given an opportunity to review other bids that is not equally given to all potential
providers (that is no exclusive “last look”).
(G)
At least 3 “reasonably competitive providers” are solicited for bids. A
reasonably competitive provider is a provider that has an established industry reputation
as a competitive provider of the type of investments being purchased.
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(2)
Bids Received. The bids received by the Corporation or Trustee must meet all of
the following requirements:
(A)
The Corporation or Trustee receives at least 3 bids from providers that
were solicited as described above and that do not have a “material financial interest” in
the issue. For this purpose, (i) a lead underwriter in a negotiated underwriting transaction
is deemed to have a material financial interest in the issue until 15 days after the issue
date of the issue, (ii) any entity acting as a financial advisor with respect to the purchase
of the Guaranteed Investment Contract at the time the bid specifications are forwarded to
potential providers has a material financial interest in the issue, and (iii) a provider that is
a related party to a provider that has a material financial interest in the issue is deemed to
have a material financial interest in the issue.
(B)
At least 1 of the 3 bids received is from a reasonably competitive
provider, as defined above.
(C)
If the Corporation or Trustee uses an agent or broker to conduct the
bidding process, the agent or broker did not bid to provide the Guaranteed Investment
Contract.
(3)
Winning Bid. The winning bid is the highest yielding bona fide bid (determined
net of any broker’s fees).
(4)
Fees Paid. The obligor on the Guaranteed Investment Contract certifies the
administrative costs that it pays (or expects to pay, if any) to third parties in connection with
supplying the Guaranteed Investment Contract.
(5)
Records. The Corporation and the Trustee retain the following records with the
bond documents until 3 years after the last outstanding Bond is redeemed:
(A)

A copy of the Guaranteed Investment Contract.

(B)
The receipt or other record of the amount actually paid by the
Corporation or Trustee for the Guaranteed Investment Contract, including a record of any
administrative costs paid by the Corporation or Trustee, and the certification as to fees
paid, described in paragraph (d)(4) above.
(C)
For each bid that is submitted, the name of the person and entity
submitting the bid, the time and date of the bid, and the bid results.
(D)
The bid solicitation form and, if the terms of the Guaranteed Investment
Contract deviated from the bid solicitation form or a submitted bid is modified, a brief
statement explaining the deviation and stating the purpose for the deviation.
(e)
Other Investments. If an Investment is not described above, the fair market value may be
established through a competitive bidding process, as follows:
(1)
at least 3 bids on the Investment must be received from persons with no financial
interest in the Bonds (e.g., as underwriters or brokers); and
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(2)
the Yield on the Investment must be equal to or greater than the Yield offered
under the highest bid.
Section 4.5.

Exemption of Certain Gross Proceeds from the Rebate Requirement.

(a)
General. A portion of the Gross Proceeds of the Bonds may be exempt from rebate
pursuant to one or more of the following exceptions. The exceptions typically will not apply with respect
to all Gross Proceeds of the Bonds and will not otherwise affect the application of the Investment
limitations described in Section 4.3. Unless specifically noted, the obligation to compute, and if
necessary, to pay rebate as set forth in Section 4.6 applies even if a portion of the Gross Proceeds of the
Bonds is exempt from the rebate requirement. To the extent all or a portion of the Bonds is exempt from
rebate the Rebate Analyst may account for such fact in connection with its preparation of a rebate report
described in Section 4.6.
(b)

Applicable Spending Exceptions.

(1)
The Corporation and (based solely on the expectations of the Corporation) the
Authority expect that at least 75% of the Available Construction Proceeds will be used for
construction or rehabilitation expenditures for property owned by the Corporation.
(2)

The following optional rebate spending exceptions can apply to the Bonds:

(A)
▪
▪
▪

New Money Portion:
6-month spending exception (Code § 148(f)(4)(B) and Regulations § 1.148-7(c).
18-month spending exception (Regulations § 1.148-7(d).
2-year spending exception (Code § 148(f)(4)(C) and Regulations § 1.148-7(e).

▪

Refunding Portion:
6-month spending exception (Code § 148(f)(4)(B) and Regulations § 1.148-7(c)).

(B)

(c)
Special Elections Made with Respect to Spending Exception Elections. No special
elections are being made in connection with the application of the spending exceptions.
(d)
Bona Fide Debt Service Fund. To the extent that the Debt Service Fund qualifies as a
Bona Fide Debt Service Fund, Investment earnings in the fund cannot be taken into account in computing
arbitrage rebate (1) with respect to such portion that meets the 6-month, 18-month or 2-year spending
exception, or (2) for a given Bond Year, if the gross earnings on the Debt Service Fund for such Bond
Year are less than $100,000. If the average annual debt service on the Bonds does not exceed $2,500,000,
the $100,000 earnings test may be treated as satisfied in every Bond Year.
(e)
Documenting Application of Spending Exception. At any time prior to the first
Computation Date, the Corporation may engage the Rebate Analyst to determine whether one or more
spending exceptions has been satisfied, and the extent to which the Corporation must continue to comply
with Section 4.6 hereof.
(f)
General Requirements for Spending Exception.
apply in determining whether a spending exception is met.

The following general requirements

(1)
Using Adjusted Gross Proceeds or Available Construction Proceeds to pay
principal of any Bonds is not taken into account as an expenditure for purposes of meeting any of
the spending tests.
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(2)
The 6-month spending exception generally is met if all Adjusted Gross Proceeds
of the New Money Portion or the Refunding Portion, as applicable, are spent within 6 months
following the Issue Date. The test may still be satisfied even if up to 5% of the sale proceeds
remain at the end of the initial 6-month period, so long as this amount is spent within 1 year of
the Issue Date.
(3)
The 18-month spending exception generally is met if all Adjusted Gross Proceeds
of the New Money Portion are spent in accordance with the following schedule:
Minimum
Percentage of
Adjusted Gross
Proceeds
Spent
15%
60%
100%

Time Period
After the
Issue Date
6 months
12 months
18 months (Final)

(4)
The 2-year spending exception generally is met if all Available Construction
Proceeds are spent in accordance with the following schedule:
Minimum
Percentage of
Available
Construction
Proceeds Spent
10%
45%
75%
100%

Time Period
After the
Issue Date
6 months
12 months
18 months
24 months (Final)

(5)
For purposes of applying the 18-month and 2-year spending exceptions only, the
failure to satisfy the final spending requirement is disregarded if the Authority uses due diligence
to complete the Financed Facility and the failure does not exceed the lesser of 3% of the
aggregate issue price the New Money Portion or $250,000. No such exception applies for any
other spending period.
(6)
For purposes of applying the 18-month and 2-year spending exceptions only, the
Bonds meet the applicable spending test even if, at the end of the final spending period, proceeds
not exceeding a Reasonable Retainage remain unspent, so long as such Reasonable Retainage is
spent within 30 months after the Issue Date in the case of the 18-month spending exception or 3
years after the Issue Date in the case of the 2-year spending exception.
(7)
Spending exceptions may be applied separately to the New Money Portion and
the Refunding Portion.
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Section 4.6.

Computation and Payment of Arbitrage Rebate.

(a)
Rebate Fund. The Trustee will keep the Rebate Fund separate from all other funds and
will administer the Rebate Fund under this Tax Agreement. Any Investment earnings derived from the
Rebate Fund will be credited to the Rebate Fund, and any Investment loss will be charged to the Rebate
Fund.
(b)
Computation of Rebate Amount. The Trustee will provide the Rebate Analyst Investment
reports relating to each fund held by the Trustee that contains Gross Proceeds of the Bonds at such times
as reports are provided to the Corporation, and not later than 10 days following each Computation Date.
The Corporation will provide the Rebate Analyst with copies of Investment reports for any funds
containing Gross Proceeds that are held by a party other than the Trustee annually as of the end of each
Bond Year and not later than 10 days following each Computation Date. Each Investment report provided
to the Rebate Analyst will contain a record of each Investment, including (1) purchase date, (2) purchase
price, (3) information establishing the fair market value on the date such Investment was allocated to the
Bonds, (4) any accrued interest paid, (5) face amount, (6) coupon rate, (7) frequency of interest payments,
(8) disposition price, (9) any accrued interest received, and (10) disposition date. Such records may be
supplied in electronic form. The Rebate Analyst will compute rebate following each Computation Date
and deliver a written report to the Trustee, the Corporation and the Authority together with an opinion or
certificate of the Rebate Analyst stating that arbitrage rebate was determined in accordance with the
Regulations. Each report and opinion will be provided not later than 45 days following the Computation
Date to which it relates. In performing its duties, the Rebate Analyst may rely, in its discretion, on the
correctness of financial analysis reports prepared by other professionals. If the sum of the amount on
deposit in the Rebate Fund and the value of prior rebate payments is less than the arbitrage rebate due, the
Corporation will, within 55 days after such Computation Date, pay to the Trustee the amount of the
deficiency for deposit into the Rebate Fund. The Trustee will transfer any balance remaining in the
Rebate Fund to the Corporation with the written approval of the Rebate Analyst or following the payment
of any rebate due as of the final Computation Date.
(c)
Rebate Payments. Within 60 days after each Computation Date, the Trustee must pay (but
solely from money in the Rebate Fund or provided by the Corporation) to the United States the rebate
amount then due, determined in accordance with the Regulations. Each payment must be (1) accompanied
by IRS Form 8038-T and such other forms, documents or certificates as may be required by the Regulations,
and (2) mailed or delivered to the IRS at the address shown below, or to such other location as the IRS
may direct:
Internal Revenue Service Center
Ogden, UT 84201
(d)
Successor Rebate Analyst. If the firm acting as the Rebate Analyst resigns or becomes
incapable of acting for any reason, or if either the Corporation or the Authority desire that a different firm
act as the Rebate Analyst, then the Corporation (so long as no event of default hereunder or under the
Loan Agreement has occurred and is continuing), with the written consent of the Authority (which
consent will not be unreasonably withheld) or the Authority, by an instrument or concurrent instruments
in writing delivered to the Trustee, the firm then serving as the Rebate Analyst and any other party to this
Tax Agreement, will name a successor Rebate Analyst. In each case the successor Rebate Analyst must
be a firm of nationally recognized bond counsel or a firm of independent certified public accountants and
such firm must expressly agree to undertake the responsibilities assigned to the Rebate Analyst hereunder.
If the firm acting as the Rebate Analyst resigns or becomes incapable of acting for any reason and neither
the Authority nor the Corporation appoints a qualified successor Rebate Analyst within 30 days following
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a request to appoint a successor Rebate Analyst, then the Trustee will appoint a firm to act as the
successor Rebate Analyst.
(e)
Filing Requirements. The Authority (if requested in writing by the Corporation and at the
Corporation’s expense), the Trustee and the Corporation will file or cause to be filed with the IRS such
reports or other documents as are required by the Code in accordance with any advice or an Opinion of
Bond Counsel addressed and delivered to such parties.
(f)
Survival after Defeasance. Notwithstanding anything in the Bond Indenture to the
contrary, the obligation to pay arbitrage rebate to the United States will survive the payment or defeasance
of the Bonds.
Section 4.7. Tax Audits. The Authority and the Corporation acknowledge that the IRS has a
routine tax audit program in place and that the cost of professional representation and compliance with
requests for records and other information that are a part of such an audit can be substantial, even if no
violation of tax laws are found. The Authority and the Corporation also recognize that under current
administrative procedures the IRS must direct audit inquiries to the Authority, even though the
Corporation has the primary responsibility for maintaining the exclusion of interest on the Bonds from
gross income for federal income tax purposes. Upon receipt of notice of the commencement of any audit
of the Bonds, the Corporation or the Authority will notify the other promptly. Throughout the term of the
audit and any subsequent proceedings, the Authority and the Corporation will provide copies to one
another of any correspondence received from or transmitted to the IRS by the other. The Authority may
hire its own legal counsel to represent its interests in connection with the audit or in any further
proceeding that results from the audit. At the request of the Authority, the Corporation will hire separate
legal counsel to represent the Corporation’s interests in the audit. The Corporation, upon written request
of the Authority, will assume responsibility for responding to information and document requests made
by the auditor that are within the knowledge or possession of the Corporation. Promptly on demand by
the Authority in writing, the Corporation will pay costs incurred by the Authority in connection with the
audit or any legal or administrative proceeding resulting from the audit (including the Authority’s
reasonable attorney’s fees and expenses). So long as the Corporation shall not be in default under the
terms of the Loan Agreement neither the Authority nor the Corporation shall have the right to represent or
otherwise bind the other party in connection with any settlement related to the tax-exempt status of the
Bonds. Nothing contained in this section is intended to limit the rights of the Authority to recovery under
the Loan Agreement or any other agreement or certificate executed in connection with the issuance of the
Bonds.

ARTICLE V
MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS
Section 5.1.
Term of Tax Agreement. This Tax Agreement will be effective concurrently
with the issuance and delivery of the Bonds and will continue in force and effect until the principal of,
redemption premium, if any, and interest on all Bonds have been fully paid and all such Bonds are
cancelled; provided that, the provisions of Article IV of this Tax Agreement regarding payment of
arbitrage rebate and all related penalties and interest will remain in effect until all such amounts are paid
to the United States and the provisions in Section 4.2 relating to record keeping shall continue in force for
the period described therein for records to be retained.
Section 5.2.
Amendments. This Tax Agreement may be amended from time to time by the
parties to this Tax Agreement without notice to or the consent of any of the Bondowners, but only if such
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amendment is in writing and is accompanied by any advice or an Opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect
that, under then existing law, assuming compliance with this Tax Agreement as so amended, the Bond
Indenture and the Loan Agreement, such amendment will not cause any Bond to be an arbitrage bond
under Code § 148 or otherwise cause interest on any Bond to be included in gross income for federal
income tax purposes. No such amendment will become effective until the Authority, the Corporation and
the Trustee receive advice or an Opinion of Bond Counsel, addressed to the Authority, the Corporation
and the Trustee, that such amendment will not adversely affect the exclusion of the interest on the Bonds
from gross income for federal income tax purposes.
Section 5.3.
Opinion of Bond Counsel. The Authority, the Corporation and the Trustee may
deviate from the provisions of this Tax Agreement if furnished with advice or an Opinion of Bond
Counsel to the effect that the proposed deviation will not adversely affect the exclusion of interest on the
Bonds from gross income for federal income tax purposes. The Authority (to the extent within its power
or direction), the Corporation and the Trustee further agree to comply with any further or different
instructions provided in any advice or an Opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that the further or
different instructions need to be complied with in order to maintain the validity of the Bonds or the
exclusion from gross income of interest on the Bonds.
Section 5.4.
Reliance. In delivering this Tax Agreement the Authority and the Trustee are
making only those certifications, representations and agreements as are specifically attributed to them in
this Tax Agreement. The balance of the certifications, representations and agreements contained in this
Tax Agreement, except those made by the Underwriter in the Underwriter Receipt for Bonds and Closing
Certificate, are those of the Corporation, and the Authority and the Trustee are relying on the Corporation
with respect to them. Neither the Authority nor the Trustee is aware of any facts or circumstances which
would cause it to question the accuracy of the facts, circumstances, estimates or expectations of the
Corporation or the Underwriter and, to the best of its knowledge, those facts, circumstances, estimates
and expectations are reasonable.
Section 5.5.
Severability. If any provision in this Tax Agreement or in the Bonds is
determined to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable, the validity, legality and enforceability of the
remaining provisions will not be affected or impaired.
Section 5.6.
Benefit of Agreement. This Tax Agreement is binding upon the Authority, the
Trustee and the Corporation and their respective successors and assigns, and inures to the benefit of the
parties to this Tax Agreement and the owners of the Bonds. Nothing in this Tax Agreement or in the Bond
Indenture or the Bonds, express or implied, gives to any person, other than the parties to this Tax
Agreement and their successors and assigns, and the owners of the Bonds, any benefit or any legal or
equitable right, remedy or claim under this Tax Agreement. The certifications and representations made
in this Tax Agreement and the expectations presented in this Tax Agreement are intended, and may be
relied upon, as a certification of an officer of the Authority given in good faith described in
Regulations § 1.148-2(b)(2). The Corporation understands that its certifications in this Tax Agreement
and in its Closing Certificate will be relied upon by the Authority in the issuance of the Bonds and
execution of this Tax Agreement. The Authority and the Corporation understand that such certifications
will be relied upon by the law firm of Gilmore & Bell, P.C., in rendering its opinion as to the validity of
the Bonds and the exclusion from federal gross income of the interest on the Bonds.
Section 5.7.
Default, Breach and Enforcement. Any misrepresentation of a party contained
herein or any breach of a covenant or agreement contained in this Tax Agreement is an event of default
under this Tax Agreement. This Tax Agreement is defined as a “Bond Document” in the Bond Indenture,
and remedies for an event of default under this Tax Agreement may be pursued pursuant to the terms of
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the Bond Indenture, the Loan Agreement or any other document which references this Tax Agreement and
gives remedies for an event of default thereunder.
Section 5.8.
Execution in Counterparts. This Tax Agreement may be executed in any
number of counterparts, each of which so executed will be deemed to be an original, but all such
counterparts will together constitute the same instrument.
Section 5.9.
Governing Law. This Tax Agreement will be governed by and construed in
accordance with the laws of the State of Missouri.
Section 5.10. Electronic Transactions. The parties agree that the transaction described in this
Tax Agreement may be conducted, and related documents may be stored, by electronic means.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties to this Tax Agreement have caused this Tax Compliance
Agreement to be duly executed by their duly authorized officers as of the Issue Date of the Bonds.
STATE ENVIRONMENTAL IMPROVEMENT AND
ENERGY RESOURCES AUTHORITY (STATE OF
MISSOURI)

By:
Title:
UMB BANK, N.A., as Trustee

By:
Title:
JEFFERSON COUNTY WATER AUTHORITY

By:
Title:

Tax Compliance Agreement

EXHIBIT A
CERTIFICATE OF APPROVAL

EXHIBIT B
IRS FORM 8038

ATTACHMENT A TO FORM 8038:
$[Principal Amount]
Tax-Exempt Water Facilities Revenue Bonds
(Jefferson County Water Authority Project)
Series 2021A
PART II: Type of Issue
Line 18: Non-Hospital Bond

Organization
Benefiting
from 501(c)(3)
Non-Hospital Bonds

Employer
Identification
Number

Jefferson County Water Authority

03-0407826

Amount of
These Bonds
Benefiting
This
Organization
$[Principal
Amount]

Amount of
All Other
Outstanding
Non-Hospital
Bonds - Not
Required
because 95% of
Net Proceeds
Used to Finance
Post August 5,
1997 Capital
Expenditures.
N/A

EXHIBIT C
501(c)(3) DETERMINATION LETTER

EXHIBIT D
RESOLUTION OF OFFICIAL INTENT

EXHIBIT E
DESCRIPTION OF PROPERTY COMPRISING THE FINANCED FACILITY,
CALCULATION OF AVERAGE ECONOMIC LIFE
[**AND LIST OF REIMBURSEMENT EXPENDITURES**]

EXHIBIT F
SAMPLE ANNUAL COMPLIANCE CHECKLIST
Name of tax-exempt bonds (“Bonds”) financing $[*Principal Amount*]
Financed Facility:
Tax-Exempt Water Facilities Revenue Bonds
(Jefferson County Water Authority Project)
Series 2021A
Issue Date of Bonds:
June __, 2021
Placed in service date of Financed Facility:
Name of Corporation Bond Compliance Officer:
Period covered by request (“Annual Period”):

Item
1
Ownership

Question
Was the entire Financed Facility owned by the Corporation during the
entire Annual Period?
If answer above was “No,” was advice of legal counsel obtained prior
to the transfer?

Response
Yes
No
Yes
No

If Yes, include description of the conclusions in the Tax-Exempt Bond
File.
If No, contact legal counsel and include description of resolution in the
Tax-Exempt Bond File.
Item
2
Leases &
Other Rights
to Possession

Question
During the Annual Period, was any part of the Financed Facility leased
at any time pursuant to a lease or similar agreement for more than 50
days?
If answer above was “Yes,” was advice of legal counsel obtained prior
to entering into the lease or other arrangement?

Response
Yes
No

Yes
No

If Yes, include description of the conclusions in the Tax-Exempt Bond
File.
If No, contact legal counsel and include description of resolution in the
Tax-Exempt Bond File.
Item
3
Management
or Service
Agreements

Question
During the Annual Period, has the management of all or any part of
the operations of the Financed Facility (e.g., cafeteria, gift shop, etc.)
been assumed by or transferred to another entity?
If answer above was “Yes,” was advice of legal counsel obtained prior
to entering into the Management or Service Agreement?
If Yes, include description of the conclusions in the Tax-Exempt Bond

Response
Yes
No

Yes
No

Item

Question

Response

File.
If No, contact legal counsel and include description of resolution in the
Tax-Exempt Bond File.
Item
4
Unrelated
Trade or
Business

Question
During the Annual Period, was any part of the Financed Facility used
in an unrelated trade or business (regardless of whether or not the
activity generated a profit)?

Response
Yes
No

If Yes, contact legal counsel and include description of the conclusions
in the Tax-Exempt Bond File.
Item
5
Other Use

Question
Was any other agreement entered into with an individual or entity that
grants special legal rights to the Financed Facility?
If answer above was “Yes,” was advice of legal counsel obtained prior
to entering into the agreement?

Response
Yes
No
Yes
No

If Yes, include description of the conclusions in the Tax-Exempt Bond
File.
If No, contact legal counsel and include description of resolution in the
Tax-Exempt Bond File.
Item
6
Arbitrage
& Rebate

Question
Have all rebate and yield reduction calculations mandated in the Tax
Compliance Agreement been prepared for the current year?
If No, contact Rebate Analyst and incorporate report or include
description of resolution in the Tax-Exempt Bond File.

Corporation Bond Compliance Officer:
Date Completed:

____________________________

____________________________
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Response
Yes
No

EXHIBIT G
SAMPLE FINAL WRITTEN ALLOCATION
$[Principal Amount]
Tax-Exempt Water Facilities Revenue Bonds
(Jefferson County Water Authority Project)
Series 2021A
Final Written Allocation
The undersigned is the Corporation Bond Compliance Officer of the Jefferson County Water
Authority (the “Corporation”) and in that capacity is authorized to execute federal income tax returns
required to be filed by the Authority and to make appropriate elections and designations regarding federal
income tax matters on behalf of the Corporation. This allocation of the proceeds of the bond issue
referenced above (the “Bonds”) is necessary for the Corporation to satisfy ongoing reporting and
compliance requirements under federal income tax laws.
Purpose. This document, together with the schedules and records referred to below, is intended
to memorialize allocations of Bond proceeds to expenditures for purposes of §§ 141 and 148 of the
Internal Revenue Code (the “Code”). All allocations are or were previously made no later than 18 months
following the date the expenditure was made by the Authority or, if later, the date the “project” was
“placed in service” (both as defined below), and no later than 60 days following the 5th anniversary of the
issue date of the Bonds.
Background. The Bonds were issued on June __, 2012 (the “Issue Date”), by the State
Environmental Improvement and Energy Resources Authority (State of Missouri) (the “Authority”). The
Bonds were issued to provide funds needed to construct, equip and furnish water facilities (the “Project”).
The Bonds were issued pursuant to a Bond Indenture of the Authority. Proceeds of the Bonds were
deposited to the following accounts: (1) Project Fund; and (2) Costs of Issuance Fund. In addition,
proceeds of the Bonds were transferred to the trustee for the Refunded Obligations to pay the principal of
and interest on the Refunded Obligations.
Sources Used to Fund Project Costs and Allocation of Proceeds to Project Costs. A portion of
the costs of the Project was paid from sale proceeds of the Bonds and the remaining portion of the costs of
the Project was paid from earnings from the investment of bond sale proceeds as shown on Schedule 1 to
this Final Written Allocation.
Identification of Financed Assets. The portions of the Project financed from Bond proceeds (i.e.,
the “Financed Facility” referenced in the Tax Compliance Agreement) are listed on page 1 of Schedule 2
to this Final Written Allocation.
Identification and Timing of Expenditures for Arbitrage Purposes. For purposes of complying
with the arbitrage rules, the Corporation allocates the proceeds of the Bonds to the various expenditures
described in the invoices, requisitions or other substantiation attached as Schedule 2 to this Final Written
Allocation. In each case, the cost requisitioned was either paid directly to a third party or reimbursed the
Corporation for an amount it had previously paid or incurred. Amounts received from the sale of the
Bonds and retained as underwriters discount are allocated to that purpose and spent on the Issue Date.
Amounts allocated to interest expense are treated as paid on the interest payment dates for the Bonds.

Placed In Service. The Project was “placed in service” on the date set out on Schedule 2 to this
Final Written Allocation. For this purpose, the assets are considered to be “placed in service” as of the
date on which, based on all the facts and circumstances: (1) the constructing and equipping of the asset
has reached a degree of completion which would permit its operation at substantially its design level; and
(2) the asset is, in fact, in operation at that level.
This allocation has been prepared based on statutes and regulations existing as of this date. The
Corporation reserves the right to amend this allocation to the extent permitted by future Treasury
Regulations or similar authorities.
JEFFERSON COUNTY WATER AUTHORITY

By:
Title:

____________________
____________________

Dated: ____________________

Name of Legal Counsel/Law Firm Reviewing Final Written Allocation:
________________________________________________________
Date of Review: __________________________________________
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SCHEDULE 1
TO FINAL WRITTEN ALLOCATION

ALLOCATION OF SOURCES AND USES
[Insert Spreadsheet]

SCHEDULE 2
TO FINAL WRITTEN ALLOCATION

IDENTIFICATION OF FINANCED FACILITY
&
DETAILED LISTING OF EXPENDITURES
[Insert Spreadsheet]

EXHIBIT H
DEBT SERVICE SCHEDULE, CALCULATION OF WEIGHTED AVERAGE MATURITY
AND
PROOF OF BOND YIELD

EXHIBIT I
COPY OF THE AUTHORITY’S TAX COMPLIANCE PROCEDURE
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EXHIBIT J
COPY OF THE CORPORATION’S TAX COMPLIANCE PROCEDURE
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GILMORE & BELL, P.C.
DRAFT 2 – JUNE 1, 2021
FOR DISCUSSION PURPOSES ONLY
CONTINUING DISCLOSURE UNDERTAKING

This CONTINUING DISCLOSURE UNDERTAKING dated as of June 1, 2021 (this
“Continuing Disclosure Undertaking”) is executed and delivered by the JEFFERSON COUNTY
WATER AUTHORITY (the “Corporation”).
RECITALS
1.
This Continuing Disclosure Undertaking is executed and delivered in connection with the
issuance by the State Environmental Improvement and Energy Resources Authority (State of Missouri)
(the “Authority”) of $[*Principal Amount-A*] Tax-Exempt Water Facilities Revenue Bonds (Jefferson
County Water Authority Project), Series 2021A, and $[*Principal Amount-B*] Taxable Water Facilities
Revenue Bonds (Jefferson County Water Authority Project), Series 2021B (together, the “Bonds”),
pursuant to an Indenture of Trust dated as of June 1, 2021 (the “Indenture”), by and between the Authority
and UMB Bank, N.A., as bond trustee (the “Bond Trustee”). The proceeds of the Bonds are being loaned
by the Authority to the Corporation pursuant to a Loan Agreement dated as of June 1, 2021, by and
between the Authority and the Corporation (the “Loan Agreement”).
2.
The Corporation is entering into this Continuing Disclosure Undertaking for the benefit
of the Beneficial Owners of the Bonds and to assist the Participating Underwriter in complying with Rule
15c2-12 of the Securities and Exchange Commission under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (the “Rule”). The Corporation is the only “obligated person” (as defined by the Rule) with
responsibility for continuing disclosure, and the Authority has undertaken no responsibility with respect
to any reports, notices or disclosures provided or required under this Continuing Disclosure Undertaking
and has no liability to any person, including any Beneficial Owner of the Bonds, with respect to the Rule.
The Corporation covenants and agrees as follows:
Section 1.
Definitions. In addition to the definitions set forth in the Indenture, which apply
to any capitalized term used in this Continuing Disclosure Undertaking unless otherwise defined in this
Section, the following capitalized terms shall have the following meanings:
“Annual Report” means any Annual Report provided by the Corporation pursuant to, and as
described in, Section 2 of this Continuing Disclosure Undertaking.
“Beneficial Owner” means any registered owner of any Bonds and any person which (a) has the
power, directly or indirectly, to vote or consent with respect to, or to dispose of ownership of, any Bonds
(including persons holding Bonds through nominees, depositories or other intermediaries), or (b) is
treated as the owner of any Bonds for federal income tax purposes.
“Business Day” means a day other than (a) a Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday, (b) a day on
which banks located in any city in which the principal corporate trust office or designated payment office
of the Bond Trustee or the Dissemination Agent is located are required or authorized by law to remain
closed, or (c) a day on which the Securities Depository or the New York Stock Exchange is closed.

“Dissemination Agent” means any entity designated in writing by the Corporation to serve as
dissemination agent pursuant to this Continuing Disclosure Undertaking and which has filed with the
Corporation a written acceptance of such designation.
“EMMA” means the Electronic Municipal Market Access system for municipal securities
disclosures established and maintained by the MSRB, which can be accessed at www.emma.msrb.org.
“Financial Obligation” means a (a) debt obligation; (b) derivative instrument entered into in
connection with, or pledged as security or a source of payment for, an existing or planned debt obligation;
or (c) guarantee of (a) or (b) in this definition; provided, however, the term Financial Obligation does not
include municipal securities as to which a final official statement has been provided to the MSRB
consistent with the Rule.
“Fiscal Year” means the 12-month period beginning on October 1 and ending on September 30
or any other 12-month period selected by the Corporation as the Fiscal Year of the Corporation for
financial reporting purposes.
“Material Events” means any of the events listed in Section 3.
“MSRB” means the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board, or any successor repository
designated as such by the Securities and Exchange Commission in accordance with the Rule.
“Official Statement” means the final Official Statement dated June 9, 2021 relating to the Bonds.
“Participating Members” means the municipalities that are members of the Corporation and
have entered into water purchase contracts with the Corporation.
“Participating Underwriter” means any of the original underwriters of the Bonds required to
comply with the Rule in connection with offering of the Bonds.
Section 2.
(a)

Provision of Annual Reports.

The Corporation shall, or shall cause any Dissemination Agent to, not later than 210 days
after the end of the Corporation’s Fiscal Year, commencing with the year ending
September 30, 2021, file with the MSRB through EMMA the following financial
information and operating data (the “Annual Report”):
(1)

The audited financial statements of the Corporation for the prior Fiscal Year
prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America as applied to government units. If audited financial
statements are not available by the time the Annual Report is required to be filed
pursuant to this Section, the Annual Report shall contain unaudited financial
statements in a format similar to the financial statements contained in the Official
Statement, and the audited financial statements shall be filed in the same manner
as the Annual Report promptly after they become available.

(2)

Updates as of the end of the Fiscal Year of certain financial information and
operating data contained in the Official Statement, as described in Exhibit A
attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference, in substantially the same
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format contained in the Official Statement with such adjustments to formatting or
presentation determined to be reasonable by the Corporation.
Any or all of the items listed above may be included by specific reference to other
documents, including official statements of debt issues with respect to which the
Corporation or any Participating Member is an “obligated person” (as defined by the
Rule), which have been filed with the MSRB and are available through EMMA or the
Securities and Exchange Commission. If the document included by reference is a final
official statement, it must be available from the MSRB on EMMA. The Corporation
shall clearly identify each such other document so included by reference.
In each case, the Annual Report may be submitted as a single document or as separate
documents comprising a package and may cross-reference other information as provided
in this Section; provided that the audited financial statements of the Corporation may be
submitted separately from the balance of the Annual Report and later than the date
required above for the filing of the Annual Report if they are not available by that date. If
the Corporation’s Fiscal Year changes, it shall give notice of such change in the same
manner as for a Material Event under Section 3.
(b)

The Annual Report shall be filed with the MSRB in such manner and format as is
prescribed by the MSRB.

Section 3.
Reporting of Material Events. No later than 10 Business Days after the
occurrence of any of the following events with respect to the Bonds, the Corporation shall give, or cause
to be given, to the MSRB, through EMMA, notice of the occurrence of any of the following events with
respect to the Bonds (“Material Events”):
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)
(f)

(g)
(h)
(i)
(j)
(k)
(l)
(m)

(n)

principal and interest payment delinquencies;
non-payment related defaults, if material;
unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties;
unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties;
substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform;
adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of proposed or final
determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS Form 5701-TEB) or other
material notices or determinations with respect to the tax status of the Bonds, or other
material events affecting the tax status of the Bonds;
modifications to rights of bondholders, if material;
bond calls, if material, and tender offers;
defeasances;
release, substitution or sale of property securing repayment of the Bonds, if material;
rating changes;
bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the obligated person;
the consummation of a merger, consolidation or acquisition involving the obligated
person or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the obligated person, other
than in the ordinary course of business, the entry into a definitive agreement to undertake
such an action or the termination of a definitive agreement relating to any such actions,
other than pursuant to its terms, if material;
appointment of a successor or additional trustee or the change of name of the trustee, if
material;
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(o)

(p)

incurrence of a Financial Obligation of the obligated person, if material, or agreement to
covenants, events of default, remedies, priority rights, or other similar terms of a
Financial Obligation of the obligated person, any of which affect security holders, if
material; and
default, event of acceleration, termination event, modification of terms or other similar
events under the terms of a Financial Obligation of the obligated person, any of which
reflect financial difficulties.

If the Corporation has not submitted the Annual Report to the MSRB by the date required in
Section 2(a), the Corporation shall send a notice to the MSRB of the failure of the Corporation to file on
a timely basis the Annual Report, which notice shall be given by the Corporation in accordance with this
Section 3.
Section 4.
Termination of Reporting Obligation. The Corporation’s obligations under this
Continuing Disclosure Undertaking shall terminate upon the legal defeasance, prior redemption or
payment in full of all of the Bonds. If the Corporation’s obligations under this Continuing Disclosure
Undertaking are assumed in full by some other entity, such entity shall be responsible for compliance with
this Continuing Disclosure Undertaking in the same manner as if it were the Corporation, and the
Corporation shall have no further responsibility hereunder. If such termination or substitution occurs
prior to the final maturity of the Bonds, the Corporation shall give notice of such termination or
substitution in the same manner as for a Material Event under Section 3.
Section 5.
Dissemination Agent. The Corporation may, from time to time, appoint or
engage a Dissemination Agent to assist it in carrying out its obligations under this Continuing Disclosure
Undertaking and may discharge any such Dissemination Agent, with or without appointing a successor
Dissemination Agent. Any Dissemination Agent may resign as dissemination agent hereunder at any time
upon 30 days prior written notice to the Corporation. The Dissemination Agent shall not be responsible in
any manner for the content of any notice or report (including without limitation the Annual Report)
prepared by the Corporation pursuant to this Continuing Disclosure Undertaking.
Section 6.
Amendment; Waiver. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Continuing
Disclosure Undertaking, the Corporation may amend this Continuing Disclosure Undertaking and any
provision of this Continuing Disclosure Undertaking may be waived, provided that Bond Counsel or other
counsel experienced in federal securities law matters provides the Corporation with its written opinion
that the undertaking of the Corporation contained herein, as so amended or after giving effect to such
waiver, is in compliance with the Rule and all current amendments thereto and interpretations thereof that
are applicable to this Continuing Disclosure Undertaking.
If a provision of this Continuing Disclosure Undertaking is amended or waived, the Corporation
shall describe such amendment or waiver in the next Annual Report, and shall include, as applicable, a
narrative explanation of the reason for the amendment or waiver and its impact on the type (or, in the case
of a change of accounting principles, on the presentation) of financial information or operating data being
presented by the Corporation. In addition, if the amendment relates to the accounting principles to be
followed in preparing financial statements, (a) notice of such change shall be given in the same manner as
for a Material Event under Section 3, and (b) the Annual Report for the year in which the change is made
should present a comparison (in narrative form and also, if feasible, in quantitative form) between the
financial statements as prepared on the basis of the new accounting principles and those prepared on the
basis of the former accounting principles.
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Section 7.
Additional Information. Nothing in this Continuing Disclosure Undertaking
shall be deemed to prevent the Corporation from disseminating any other information, using the means of
dissemination set forth in this Continuing Disclosure Undertaking or any other means of communication,
or including any other information in any Annual Report or notice of occurrence of a Material Event, in
addition to that which is required by this Continuing Disclosure Undertaking. If the Corporation chooses
to include any information in any Annual Report or notice of occurrence of a Material Event, in addition
to that which is specifically required by this Continuing Disclosure Undertaking, the Corporation shall
have no obligation under this Continuing Disclosure Undertaking to update such information or include it
in any future Annual Report or notice of occurrence of a Material Event.
Section 8.
Default. If the Corporation fails to comply with any provision of this Continuing
Disclosure Undertaking, the Bond Trustee may (and, at the request of any Participating Underwriter or the
owners of at least 25% aggregate principal amount of Outstanding Bonds, shall) take such actions as may
be necessary and appropriate, including seeking mandamus or specific performance by court order, to
cause the Corporation to comply with its obligations under this Continuing Disclosure Undertaking. A
default under this Continuing Disclosure Undertaking shall not be deemed an event of default under the
Indenture or the Loan Agreement, and the sole remedy under this Continuing Disclosure Undertaking if
the Corporation or the Dissemination Agent fails to comply with this Continuing Disclosure Undertaking
shall be an action to compel performance.
Section 9.
Beneficiaries. This Continuing Disclosure Undertaking shall inure solely to the
benefit of the Authority, the Corporation, the Bond Trustee, the Participating Underwriter and the
Beneficial Owners from time to time of the Bonds and shall create no rights in any other person or entity.
Section 10.
Severability. If any provision in this Continuing Disclosure Undertaking, the
Indenture, the Loan Agreement or the Bonds shall be invalid, illegal or unenforceable, the validity,
legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions shall not in any way be affected or impaired
thereby.
Section 11.
Electronic Transactions. The arrangement described herein may be conducted
and related documents may be sent, received or stored by electronic means. Copies, telecopies,
facsimiles, electronic files and other reproductions of original documents shall be deemed to be authentic
and valid counterparts of such original documents for all purposes, including the filing of any claim,
action or suit in the appropriate court of law.
Section 12.
Governing Law. This Continuing Disclosure Undertaking shall be governed by
and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Missouri.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Corporation has caused this Continuing Disclosure Undertaking
to be executed as of the day and year first above written.

JEFFERSON COUNTY WATER AUTHORITY

By:
Name: Greg Camp
Title: President

Continuing Disclosure Undertaking
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EXHIBIT A
FINANCIAL INFORMATION AND OPERATING DATA TO BE
INCLUDED IN ANNUAL REPORT

The financial information and operating data contained in the tables under the following sections
of the Official Statement:
(a)

“DEBT SERVICE COVERAGE – Historical Debt Service Coverage”

(b)

“THE CORPORATION – Summary of Revenues and Expenses and Balance Sheet Data”

(c)

“THE PARTICIPATING MEMBERS – Number of Customers”

(d)

“THE PARTICIPATING MEMBERS – Largest Customers”

(e)

“THE PARTICIPATING MEMBERS – Historical Water Purchases”

(f)

“THE PARTICIPATING MEMBERS – Summary Financial Data”

(g)

“THE PARTICIPATING MEMBERS – Historical Debt Service Coverage”

A-1

STATE ENVIRONMENTAL IMPROVEMENT AND ENERGY RESOURCES AUTHORITY
(STATE OF MISSOURI)
$_________
Tax-Exempt Water Facilities Revenue Bonds
(Jefferson County Water Authority Project)
Series 2021A

$_____________
Taxable Water Facilities Revenue Bonds
(Jefferson County Water Authority Project)
Series 2021B

June __, 2021
BOND PURCHASE AGREEMENT
State Environmental Improvement
and Energy Resources Authority
425 Madison Street, 2nd Floor
Jefferson City, Missouri 65102

Jefferson County Water Authority
711 West Main Street
Festus, Missouri 63028

Ladies and Gentlemen:
On the basis of the representations and covenants and upon the terms and conditions contained in
this Bond Purchase Agreement (the “Bond Purchase Agreement”), the undersigned, Stifel, Nicolaus &
Company, Incorporated (the “Underwriter”), hereby offers to purchase from the State Environmental
Improvement and Energy Resources Authority (the “Authority”) $________ aggregate principal amount
of Tax-Exempt Water Facilities Revenue Bonds (Jefferson County Water Authority Project), Series 2021A
(the “Series 2021A Bonds”) and $________ aggregate principal amount of Taxable Water Facilities
Revenue Bonds (Jefferson County Water Authority Project), Series 2021B (the “Series 2021B Bonds” and,
together with the Series 2021A Bonds, the “Series 2021 Bonds”) to be issued by the Authority under and
pursuant to an Indenture of Trust dated as of June 1, 2021 (the “Indenture”) by and between the Authority
and UMB Bank, N.A., St. Louis, Missouri, as trustee (the “Trustee”). Capitalized words and terms used
herein shall have the respective meanings ascribed to them in the Indenture unless some other meaning is
plainly indicated.
The Series 2021 Bonds are to be issued by the Authority pursuant to and in accordance with the
provisions of the Constitution and laws of the State of Missouri (the “State”), including particularly
Sections 260.005 through 260.125, inclusive, of the Revised Statutes of Missouri and Appendix B(1)
thereto, as amended (collectively, the “Act”). The Series 2021 Bonds are being issued for the purpose of
making a loan to the Jefferson County Water Authority (the “Corporation”) to provide funds, together with
other available funds of Corporation, to (1) finance the costs of the Project, (2) prepay certain outstanding
obligations of the Corporation and (3) pay the costs of issuing the Series 2021 Bonds
The Series 2021 Bonds and the interest thereon shall be limited obligations of the Authority payable
solely out of certain payments received under a Loan Agreement dated as of June 1, 2021 (the “Loan
Agreement”) by and between the Authority and the Corporation and other moneys pledged thereto and held
by the Trustee as provided in the Indenture, and are secured by a transfer, pledge and assignment of and a
grant of a security interest in the Trust Estate to the Trustee and in favor of the owners of the Series 2021
Bonds, as provided in the Indenture.
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The Series 2021 Bonds do not constitute a debt or liability of the State or any political subdivision thereof,
and neither the State nor any political subdivision thereof shall be liable on the Series 2021 Bonds. The
issuance of the Series 2021 Bonds shall not, directly, indirectly or contingently, obligate the State or any
political subdivision thereof to levy any form of taxation therefor or to make any appropriation for their
payment. The general faith and credit of the State and the Authority are not pledged to the payment of the
principal of or interest on the Series 2021 Bonds. The Authority is not obligated to pay the principal of or
interest on the Series 2021 Bonds, except from the revenues and receipts pledged therefor under the
Indenture. The Authority has no taxing power.
The Series 2021 Bonds shall mature and shall bear interest as set forth in Schedule I hereto.
This offer is made subject to your acceptance of this Bond Purchase Agreement on or before
10:00 p.m., Central Standard Time, on June __, 2021. Upon your acceptance of the offer, the following
agreement will be binding upon you and the Underwriter.
The words “Transaction Documents” when used herein shall mean, individually and collectively,
the following: this Bond Purchase Agreement; the Indenture; the Bonds; the Loan Agreement; the Notes;
the Deed of Trust, Mortgage and Security Agreement dated as of November 1, 2001 from the Corporation
to the Mortgage Trustee for the benefit of the Authority and its assigns, as amended by the First
Supplemental Deed of Trust, Mortgage and Security Agreement dated as of June 1, 2021; with respect to
the Series 2021A Bonds, the Tax Compliance Agreement dated as of June 1, 2021 by and among the
Authority, the Corporation and the Trustee; the Continuing Disclosure Undertaking dated as of June 1, 2021
by the Corporation (the “Continuing Disclosure Undertaking”); the Preliminary Official Statement
(defined below); the Official Statement (defined below); and any and all other documents or instruments
that evidence or are a part of the transactions referred to herein or in the Official Statement or contemplated
hereby or by the Official Statement; provided, however, that when the words “Transaction Documents” are
used in the context of the authorization, execution, delivery, approval or performance of Transaction
Documents by a party hereto, the same shall mean only those Transaction Documents that provide for or
contemplate authorization, execution, delivery, approval or performance by such party.
1.
Purchase of Series 2021 Bonds. On the basis of the respective representations, warranties
and covenants contained herein and subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein and in the Indenture,
the Underwriter hereby agrees to purchase from the Authority, and the Authority hereby agrees to sell to
the Underwriter, (i) all (but not less than all) of the Series 2021A Bonds at a purchase price of
$___________ (which is equal to the aggregate principal amount of the Series 2021A Bonds less original
issue discount of $_________ and less an underwriting discount of $__________), plus accrued interest, if
any and (ii) all (but not less than all) of the Series 2021B Bonds at a purchase price of $_________ (which
is equal to the aggregate principal amount of the Series 2021B Bonds less original issue discount of
$____________ and less an underwriting discount of $_______), plus accrued interest, if any.
2.
Offering. The Underwriter intends to make an initial bona fide public offering of all of
the Series 2021 Bonds at the prices set forth in Schedule I but in any event not in excess of the principal
amount of the Series 2021 Bonds; provided, however, that the Underwriter may subsequently change such
offering price or prices. The Underwriter agrees to notify the Authority of such changes, if such changes
occur prior to Closing, but failure to so notify shall not invalidate such changes. The Underwriter may offer
and sell the Series 2021 Bonds to certain dealers (including dealers depositing Series 2021 Bonds into
investment trusts) at prices lower than the principal amount thereof. The Underwriter also reserves the
right to (i) over-allot or effect transactions which stabilize or maintain the market price of the Series 2021
Bonds at levels above those that might otherwise prevail in the open market, and (ii) discontinue such
stabilizing, if commenced, at any time without prior notice.
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The Authority and the Corporation acknowledge and agree that: (i) the primary role of the
Underwriter, as an underwriter, is to purchase securities, for resale to investors, in an arm’s length
commercial transaction between the Authority and the Underwriter and the Underwriter has financial and
other interests that differ from those of the Authority or the Corporation; (ii) the Underwriter is acting solely
as a principal and is not acting as a municipal advisor, financial advisor or fiduciary to the Authority or the
Corporation and has not assumed any advisory or fiduciary responsibility to the Authority or the
Corporation with respect to the transaction contemplated hereby and the discussions, undertakings and
procedures leading thereto (irrespective of whether the Underwriter has provided other services or is
currently providing other services to the Authority or the Corporation on other matters); (iii) the only
obligations the Underwriter has to the Authority or the Corporation with respect to the transaction
contemplated hereby expressly are set forth in this Bond Purchase Agreement; and (iv) the Authority and
the Corporation have consulted their own financial and/or municipal, legal, accounting, tax, financial and
other advisors, as applicable, to the extent they have each deemed appropriate.
The Underwriter agrees to assist the Authority and Bond Counsel (defined below) in establishing
the issue price of the Series 2021A Bonds and shall execute and deliver at Closing an “issue price” or
similar certificate (the “Issue Price Certificate”), together with the supporting pricing wires or equivalent
communications, substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A, with such modifications as may be
appropriate or necessary, in the reasonable judgment of the Underwriter, the Authority and Bond Counsel,
to accurately reflect, as applicable, the sales price or prices or the initial offering price or prices to the Public
(as defined below) of the Series 2021A Bonds.
The Authority will treat the first price or prices at which 10% of each maturity of the Series 2021A
Bonds (the “10% test”) is sold to the Public as the issue price of that maturity. At or promptly after the
execution of this Bond Purchase Agreement, the Underwriter shall report to the Authority, the Corporation
and Bond Counsel the price or prices at which it has sold to the Public each maturity of Series 2021A
Bonds. For purposes of this section, if Series 2021A Bonds mature on the same date but have different
interest rates, each separate CUSIP number within that maturity will be treated as a separate maturity of the
Series 2021A Bonds.
The Underwriter confirms that:
(i)
any selling group agreement and any third-party distribution agreement relating to the
initial sale of the Series 2021A Bonds to the Public, together with the related pricing wires, contains or will
contain language obligating each dealer who is a member of the selling group and each broker-dealer that
is a party to such third-party distribution agreement, as applicable:
(A) to report the prices at which it sells to the Public the unsold Series 2021A Bonds of
each maturity allocated to it, whether or not the Closing Date has occurred, until either all
Series 2021A Bonds of that maturity allocated to it have been sold or it is notified by the
Underwriter that the 10% test has been satisfied as to the Series 2021A Bonds of that maturity,
provided that, the reporting obligation after the Closing Date may be at reasonable periodic
intervals or otherwise upon request of the Underwriter,
(B) to promptly notify the Underwriter of any sales of Series 2021A Bonds that, to its
knowledge, are made to a purchaser who is a related party to an underwriter participating in the
initial sale of the Series 2021A Bonds to the Public (each such term being used as defined below),
and
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(C) to acknowledge that, unless otherwise advised by the dealer or broker-dealer, the
Underwriter shall assume that each order submitted by the dealer or broker-dealer is a sale to the
Public.
(ii)
any selling group agreement relating to the initial sale of the Series 2021A Bonds to the
Public, together with the related pricing wires, contains or will contain language obligating each dealer that
is a party to a third-party distribution agreement to be employed in connection with the initial sale of the
Series 2021A Bonds to the Public to require each broker-dealer that is a party to such third-party distribution
agreement to report the prices at which it sells to the Public the unsold Series 2021A Bonds of each maturity
allocated to it, whether or not the Closing Date has occurred, until either all Series 2021A Bonds of that
maturity allocated to it have been sold or it is notified by the Underwriter or the dealer that the 10% test has
been satisfied as to the Series 2021A Bonds of that maturity, provided that, the reporting obligation after
the Closing Date may be at reasonable periodic intervals or otherwise upon request of the Underwriter or
the dealer.
The Authority acknowledges that, in making the representations set forth in this section, the
Underwriter will rely on (i) in the event a selling group has been created in connection with the initial sale
of the Series 2021A Bonds to the Public, the agreement of each dealer who is a member of the selling group
to comply with the requirements for establishing issue price of the Series 2021A Bonds, as set forth in a
selling group agreement and the related pricing wires, and (ii) in the event that a third-party distribution
agreement was employed in connection with the initial sale of the Series 2021A Bonds to the Public, the
agreement of each broker-dealer that is a party to such agreement to comply with the requirements for
establishing issue price of the Series 2021A Bonds, as set forth in the third-party distribution agreement
and the related pricing wires. The Authority further acknowledges that the Underwriter shall not be liable
for the failure of any dealer who is a member of a selling group, or of any broker-dealer that is a party to a
third-party distribution agreement, to comply with its corresponding agreement to comply with the
requirements for establishing issue price of the Series 2021A Bonds.
The Underwriter acknowledges that sales of any Series 2021A Bonds to any person that is a related
party to an underwriter participating in the initial sale of the Series 2021A Bonds to the Public (each such
term being used as defined below) shall not constitute sales to the Public for purposes of this section.
Further, for purposes of the above:
(i)
the term “Public” means any Approved Investor other than an underwriter or a related
party to an underwriter,
(ii)
“underwriter” means (A) any person that agrees pursuant to a written contract with the
Authority to participate in the initial sale of the Series 2021A Bonds to the Public and (B) any person that
agrees pursuant to a written contract directly or indirectly with a person described in clause (A) to
participate in the initial sale of the Series 2021A Bonds to the Public (including a member of a selling group
or a party to a third-party distribution agreement participating in the initial sale of the Series 2021A Bonds
to the Public),
(iii)
a purchaser of any of the Series 2021A Bonds is a “related party” to an underwriter if the
underwriter and the purchaser are subject, directly or indirectly, to (A) more than 50% common ownership
of the voting power or the total value of their stock, if both entities are corporations (including direct
ownership by one corporation of another), (B) more than 50% common ownership of their capital interests
or profits interests, if both entities are partnerships (including direct ownership by one partnership of
another), or (C) more than 50% common ownership of the value of the outstanding stock of the corporation
or the capital interests or profit interests of the partnership, as applicable, if one entity is a corporation and
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the other entity is a partnership (including direct ownership of the applicable stock or interests by one entity
of the other), and
(iv)

“sale date” means the date of execution of this Bond Purchase Agreement by each party.

In conjunction with (i) an audit or inquiry by the Internal Revenue Service or the Securities and
Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) relating to the pricing of the Series 2021A Bonds, or (ii) the
implementation of future regulation or similar guidance from the Internal Revenue Service, the SEC or
other federal or state regulatory authority regarding the retention of pricing data for the Series 2021A Bonds,
at the request of the Authority, the Underwriter will provide information explaining the factual basis for the
Underwriter’s representations in the Issue Price Certificate relating to the pricing of the Series 2021A
Bonds, other than information that would identify customers (e.g., name or account number). This
agreement by the Underwriter to provide such information will continue to apply after the Closing Date but
shall not extend to any customer data or other confidential or proprietary information of the Underwriter.
3.

Preliminary Official Statement; Official Statement.

The Authority and the Corporation consent to, ratify and approve the use by the Underwriter
(subject to the right of such parties to withdraw such consent for cause by written notice to the Underwriter)
prior to the date upon which the Official Statement is executed and available for distribution, of the
Preliminary Official Statement dated June __, 2021, relating to the Series 2021 Bonds (the “Preliminary
Official Statement”), in connection with the proposed offering of the Series 2021 Bonds.
The Authority and the Corporation hereby agree to deliver, or cause to be delivered, to the
Underwriter, within seven Business Days after the date hereof (or within such shorter period as may be
agreed by Corporation and the Underwriter or required by applicable rule), (i) the Official Statement, dated
the date hereof, relating to the Series 2021 Bonds (which, together with the cover page, and all exhibits,
appendices, maps, pictures, diagrams, reports and statements included therein or attached thereto and any
amendments and supplements that may be authorized for use with respect to the Series 2021 Bonds are
herein called the “Official Statement”) executed on behalf of the Corporation by a duly authorized officer
in such quantity that the Underwriter may reasonably request to enable the Underwriter to provide the
Official Statement to potential customers and to comply with any rules of the Municipal Securities
Rulemaking Board (“MSRB”) and the SEC. The Authority and the Corporation authorize the Underwriter
to file, to the extent required by applicable SEC or MSRB rule, and the Underwriter agrees to file or cause
to be filed, the Official Statement with (i) the MSRB or its designee (including submission to the MSRB’s
Electronic Municipal Market Access system (“EMMA”)) or (ii) other repositories approved from time to
time by the SEC (either in addition to or in lieu of the filings referred to above). If an amended Official
Statement is prepared in accordance with this Bond Purchase Agreement and if required by applicable SEC
or MSRB rule, the Underwriter also shall make the required submission of the amended Official Statement
to EMMA.
The Preliminary Official Statement and/or the Official Statement may be delivered in printed and/or
electronic form to the extent permitted by applicable rules of the MSRB and as may be agreed by the
Authority and the Underwriter.
NO TOMBSTONE OR OTHER ADVERTISEMENT BY THE UNDERWRITER OF THE SALE
OF THE SERIES 2021 BONDS SHALL BE PUBLISHED UNLESS SUCH TOMBSTONE OR OTHER
ADVERTISEMENT IS SUBMITTED FIRST TO THE CORPORATION AND THE AUTHORITY, AND
THEY APPROVE SUCH TOMBSTONE OR OTHER ADVERTISEMENT IN WRITING.
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4.

Authority’s Covenants. The Authority hereby covenants with the Underwriter that:

(a)
The Authority is and will be at Closing a body corporate and politic and a
governmental instrumentality of the State duly organized, validly existing and in good standing
under the laws of the State and is authorized to execute and deliver this Bond Purchase Agreement
and the Transaction Documents and to issue, sell and deliver the Bonds pursuant to the laws of the
State, including particularly the Act.
(b)
The Authority has, and as of the Closing Time will have, all necessary power and
authority to (i) execute and deliver this Bond Purchase Agreement and the Transaction Documents,
(ii) issue, sell and deliver the Bonds in the manner contemplated by the resolution adopted by the
Board of Directors of the Authority on June 3, 2021 (the “Authority Bond Resolution”), this Bond
Purchase Agreement and the Indenture, and (iii) otherwise consummate the transactions
contemplated by this Bond Purchase Agreement, the Official Statement and the Transaction
Documents.
(c)
At the time of its adoption, the Authority had all necessary power and authority to
adopt the Authority Bond Resolution.
(d)
The Authority has duly adopted the Authority Bond Resolution at a meeting duly
called and held in accordance with applicable law and procedures of the Authority, and since that
time the Authority Bond Resolution has not been rescinded, amended or modified.
(e)
By official action of the Authority prior to or concurrently with the acceptance
hereof, the Authority has duly authorized and approved the (i) execution and delivery of this Bond
Purchase Agreement, the Bonds and the Transaction Documents, (ii) distribution of the Preliminary
Official Statement and the delivery and distribution of the Official Statement for use by the
Purchaser in connection with the offering of the Series 2021 Bonds to Approved Investors,
(iii) performance by the Authority of the obligations contained in the Series 2021 Bonds and in the
Transaction Documents, and (iv) consummation by the Authority of all of the transactions
contemplated hereby and by the Transaction Documents.
(f)
Assuming the valid authorization, execution and delivery of this Bond Purchase
Agreement and the other Transaction Documents by the other parties hereto and thereto, this Bond
Purchase Agreement is, and the Series 2021 Bonds (upon authentication of the Series 2021 Bonds
by the Trustee) and the other Transaction Documents will be, the legal, valid and binding
obligations of the Authority, enforceable against the Authority in accordance with their respective
terms, except to the extent that enforcement thereof may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency or
other similar laws affecting creditors’ rights generally, or by the exercise of judicial discretion in
accordance with general principles of equity.
(g)
To its knowledge, the Authority is not in breach of or default in any material
respect under its organizational documents or under any applicable constitutional provision, law or
administrative regulation of the State or the United States or any applicable judgment or decree,
and, to its knowledge no event has occurred and is continuing which constitutes or with the passage
of time or the giving of notice, or both, would constitute a material default or event of default by
the Authority under any of the foregoing.
(h)
All consents, approvals, orders or authorizations of, notices to, or filings,
registrations or declarations required under the Act with any court or governmental authority,
board, agency, commission or body having jurisdiction which are required by or on behalf of the
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Authority for the execution and delivery by the Authority of this Bond Purchase Agreement, the
other Transaction Documents or the Bonds, or the consummation by the Authority of the
transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, have been obtained or will be obtained prior to
Closing, except for the completion and filing of (i) the IRS Form 8038–G and (ii) the information
required by Section 37.850 of the Revised Statutes of Missouri, as amended, on the Missouri
Accountability Portal website maintained by the State of Missouri Office of Administration, each
of which will be completed and filed after Closing.
(i)
To its knowledge, the execution and delivery by the Authority of the Bonds, this
Bond Purchase Agreement and the other Transaction Documents, and the consummation by the
Authority of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby are not prohibited by, do not violate
any provision of, and will not result in the breach of or default under (i) the organizational
documents of the Authority, (ii) the Act or the Constitution of the State, (iii) any applicable law,
rule, regulation, judgment, decree, order or other requirement applicable to the Authority, or
(iv) any contract, indenture, agreement, mortgage, lease, note, commitment or other obligation or
instrument to which the Authority is a party.
(j)
There is no legal action, suit, proceeding, investigation or inquiry at law or in
equity, before or by any court, agency, arbitrator, public board or body or other entity or person,
pending and served or, to its knowledge, threatened against the Authority or its officers, in their
respective capacities as such for which it has received service of process or other written notice,
(i) which would restrain or enjoin the issuance or delivery of the Bonds or the collection of revenues
pledged under the Indenture, (ii) which would in any way contest or affect the organization or
existence of the Authority or the entitlement of any officers of the Authority to their respective
offices, or (iii) which may reasonably be expected to contest or have a material and adverse effect
upon (A) the due performance by the Authority of this Bond Purchase Agreement or the other
Transaction Documents or the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, (B) the validity or
enforceability of the Bonds, the Authority Bond Resolution, this Bond Purchase Agreement, the
other Transaction Documents or any other agreement or instrument to which the Authority is a
party and that is used or contemplated for use in the consummation of the transactions contemplated
hereby and thereby, or (C) the exclusion from gross income for federal income tax purposes of the
interest on the Series 2021A Bonds. The Authority is not a party to any judgment, decree or order
entered in any lawsuit or proceeding brought against it that would have such an effect.
(k)
Other than the Transaction Documents, the Authority has not entered into any
contract or arrangement that might give rise to any lien or encumbrance on the revenues or other
assets, properties, funds or interests pledged pursuant to the Indenture. The Authority, as a conduit
issuer, has issued the Series 2021 Bonds as limited obligations, payable solely from the funds
provided for under the Indenture.
(l)
The Authority has not knowingly taken or omitted to take on or prior to the date
hereof any action, which taking or omission to take would adversely affect the exclusion from gross
income for federal income tax purposes of the interest on the Series 2021A Bonds.
(m)
The Preliminary Official Statement as of its date did not, and the Official Statement
as of its date does not and as of the Closing Time will not, contain any untrue statement of a material
fact or omit to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of
the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; provided that, the foregoing
representation is made solely with respect to the information in the Preliminary Official Statement
and Official Statement under the headings “INTRODUCTION – The Authority,” “THE
AUTHORITY,” and the first paragraph under the heading “LITIGATION – The Authority.”
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(n)
Any certificate signed by an authorized officer of the Authority and delivered to
the Underwriter shall be deemed a covenant by the Authority to the Underwriter as to the statements
made therein.
(o)
The Authority agrees to reasonably cooperate with the Underwriter in any
endeavor to qualify the Series 2021 Bonds for offering and sale under the securities or “Blue Sky”
laws of such jurisdictions of the United States as the Underwriter may request; provided, however,
that the Authority shall not be required with respect to the offer or sale of the Series 2021 Bonds,
or otherwise, to file written consent to suit or to file written consent to service of process in any
jurisdiction. The Authority consents to the use of drafts of the Preliminary Official Statement, the
Preliminary Official Statement and drafts of the Official Statement prior to the availability of the
Official Statement, by the Underwriter in obtaining such qualifications, subject to the right of the
Authority to withdraw such consent for cause by written notice to the Underwriter. The
Underwriter shall pay all expenses and costs (including registration and filing fees) incurred in
connection therewith.
5.
Corporation’s Representations and Warranties. The Corporation hereby represents and
warrants to the Underwriter that:
(a)
The Corporation is and will be at Closing is a nonprofit corporation created and
existing under the laws of the State.
(b)
The Corporation has duly adopted a resolution approving the Authority’s issuance
of the Series 2021 Bonds pursuant to the Indenture and authorizing the execution of the Transaction
Documents (the “Corporation Bond Resolution”) at a meeting duly called and held in accordance
with applicable law and procedures of the Corporation, and since that time the Corporation Bond
Resolution has not been rescinded, amended or modified. At the time of its adoption, the
Corporation had all necessary power and authority to adopt the Corporation Bond Resolution.
(d)
The Corporation is authorized by the laws of the State, including particularly the
Act, to enter into and perform its obligations under the Transaction Documents.
(e)
The Corporation has, and as of the Closing Date will have, all necessary power
and authority to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Bond Purchase Agreement and
the other Transaction Documents and has duly authorized and approved the execution and delivery
of this Bond Purchase Agreement and the other Transaction Documents.
(f)
The financial statements of the Corporation included as Appendix A to the
Preliminary Official Statement and the Official Statement and any other later available unaudited
financial data of the Corporation furnished to the Underwriter, except as noted therein, present
fairly the financial position of the Corporation as of the dates indicated and the results of its
operations for the periods specified in all material respects for the periods involved except as stated
in the notes thereto, and such financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
accounting principles described in the notes to the financial statements included as Appendix A to
the Preliminary Official Statement and the Official Statement. The Corporation has not, since
September 30, 2020, incurred any material liabilities and since such date there has been no material
adverse change in the financial position of the Corporation or the operation by the Corporation of
its property other than as may be set forth in the Preliminary Official Statement and the Official
Statement.
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Since September 30, 2020, except as described in the Preliminary Official Statement and
the Official Statement, (i) the Corporation has not sustained any loss or interference with its
business from fire, explosion, flood or any labor dispute or court or governmental action, order or
decree; and (ii) there has been no material decrease in the Corporation’s fund balances, no increase
in short-term debt or long-term debt of the Corporation and no adverse change, or any development
involving a prospective adverse change, in or affecting the general affairs, management, properties,
financial position, or results of operations of the Corporation, which in any such case described in
clause (i) or (ii) is material to the Corporation.
(g)
The information contained in the Preliminary Official Statement as of its date and
the Official Statement as of its date is and, as of the date of Closing, will be correct in all material
respects and does not, and at the Closing will not, omit to state any material fact required to be
stated therein or necessary to make any statement made therein, in light of the circumstances under
which it was made, not misleading. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Corporation makes no
representation or warranty (express or implied) as to the accuracy or completeness of any (i) financial,
technical or statistical data or any estimates, projections, assumptions, expressions of opinion or
forecasts (ii) information that is designated in the Preliminary Official Statement or the Official
Statement as having been provided by the Underwriter, or (iii) information under the headings
“INTRODUCTION – The Authority,” “THE SERIES 2021 BONDS – Book-Entry Only System,”
“THE AUTHORITY,” “LITIGATION – The Authority,” and “UNDERWRITING.”
(h)
Prior to the Closing, the Corporation shall have duly authorized all necessary
action to be taken by it for the: (i) approval, execution, delivery and receipt by the Corporation of
this Bond Purchase Agreement and the other Transaction Documents, and any and all such other
agreements and documents as may be required to be executed, delivered and received by the
Corporation in order to carry out, give effect to, and consummate the transactions contemplated
hereby and by the Official Statement, (ii) distribution of the Preliminary Official Statement and the
execution, delivery and distribution of the Official Statement for use by the Underwriter in
connection with the offering of the Series 2021 Bonds to Approved Investors, (iii) performance by
the Corporation of the obligations contained in the Transaction Documents, and (iv) consummation
by the Corporation of all of the transactions contemplated hereby and by the other Transaction
Documents.
(i)
Assuming the valid authorization, execution and delivery of this Bond Purchase
Agreement and the other Transaction Documents by the other parties hereto and thereto, this Bond
Purchase Agreement is, and the other Transaction Documents will be, duly authorized and
delivered and will constitute the legal, valid and binding obligations of the Corporation, enforceable
against it in accordance with their respective terms (subject to any applicable bankruptcy,
reorganization, insolvency, moratorium or other similar law or laws affecting the enforcement of
creditors’ rights generally and further subject to the availability of equitable remedies).
(j)
The Corporation has been determined to be and is exempt from federal income
taxation under Section 501(a) of Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended (the “Code”) by virtue of being an organization described in Section 501(c)(3) of the
Code and is not a “private foundation” as defined in Section 509(a) of the Code. The Corporation
has not impaired its status and the Corporation will, while any of the Series 2021 Bonds remain
outstanding, not impair its status as an organization described in Sections 501(a) and 501(c)(3) of
the Code and exempt from federal income taxation under Section 501(a) of the Code. Neither the
Corporation or any other user of the properties of the Corporation has “unrelated business taxable
income,” as defined in Section 512 of the Code, that could have a material adverse effect on the
status of the Corporation as an organization described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Code or its
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exemption from income taxation under Section 501(a) of the Code or that, if such income were
subject to federal income taxation, would have a material adverse effect on the condition, financial
or otherwise, of the Corporation. None of the property financed or refinanced with the proceeds of
the Series 2021 Bonds is or is expected to be used in an “unrelated trade or business” within the
meaning of the Code.
(k)
Except as may be set forth in the Official Statement, there is no legal action, suit,
proceeding, investigation or inquiry at law or in equity, before or by any court, agency, arbitrator,
public board or body or other entity or person, pending or, to its knowledge, threatened against or
affecting the Corporation or its directors, in their respective capacities as such for which it has
received service of process or other written notice, or, to the best knowledge of the Corporation,
any basis therefor wherein an unfavorable decision, ruling or finding would materially adversely
affect (i) the transactions contemplated hereby or by the Official Statement, (ii) the status of the
Corporation as a tax-exempt organization described in Sections 501(a) and 501(c)(3) of the Code
or its “non-private foundation” status as defined in Section 509(a) of the Code, (iii) the validity or
enforceability in accordance with their respective terms of the Transaction Documents or any
agreement or instrument to which the Corporation is a party, used or contemplated for use in the
consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby or by the Official Statement, (iv) the
exclusion of the interest on the Series 2021A Bonds from gross income for purposes of federal
income taxation, or (v) the existence or powers of the Corporation. The Corporation is not subject
to any judgment, decree or order entered in any lawsuit or proceeding brought against it that would
have such an effect.
(l)
The execution and delivery by the Corporation of this Bond Purchase Agreement,
the other Transaction Documents, and the other documents contemplated hereby and by the Official
Statement to be executed and delivered by the Corporation, and compliance with the provisions
thereof, and the approval of the use of the Official Statement do not conflict with or constitute on
the part of the Corporation a breach of or a default under any existing law, including, without
limitation, the Act, court or administrative regulation, decree, order, agreement, indenture,
mortgage or lease by which the Corporation is or may be bound.
(m)
The Corporation is not in breach of or default in any material respect under its
organizational documents or under any applicable constitutional provision, law or administrative
regulation of the State or the United States of America or any applicable judgment or decree or any
loan agreement, indenture, bond, note, resolution, agreement or other instrument to which the
Corporation is a party or to which the Corporation is or any of its property or assets are otherwise
subject, and no event has occurred and is continuing which constitutes or with the passage of time
or the giving of notice, or both, would constitute a material default or event of default by the
Corporation under any of the foregoing.
(n)
All consents, approvals, orders or authorizations of, notices to, or filings,
registrations or declarations with any court or governmental authority, board, agency, commission
or body having jurisdiction which are required by or on behalf of the Corporation for the execution
and delivery by the Corporation of this Bond Purchase Agreement or the Transaction Documents,
or the consummation by the Corporation of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, have
been obtained or will be obtained prior to Closing.
(o)
The Corporation has not previously entered into any financing documents pursuant
to which it undertook reporting obligations intended to comply with the requirements of
Rule 15c2-12 of the Securities and Exchange Commission (“Rule 15c2-12”). The Corporation will
undertake, pursuant to the Continuing Disclosure Undertaking, to provide certain annual and
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semi-annual information and notices of the occurrence of certain events in the manner and to the
extent required by Rule 15c2-12. The form of the undertaking is set forth in the Preliminary Official
Statement and the final Official Statement.
(p)
On the Closing Date, each of the representations and warranties of the Corporation
contained herein and in the Transaction Documents and all other documents executed by the
Corporation in connection with the Bonds shall be true, correct and complete.
(q)
Any certificate signed by an authorized officer of the Corporation and delivered to
the Underwriter shall be deemed a representation and warranty by the Corporation to the
Underwriter as to the statements made therein.
(r)
The Corporation agrees to reasonably cooperate with the Underwriter in any
endeavor to qualify the Series 2021 Bonds for offering and sale under the securities or “Blue Sky”
laws of such jurisdictions of the United States of America as the Underwriter may request;
provided, however, that the Corporation shall not be required with respect to the offer or sale of the
Series 2021 Bonds, or otherwise, to file written consent to suit or to file written consent to service
of process in any jurisdiction. The Corporation consents to the use of drafts of the Preliminary
Official Statement, the Preliminary Official Statement and drafts of the Official Statement prior to
the availability of the Official Statement, by the Underwriter in obtaining such qualifications,
subject to the right of the Corporation to withdraw such consent for cause by written notice to the
Underwriter. The Underwriter shall pay all expenses and costs (including registration and filing
fees) incurred in connection therewith.
6.
Closing. Prior to or at 12:00 noon, Central Standard Time, on June 24, 2021 or at such
other time or such other date as shall have been mutually agreed upon by the Corporation and the
Underwriter in writing (the “Closing Date”), the Authority will deliver, or cause to be delivered, to the
Underwriter, the Series 2021 Bonds, in definitive form duly executed and authenticated by the Trustee,
together with the other documents hereinafter mentioned; and the Underwriter will accept such delivery
and pay the purchase price of the Series 2021 Bonds by delivery to the Trustee by electronic transfer of
funds immediately available in St. Louis, Missouri in an amount equal to the purchase price.
Payment and delivery of the Series 2021 Bonds as aforesaid shall be made to the Trustee for the
benefit of the Corporation by transfer of immediately available funds or such other mutually agreeable
arrangement. Such payment and delivery is herein referred to as the “Closing.” The Series 2021 Bonds
will be registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee for The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”).
The Series 2021 Bonds shall be delivered to DTC not less than two Business Days prior to the Closing and
shall be available for delivery at DTC in accordance with DTC’s settlement procedures, or, alternatively,
delivered to and held by the Trustee in accordance with DTC’s FAST procedures for the benefit of DTC at
the Closing.
It is anticipated that CUSIP identification numbers will be printed on the Series 2021 Bonds, but
neither the failure to print such numbers on any Series 2021 Bond nor any error in the printing of such
numbers shall constitute cause for a failure or refusal by the Underwriter to accept delivery of and pay for
any Series 2021 Bonds.
7.
Events Permitting Underwriter to Terminate. (a) The Underwriter shall have the right
to cancel its obligations to purchase the Series 2021 Bonds if between the date hereof to and including the
date of the Closing, in the Underwriter’s sole and reasonable judgement any of the following events (a
“Termination Event”) shall occur:
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(i)
the market price or marketability of the Series 2021 Bonds, or the ability of the Underwriter
to enforce contracts for the sale of the Series 2021 Bonds, shall be materially affected by any of the
following events:
(A)
legislation shall have been enacted by the Congress of the United States of America
(the “Congress”) or the legislature of the State or shall have been favorably reported out of
committee of either body or be pending in committee of either body, or shall have been
recommended to the Congress for passage by the President of the United States of America (the
“President”) or a member of the President’s Cabinet, or a decision shall have been rendered by a
court of the United States of America or the State or the Tax Court of the United States of America,
or a ruling, resolution, regulation or temporary regulation, release or announcement shall have been
made or shall have been proposed to be made by the Treasury Department of the United States of
America or the Internal Revenue Service, or other federal or state authority with appropriate
jurisdiction, with respect to (1) federal or state taxation upon interest received on obligations of the
general character of the Series 2021A Bonds or (2) state taxation upon interest received on
obligations of the general character of the Series 2021 Bonds; or
(B)
there shall have occurred (1) an outbreak or escalation of hostilities or the
declaration by the United States of America of a national emergency or war or (2) any other
calamity or crisis in the financial markets of the United States of America or elsewhere or the
escalation of such calamity or crisis; or
(C)
a general suspension of trading on the New York Stock Exchange or other major
exchange shall be in force, or minimum or maximum prices for trading shall have been fixed and
be in force, or maximum ranges for prices for securities shall have been required and be in force
on any such exchange, whether by virtue of determination by that exchange or by order of the SEC
or any other governmental authority having jurisdiction; or
(D)
legislation shall have been enacted by the Congress or shall have been favorably
reported out of committee or be pending in committee, or shall have been recommended to the
Congress for passage by the President or a member of the President’s Cabinet, or a decision by a
court of the United States of America shall be rendered, or a ruling, regulation, proposed regulation
or statement by or on behalf of the SEC or other governmental agency having jurisdiction of the
subject matter shall be made, to the effect that any obligations of the general character of the
Series 2021 Bonds, the Authority Bond Resolution or the Transaction Documents, or any
comparable securities of the Authority, are not exempt from the registration, qualification or other
requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”) or the Trust Indenture
Act of 1939, as amended (the “Trust Indenture Act”) or otherwise, or would be in violation of any
provision of the federal securities laws; or
(E)
Except as disclosed in or contemplated by the Official Statement, any material
adverse change in the affairs of the Corporation shall have occurred; or
(D)
any rating on any of the Series 2021 Bonds is reduced or withdrawn by any major
credit rating agency; or
(ii)
any event or circumstance shall exist that either makes untrue or incorrect in any material
respect any statement or information in the Official Statement (other than any statement provided by the
Underwriter) or is not reflected in the Official Statement but should be reflected therein in order to make
the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading and,
in either such event, the Authority or the Corporation refuses to permit the Official Statement to be
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supplemented with such statement or information, or the effect of the Official Statement as so supplemented
is to materially adversely affect the market price or marketability of the Series 2021 Bonds or the ability of
the Underwriter to enforce contracts for the sale of the Series 2021 Bonds; or
(iii)
a general banking moratorium shall have been declared by federal or State authorities
having jurisdiction and be in force; or
(iv)
a material disruption in securities settlement, payment or clearance services affecting the
Series 2021 Bonds shall have occurred; or
(v)
There shall have occurred since September 30, 2020, any material adverse change in the
affairs of the Corporation from that reflected in the financial statements of the Corporation provided to the
Underwriter in connection with the Series 2021 Bonds, not otherwise disclosed to the Underwriter or in the
Official Statement; or
(vi)
any new restriction on transactions in securities materially affecting the market for
securities (including the imposition of any limitation on interest rates) or the extension of credit by, or a
charge to the net capital requirements of, underwriters shall have been established by the New York Stock
Exchange, the SEC, any other federal or State agency or the Congress, or by Executive Order; or
(viii) a decision by a court of the United States of America shall be rendered, or a stop order,
release, regulation or no-action letter by or on behalf of the SEC or any other governmental agency having
jurisdiction of the subject matter shall have been issued or made, to the effect that the issuance, offering or
sale of the Series 2021 Bonds, including the underlying obligations as contemplated by this Bond Purchase
Agreement or by the Official Statement, or any document relating to the issuance, offering or sale of the
Bonds, is or would be in violation of any provision of the federal securities laws at the Closing Date,
including the Securities Act, the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended and the Trust Indenture Act.
Upon the occurrence of a Termination Event and the termination of this Bond Purchase Agreement
by the Underwriter, all obligations of the Authority, the Corporation and the Underwriter under this Bond
Purchase Agreement shall terminate, without further liability, except that the Corporation and the
Underwriter shall pay their respective expenses as set forth in Section 11.
(b)
The Authority or the Corporation shall have the right to terminate this Bond Purchase
Agreement if the Series 2021 Bonds are not purchased by the Underwriter for any reason on or prior to the
Closing Date.
8.
Conditions to Closing. The obligations hereunder of each party hereto shall be subject
(i) to the due performance by the other party of its obligations and agreements to be performed hereunder
at and prior to the Closing Date, (ii) to the accuracy in all material respects of, and compliance with, the
representations and warranties herein of the other party as of the date hereof and as of the Closing Date,
and (iii) to the following conditions, including the delivery by the appropriate party or parties hereto or
other entities of such documents as are enumerated herein:
(a)
At the Closing Date, (i) the covenants, representations and warranties of the
Authority and the Corporation contained in this Bond Purchase Agreement shall be true, complete
and correct in all material respects as if made on and as of the Closing Date; (ii) each of the
Authority and the Corporation shall have complied with all agreements and satisfied all the
conditions on its part to be performed at or prior to the Closing; (iii) the Series 2021 Bonds shall
have been duly executed and delivered and authenticated; (iv) the Official Statement shall have
been executed and delivered by the Corporation at or prior to the Closing in sufficient time to permit
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the Underwriter to comply with its obligations under Rule 15c2-12; (iv) the Transaction Documents
shall have been authorized, executed and delivered, and shall not have been amended, modified or
supplemented except as may have been agreed to in writing by the Underwriter, the Authority and
the Corporation, as applicable, the Closing in all events, however, to be deemed such approval;
(v) the proceeds of the sale of the Series 2021 Bonds shall have been deposited and applied as
described in the Indenture and the Official Statement; (vi) the Corporation shall have duly adopted
and there shall be in full force and effect such resolutions as, in the opinion of Gilmore & Bell,
P.C., St. Louis, Missouri ( “Bond Counsel”), shall be necessary in connection with the transactions
contemplated hereby; and (vii) the Corporation shall have undertaken, pursuant to the Continuing
Disclosure Undertaking, to provide annual reports, semi-annual reports and notices of certain
events.
(b)
At or prior to the Closing Date, the Underwriter, Authority and the Corporation
shall have received counterparts, copies or certified copies (as appropriate) of the following
documents in such number as shall be reasonably required:
(1)
The approving opinion of Bond Counsel, dated the date of Closing,
addressed to the Authority, the Corporation, the Trustee and the Underwriter, as set forth
on Exhibit B hereto and otherwise in form and substance satisfactory to the Underwriter,
the Authority and the Corporation.
(2)
The supplemental opinion of Bond Counsel, dated the date of Closing,
addressed to the Authority, the Corporation, the Trustee and the Underwriter, as set forth
on Exhibit B hereto and otherwise in form and substance satisfactory to the Underwriter,
the Authority and the Corporation.
(3)
The opinion of Gilmore & Bell, P.C., St. Louis, Missouri, as disclosure
counsel, dated the date of Closing, addressed to the Authority, the Corporation and the
Underwriter, as set forth on Exhibit B hereto and otherwise in form and substance
satisfactory to the Underwriter, the Authority and the Corporation.
(4)
The opinion of counsel to the Authority, dated the date of Closing,
addressed to the Authority, the Corporation, Bond Counsel, the Trustee and the
Underwriter as to the matters set forth on Exhibit C hereto and otherwise in form and
substance satisfactory to the Underwriter, Bond Counsel, the Authority and the
Corporation.
(5)
The opinion of counsel to the Corporation, dated the date of Closing,
addressed to the Authority, the Corporation, Bond Counsel, the Trustee and the
Underwriter as to the matters set forth on Exhibit D hereto and otherwise in form and
substance satisfactory to the Underwriter, Bond Counsel, the Authority and the
Corporation.
(6)
The opinion of counsel to the Underwriter, dated the date of Closing,
addressed to the Underwriter as to the matters set forth on Exhibit E hereto and otherwise
in form and substance satisfactory to the Underwriter.
(7)
A certificate of the Authority, dated the date of Closing, signed by an
officer of the Authority, in form and substance satisfactory to the Underwriter, Bond
Counsel, the Authority and the Corporation.
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(8)
A certificate of the Corporation, dated the date of Closing, signed by an
official of the Corporation, in form and substance satisfactory to the Underwriter, Bond
Counsel, the Authority and the Corporation.
(9)
The Official Statement executed and delivered on behalf of the
Corporation by a duly authorized official or officer thereof.
(10)

The Authority Bond Resolution, duly adopted by the Authority.

(11)

The Corporation Resolution, duly adopted by the Corporation.

(12)

The Transaction Documents, duly executed by the parties thereto.

(13)

The Water Purchase Contracts, duly executed by the parties thereto.

(14)
Correspondence (or other evidence satisfactory to Bond Counsel and
counsel to the Underwriter) from the Internal Revenue Service to the effect that the
Corporation is an organization described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Code and is classified
as an organization that is not a private foundation as defined in Section 509(a) of the Code.
(15)
Other certificates and Closing deliveries listed on a closing agenda to be
approved by counsel to the Authority, the Corporation, Bond Counsel and the Underwriter,
including any certificates or representations of the Authority and the Corporation required
in order for Bond Counsel to deliver the opinion referred to in Section 8(b)(1) of this Bond
Purchase Agreement.
(16)
A draft or completed IRS Form 8038-G (Information Return for
Tax-Exempt Governmental Obligations).
(17)
Written evidence that the rating on the applicable Series 2021 Bonds by
the applicable rating service, as set forth in the Official Statement, is in effect.
(18)

The Issue Price Certificate executed by the Underwriter.

(19)
Such additional legal opinions, certificates, proceedings, instruments and
other documents as Bond Counsel, the Underwriter, counsel to the Authority or counsel to
the Corporation may reasonably request to evidence compliance with all legal
requirements, the truth and accuracy, as of the Closing, of the representations herein and
the due performance or satisfaction of all agreements then to be performed and all
conditions then to be satisfied.
Unless performance is waived by the party or parties for whose benefit a condition or obligation is
intended, if any person shall be unable to satisfy the above conditions to the obligations of any party to this
Bond Purchase Agreement, or if the obligations hereunder of any party shall be terminated for any reason
permitted by this Bond Purchase Agreement and unless otherwise waived, this Bond Purchase Agreement
shall terminate and none of the Underwriter, the Authority or the Corporation shall be under further
obligation hereunder; except that the Underwriter’s and the Corporation’s respective obligations to pay
expenses, as provided in Section 11 hereof, shall continue in full force and effect.

15

9.
Conditions to Authority’s and the Corporation’s Obligations. The obligations of the
Authority and the Corporation hereunder are subject to the performance by the Underwriter of its
obligations hereunder.
10.
Survival of Covenants, Representations, Warranties and Agreements. All covenants,
representations, warranties and agreements of the Authority, the Corporation and the Underwriter,
respectively, shall remain operative and in full force and effect, regardless of any investigations made by
or on behalf of any other party and shall survive the Closing.
11.
Expenses. If the Series 2021 Bonds are sold to the Underwriter by the Authority on or
prior to the Closing Time, the Corporation shall cause to be paid out of the proceeds of the Series 2021
Bonds the following expenses incident to the performance of its obligations hereunder: (i) the cost of the
preparation, printing and distribution of the Transaction Documents (for distribution on or subsequent to
the date of execution of this Bond Purchase Agreement) and up to 25 copies of the Preliminary Official
Statement; (ii) the cost of the preparation of the Official Statement, together with up to 25 copies of the
Official Statement; (iii) the cost of preparation and printing of the definitive Series 2021 Bonds; (iv) the
Underwriter’s charge for cost of funds, DTC, Ipreo, Lumesis report and CUSIP fees; (v) the fees and
expenses of Bond Counsel, the Authority’s counsel, the Corporation’s counsel and any other experts or
consultants retained by the Authority, the Corporation or the Underwriter; and (vi) reimbursement of certain
Underwriter meal and travel expenses incurred in connection with the sale of the Series 2021 Bonds, if any,
but excluding entertainment expenses.
If the Series 2021 Bonds are sold to the Underwriter by the Authority on or prior to the Closing
Date, the discount of the Underwriter shall be paid out of the proceeds of the Series 2021 Bonds or the
purchase price paid for the Series 2021 Bonds shall reflect such discount.
The Underwriter shall pay: (i) the additional cost of printing copies of the Preliminary Official
Statement and the Official Statement in excess of the costs of printing the number of copies set forth above
in this Section 11; (ii) all advertising expenses in connection with the offering of the Series 2021 Bonds to
Approved Investors; and (iii) all other expenses incurred by the Underwriter in connection with the offering
and distribution of the Series 2021 Bonds to Approved Investors, including, but not limited to, the costs of
Blue Sky registration.
12.
Amendments to Official Statement. If, after the date of this Bond Purchase Agreement
and until the earlier of (i) ninety (90) days after the “end of the underwriting period” (as defined in
Rule 15c2-12) or (ii) the time when the Official Statement is available to any person from a nationally
recognized municipal securities information repository, but in no case less than 25 days following the end
of the underwriting period, an event relating to or affecting the Authority or the Corporation shall occur as
a result of which it is necessary, in the opinion of Bond Counsel or the Underwriter, to amend or supplement
the Official Statement in order to make the Official Statement not misleading in the light of the
circumstances then existing, the Corporation will forthwith prepare and furnish to the Underwriter a
reasonable number of copies of an amendment of or supplement to the Official Statement (in form and
substance satisfactory to the Underwriter) which will amend or supplement the Official Statement so that
it will not contain an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary in order
to make the statements not misleading. The expenses of preparing such amendment or supplement shall be
borne by the Corporation. Thereafter, all references to and representations regarding the Official Statement
contained herein shall refer to or regard the Official Statement as so amended or supplemented. For the
purpose of this Section the Corporation will furnish to the Underwriter such information with respect to the
Corporation as the Underwriter may from time to time reasonably request.
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13.
Third Party Beneficiary. The Authority and the Corporation agree that the Underwriter
is and shall be a third party beneficiary of any and all covenants, representations and warranties made by
the Authority or the Corporation in the Transaction Documents to which they are a party, respectively, to
the same effect as if the Authority or the Corporation had made such representations and warranties to the
Underwriter in this Bond Purchase Agreement.
14.
Notices. Any notice or other communication to be given to the Corporation or the
Authority under this Bond Purchase Agreement may be given by delivering the same in writing at its
address set forth above, and any notice or other communications to be given to the Underwriter under this
Bond Purchase Agreement may be given by delivering the same in writing to the Underwriter at the
following address:
Stifel, Nicolaus & Company, Incorporated
501 North Broadway, 10th Floor
St. Louis, Missouri 63102
Attn: Martin J. Ghafoori
15.
Successors. This Bond Purchase Agreement is made for the benefit of the Authority, the
Corporation and the Underwriter (including the successors or assigns of the Underwriter) and no other
person shall acquire or have any rights hereunder or by virtue hereof.
16.
No Pecuniary Liability; General Limitation on Corporation and Authority
Obligations. Any other term or provision in this Bond Purchase Agreement, in the Transaction Documents
or elsewhere to the contrary notwithstanding, the parties hereto acknowledge and agree that: (i) any and
all obligations (including without limitation, fees, claims, demands, payments, damages, liabilities,
penalties, assessments, and the like) of or imposed upon the Authority, the Corporation or their respective
officials, directors, officers, agents, employees, representatives, advisors or their successors or assigns,
whether under this Bond Purchase Agreement, in the Transaction Documents, or elsewhere, and whether
arising out of or based upon a claim or claims of tort, contract, misrepresentation, or any other or additional
legal theory or theories whatsoever (collectively the “obligations”), shall in all events be absolutely limited
obligations and liabilities, payable solely out of proceeds of the Series 2021 Bonds and investment earnings
thereon, if any; and payments derived from the Series 2021 Bonds and the Indenture (including the Trust
Estate to the extent provided in the Indenture) available at the time the obligation in question is asserted;
and (ii) no recourse shall be had for the payment of the principal of or premium, if any, or interest on any
of the Series 2021 Bonds or for any claim based thereon or upon any obligation, covenant, or agreement
contained in this Bond Purchase Agreement against any past, present, or future official, officer, director,
employee, agent, representative or advisor of the Authority or the Corporation or any incorporator, officer,
director, trustee, employee, or agent of any successor entities, under any rule of law or equity, statute or
constitution, or by the enforcement of any assessment or penalty or otherwise, and all such liability of any
such incorporator, officer, director, trustee, employee, or agent, as such, is hereby expressly waived and
released as a condition of and consideration for the execution of this Bond Purchase Agreement and the
issuance of any of the Series 2021 Bonds. No provision for the payment of the principal of or premium, if
any, or interest on any of the Series 2021 Bonds shall be construed to impose a charge against the general
credit of the Corporation or the Authority, and no provision hereof shall be construed to impose a charge
against any personal or pecuniary liability upon any director, officer, agent or employee of the Corporation,
or the Authority.
17.
Governing Law. This Bond Purchase Agreement shall be governed by and construed in
accordance with the laws of the State.
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18.
Effectiveness.
acceptance hereof.

This Bond Purchase Agreement shall become effective upon your

19.
Counterparts. This Bond Purchase Agreement may be executed in any number of
counterparts, each of which so executed and delivered shall constitute an original and all together shall
constitute but one and the same instrument.
20.
Captions. The captions or headings in this Bond Purchase Agreement are for convenience
only and in no way define, limit or describe the scope or intent of any provisions or section of this Bond
Purchase Agreement.
21.
Electronic Transactions. The transaction described herein may be conducted and related
documents may be sent, received or stored by electronic means. Copies, telecopies, facsimiles, electronic
files and other reproductions of original executed documents will be deemed to be authentic and valid
counterparts of such original documents for all purposes, including the filing of any claim, action or suit in
the appropriate court of law.
22.
Anti-Discrimination Against Israel Act. Pursuant to Section 34.600 of the Revised
Statutes of Missouri, as amended, the Underwriter hereby certifies to the Authority and the Corporation
that it is not currently engaged in and shall not, for the duration of this Bond Purchase Agreement, engage
in a boycott of goods or services from the State of Israel, companies doing business in or with Israel or
authorized by, licensed by, or organized under the laws of the State of Israel, or persons or entities doing
business in the State of Israel.
[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]
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Very truly yours,
STIFEL, NICOLAUS & COMPANY,
INCORPORATED

By:
Authorized Officer

S-1

Accepted and agreed to as of
the date first above written:
STATE ENVIRONMENTAL IMPROVEMENT AND
ENERGY RESOURCES AUTHORITY

By
Authorized Officer

S-2

JEFFERSON COUNTY WATER AUTHORITY

By
Authorized Officer

S-3

SCHEDULE I
TO BOND PURCHASE AGREEMENT
MATURITIES FOR WHICH 10% SOLD AS OF THE DATE OF THIS
PURCHASE CONTRACT
MATURITY SCHEDULE

SERIES 2021A BONDS
Serial Bonds
Maturity
(July 1)
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
2027
2028
2029
2030

Principal
Amount

Interest
Rate

$

Price
%

%

Term Bonds
Maturity
(July 1)
2032
2034
2037
2041

Principal
Amount

Interest
Rate

$

Price
%

%

SERIES 2021B BONDS
Maturity
(July 1)
2024

Principal
Amount
$

Interest
Rate

Price
%

%

EXHIBIT A TO
BOND PURCHASE AGREEMENT
FORM OF ISSUE PRICE CERTIFICATE

A-1

EXHIBIT B TO
BOND PURCHASE AGREEMENT
Form of Approving Opinion of Bond Counsel
Form of Supplemental Opinion of Bond Counsel
Form of Disclosure Counsel Opinion

B-1

EXHIBIT C TO
BOND PURCHASE AGREEMENT
Authority Counsel Opinion Items

C-1

EXHIBIT D TO
BOND PURCHASE AGREEMENT
Form of Opinion of Counsel to the Corporation

D-1

EXHIBIT E TO
BOND PURCHASE AGREEMENT
Form of Opinion of Counsel to the Underwriter

E-1

Easement Deed
This Deed made and entered into this _______ day of ____________________, 2021, by and
between

Fred Weber, Inc. (the “party of the first part” or “Grantor”)
Grantor’s Physical Address: 100 Howard Dohack Drive, Crystal City, MO 63019
Grantor’s Mailing Address: 2320 Creve Coeur Mill Road, Maryland Heights, MO 63043

Of the County of St. Louis

, State of Missouri

Parties of the first part, and Jefferson County Water Authority, 711 W. Main St., Festus, MO 63028
(the “party of the second part” or “Grantee”)
Of the County of Jefferson

, State of Missouri

Party of the second part.
Witnesseth, that the said parties of the first part, for and in consideration of the sum of
$1.00 and/or other valuable goods & considerations
paid by the said
Party of the second part, the receipt of which is hereby acknowledged, do by these presents
Grant unto the said party of the second part,
An Easement for the following purposes:
A perpetual easement for the purpose of accessing, constructing, maintaining, repairing, and
operating underground wells and electric facilities together with any associated wells, pipes,
cables, lines, poles, anchors, and other necessary apparatus and appliances for the purpose of
operating horizontal collector well number 2 and other utilities. The Grantee shall have the right to
clear land, and trim or remove brush, trees, and vegetation within the easement area. This
Easement shall run with the land.
Over the following described Real Estate, situated in the County of Jefferson
State of Missouri
, to-wit:

, and

A tract of land described in Exhibit “A” and depicted on the Plat contained in Exhibit “B”,
both attached hereto and incorporated herein for all purposes.

TO HAVE AND TO HOLD the same, together with all rights, privileges, appurtenances and
immunities thereto belonging or in anywise appertaining, unto said grantee, its successors and
assigns; that said grantor hereby covenants that said grantee lawfully seized of an indefeasible estate
in fee in the premises from which the permanent easement is herein conveyed.
In Witness Whereof, the said parties of the first part have executed these presents the day
and year first above written.
Grantor:
Fred Weber, Inc.
By:
Name:___________________________________
Title:____________________________________
State of
County of

)
) ss

On this _______________ day of _________________________, 2021, before me personally appeared
_____________________________ of Fred Weber, Inc. to me known to be the person(s) described in
and who executed the foregoing instrument, and acknowledged that they executed the same as
their free act and deed.
IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official seal in the
County and State aforesaid, the day and year first above written.

Notary Public
My term expires:

POST-CONSTRUCTION AGREEMENT
This POST-CONSTRUCTION AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is made and entered into as of
this _____ day of ________, 2021, by and between Fred Weber, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Fred
Weber”), and Jefferson County Water Authority, a Missouri non-profit corporation (“JCWA”; together
with Fred Weber, collectively, the “Parties”).
RECITALS:
A.
Fred Weber is the owner of certain real property located in Jefferson County, Missouri, as
depicted on Exhibit A attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference (“Property”).
B.
Fred Weber granted an Easement Deed dated __________, 2021, and recorded on
________, 2021, in Book ______, Page ______ in the Jefferson County, Missouri Recorder of Deeds
Office in favor of JCWA (the “Easement”) for the purpose of constructing, accessing, installing,
maintaining, repairing and operating Horizontal collector Well Number 2 (the “Project”) and
encumbering the area of the Property as depicted by the crosshatched area on Exhibit A (the “Easement
Area”).
C.
The Parties acknowledge the Easement Area is larger than the area actually need to
maintain the Project upon completion of construction of the Project.
D.
The Parties agree and desire to amend and revise the Easement Area as set forth in this
Agreement upon JCWA’s completion of the construction for the Project.
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the covenants and conditions contained herein, and
other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the
Parties agree as follows:
1.
Amended Legal Description of Easement Area. Upon completion of construction and
installation of the Project, the Parties agree that JCWA shall have a surveyor prepare a legal description of
the Easement Area that is required by JCWA in order to access, maintain, repair, and operate the Project
(the “Amended Easement Area”). JCWA shall be responsible for all costs associated with the
preparation of the Amended Easement Area, including surveyor fees and recording fees of the
amendment to the Easement.
2.
Amendment to Easement. The Parties shall record an Amended and Restated Easement
Deed (the “Amended Easement”) describing and depicting the Amended Easement Area. In addition to
the Amended Easement Area, the Amended Easement shall contain a provision that allows Fred Weber
the right to store moveable materials on and above the Amended Easement Area. The Parties understand
all improvements of the Project will be made underground, thus allowing for storage on and above the
actual ground of the Amended Easement Area.
3.
Default. In the event that any Party breaches any of the terms hereof, the non-breaching
Party shall provide written notice to the other Party and shall have the right to pursue any and all remedies
available at law or in equity (including, without limitation, damages, specific performance, and injunctive
relief), except that this Agreement may not be canceled, rescinded, or terminated on account of such
breach. The prevailing Party in any legal action undertaken to enforce the terms of this Agreement shall
be entitled to recover all reasonable costs and fees incurred in connection therewith, including, without
limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees, and the Parties acknowledge and agree if legal action is undertaken
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by a Party to enforce the rights and obligations herein contained, the non-prevailing Party shall promptly
reimburse the prevailing Party for any and all reasonable costs and fees incurred in connection with the
enforcement of the terms of this Agreement.
4.
Entire Agreement; Successor and Assigns. This Agreement and any instruments to be
delivered by the Parties pursuant to the provisions hereof constitute the entire agreement between the
Parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the
Parties hereto and their respective legal representatives, successors and permitted assigns.
5.
Modification; Waiver. This Agreement shall not be modified or amended except
pursuant to an instrument in writing executed and delivered on behalf of each of the Parties hereto. The
failure of a Party to insist upon strict adherence to any term of this Agreement on any occasion shall not
be considered a waiver thereof or deprive that Party of the right thereafter to insist upon strict adherence
to that term or any other term of this Agreement.
6.
Authorization. The Parties hereto represent and warrant that they have the authority and
power to enter into this Agreement, to consummate the transaction provided for herein, and the grant the
Easements stated herein. This Agreement constitutes a legal binding, valid and enforceable obligation of
the Parties, and there are no claims or defenses, personal or otherwise, or offsets whatsoever to the
enforceability or validity of this Agreement.
7.
No Joint Venture. Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to make the Parties
partners or joint venturers. No Party shall be obligated to take any action to enforce the terms of this
Agreement or to exercise any right, power, privilege or remedy granted, created, conferred or established
hereunder.
8.
Execution. This Agreement may be executed in more than one counterpart and
electronically, each of which shall be deemed an original, and all of which together shall constitute one
and the same instrument.
[The remainder of this page is intentionally left blank – signature pages to follow]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has caused this Post-Construction Agreement to be
executed as of the date first written above.
JCWA:

FRED WEBER:

Jefferson County Water Authority

Fred Weber, Inc.

By: __________________________________
Name: ________________________________
Title: _________________________________

By: __________________________________
Name: ________________________________
Title: _________________________________

-3-

EXHIBIT A
Depiction of Property and Easement Area
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June 2, 2021

VIA E-MAIL
Mr. Greg Camp
President
Jefferson County Water Authority
c/o City of Festus, Missouri
711 West Main Street
Festus, Missouri 63028
Re:

Post-Issuance Tax Compliance Services Proposal

Dear Greg:
Gilmore & Bell, P.C. is pleased to submit this post-issuance tax compliance services proposal to
the Jefferson County Water Authority (the “Corporation”). In connection with the issuance of the TaxExempt Water Facilities Revenue Bonds (Jefferson County Water Authority), Series 2021A (the “Bonds”)
by the State Environmental Improvement and Energy Resources Authority (State of Missouri), the
Corporation will covenant to comply with all federal tax laws to maintain the exemption of interest on the
Bonds from federal income taxation. The purpose of this engagement is to provide tax compliance services
to assist the Corporation in meeting these covenants.
SCOPE OF ENGAGEMENT
Gilmore & Bell will provide the services expressly described on Exhibit A (the “Services”) in
accordance with the terms further described in this engagement.
POINTS OF CONTACT
Gilmore & Bell will provide the necessary attorneys, tax analysts, legal assistants and
administrative support to perform the Services. The primary points of contact for this engagement are as
follows:
Gilmore & Bell:
Meghan McKernan
Telephone: (816) 218-7586
Email: mmckernan@gilmorebell.com

Mark Grimm
Telephone: (314) 444-4118
Email: mgrimm@gilmorebell.com

Mr. Greg Camp
June 2, 2021
Page 2 of 3

Corporation:
Greg Camp
Telephone: (636) 937-4694
Email: gcamp@cityoffestus.org
FEES
Gilmore & Bell’s fee (the “Fee”) for providing the Services for the Bonds is $1,750 per year (for
an aggregate amount of $8,750 for the five-year contract term). In addition, Gilmore & Bell expects to be
reimbursed for all out-of-pocket third-party expenses made on the Corporation’s behalf.
The Corporation may pay the Fee annually or may make an advance payment of the full aggregate
amount upon execution of this engagement or any remaining aggregate amount at any time during the term
of this engagement. If paid annually, the Fee will be payable on each one-year anniversary of the issuance
of the Bonds.
If the Corporation pays the aggregate amount upon execution of this engagement, or any remaining
aggregate amount at a later date during the term of this engagement, the aggregate Fee will be deposited to
a special trust account maintained by Gilmore & Bell for client fees held as a retainer. The portion of the
aggregate Fee held as a retainer will be earned and disbursed to Gilmore & Bell’s general operating account
on each anniversary of the Bonds at a rate of $1,750 per year, unless this engagement has been terminated
in accordance with the terms below. No interest will be paid on funds held in this special trust account. All
earnings attributable to the investment of amounts within this account are disbursed to a charitable
foundation as required by the Missouri Bar Association.
FURNISHING OF INFORMATION; RECORDS
The Corporation agrees to provide to Gilmore & Bell, in electronic format if available, any
information and documentation requested by Gilmore & Bell which is necessary to complete the
engagement. All completed reports will be provided to the Corporation in electronic format (paper copies
are available upon request). In addition, Gilmore & Bell will maintain all final reports prepared in
connection with the Services for at least the term of the engagement, and additional copies will be made
available at any time to the Corporation upon request.
TERM OF ENGAGEMENT; TERMINATION
The initial term of this engagement shall be from the date of execution through 90 days after the
five-year anniversary of the issuance of the Bonds. This engagement may be terminated at any time by
either party with 30 days written notice to the other party. Upon termination of this engagement, a statement
for the Services will be provided. The Corporation will pay all fees and expenses for the Services completed
but unpaid at the time of termination. Upon termination, any fees held as a retainer will be applied to any
Services completed, and the remainder will be returned to the Corporation.
ATTORNEY-CLIENT RELATIONSHIP; CONFLICTS
Upon execution of this engagement, the Corporation will be our client and an attorney-client
relationship will exist between us with respect to this engagement. Our services pursuant to this
engagement are limited to those contracted for in this engagement; the Corporation’s execution of this
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engagement will constitute an acknowledgment of those limitations. Gilmore & Bell does not provide
investment advice, advice relating to any municipal financial products or financial advice relating to the
issuance of municipal securities, and nothing contained in this engagement or any services provided by
Gilmore & Bell under this engagement shall constitute advice to the Corporation with respect to municipal
financial products or the issuance of municipal securities (other than legal advice), all within the meaning
of Section 15B(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
Gilmore & Bell represents many political subdivisions, underwriters and others in public finance
transactions. It is possible that during the time that we are representing the Corporation under this
engagement, one or more of our present or future clients will have transactions with the Corporation. We
do not believe any such representation will adversely affect our ability to represent you as provided in this
engagement, either because such matters will be sufficiently different from the scope of this engagement
so as to make such representations not adverse or because the potential for such adversity is remote or minor
and outweighed by the consideration that it is unlikely that advice given to the other client will be relevant
to any aspect of this engagement. Execution of this engagement will signify the Corporation’s consent to
our representation of others consistent with the circumstances described in this paragraph.
CONCLUSION
If the foregoing terms are acceptable to the Corporation, please return a signed copy of this
engagement to me and retain a copy for your files. The offer to perform the Services described in this
engagement expires 60 days from the date first shown above, and no engagement will commence unless
and until Gilmore & Bell receives a copy signed by the Corporation within such timeframe. Thank you
again for your interest in our post-issuance federal tax law compliance services. If you have any questions,
please do not hesitate to email or call me. We look forward to working with you and the Corporation.
Very truly yours,

Mark D. Grimm

MDG:rab

Acknowledged and Agreed as of _______________, 2021.
JEFFERSON COUNTY WATER AUTHORITY

By:
Name:
Title:

EXHIBIT A

SCOPE OF TAX COMPLIANCE SERVICES

Arbitrage Computation Services
Gilmore & Bell will provide the Corporation with annual interim rebate estimates for the Bonds as
well as an installment date rebate calculation in accordance with the terms of the tax agreement for the
Bonds. To the extent this engagement remains in effect, Gilmore & Bell will provide installment rebate
calculations each fifth bond year after the installment calculation to the extent necessary for Bonds that
remain outstanding.
As part of the annual calculation services Gilmore & Bell will:
•

Quantify any accrued rebate liability as of each annual calculation date based on information
provided to us and performed in accordance with procedures described in a written explanation
of the arbitrage computation that will be provided to the Corporation;

•

Identify any noted accounting/record keeping problems that may adversely affect the
Corporation’s ability to comply with the arbitrage regulations;

•

Assist the Corporation in making timely accounting elections and tracking expenditure of
proceeds for purposes of meeting applicable arbitrage rebate spending exceptions in
appropriate situations; and

•

If required, perform yield reduction payment calculations and quantify any accrued yield
reduction payment liability.

In addition to providing the calculation described above, as part of the installment date calculation services
Gilmore & Bell will:
•

Provide a legal opinion stating that the calculation was prepared in accordance with applicable
United States Treasury Regulations; and

•

Prepare Form 8038-T for filing with the Internal Revenue Service if a rebate payment or yield
reduction payment is required.

To prepare the calculation, Gilmore & Bell will need the Corporation to provide investment and
expenditure information for all funds and accounts requested by Gilmore & Bell that contain “gross
proceeds” of the Bonds.
Final Written Allocation Services
Gilmore & Bell will assist the Corporation in compiling the records necessary to account for the
expenditure of Bond proceeds, and upon completion of the project financed by the Bonds, prepare a written
report (the “Close Out”) for the Bonds. As part of this effort Gilmore & Bell will:
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•

Prepare a final written allocation of Bond proceeds memorandum for the Corporation to
memorialize the use and expenditure of Bond proceeds;

•

Provide a summary allocation of total sources (including Bond proceeds and investment
earnings attributable to investment of Bond proceeds) to total uses of Bond proceeds for costs
of the project financed by the Bonds;

•

Review the overall costs of the project financed by the Bonds and assist the Corporation in
preparing a final Bond financed asset list reconciled to available records of investment and
expenditure of Bond proceeds; and

•

Provide a form “compliance checklist” to assist the Corporation in monitoring the ongoing
post-issuance requirements related to the Bonds. The compliance checklist will include
questions that the Corporation can use to solicit information from employees and staff
concerning the use of the Bond financed projects on an annual basis.

To prepare the Close Out of Bond proceeds, Gilmore & Bell will need the Corporation to provide
trustee requisitions or a ledger of expenditures with the following information: payee, check or wire transfer
date, payment amount, and a general description of expenditure purpose either by narrative description or
reference to the capital account to which the payment will be allocated.
Services Outside the Scope of the Engagement
Services to assist the Corporation with responding to an examination by the Internal Revenue
Service or to provide a supplemental tax opinion, as required by the financing documents, are outside the
scope of this engagement but may be provided to the Corporation pursuant to a separate engagement agreed
upon by the parties.
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June 2, 2021

VIA E-MAIL
Mr. Greg Camp
President
Jefferson County Water Authority
c/o City of Festus, Missouri
711 West Main Street
Festus, Missouri 63028
Re:

Post-Issuance Disclosure Compliance Services Proposal

Dear Greg:
Gilmore & Bell, P.C. is pleased to submit this post-issuance disclosure compliance services
proposal to the Jefferson County Water Authority (the “Corporation”). The purpose of this engagement
is to set forth certain matters concerning the services Gilmore & Bell will perform to assist the Corporation
in meeting its continuing disclosure obligations in accordance with federal securities laws. If the
Corporation accepts this engagement, Gilmore & Bell will perform such services in consideration of the
mutual covenants and terms of this engagement.
SCOPE OF ENGAGEMENT
We understand that the Corporation currently has no outstanding obligations that are subject to a
continuing disclosure undertaking. Gilmore & Bell will assist the Corporation in meeting its continuing
disclosure obligations with respect to any municipal securities issued during the term of this engagement
with respect to which the Corporation is an obligated person under a continuing disclosure undertaking (the
“Bonds”) by providing the following services, beginning with the Corporation’s fiscal year ending
September 30, 2021:
•

Review the continuing disclosure agreements/undertakings for the Bonds (the “Disclosure
Agreements”) and determine the operating data and financial information required to be
disclosed by the Corporation on an annual basis;

•

Provide the Corporation with an annual reminder of the upcoming annual report filing date;

•

Draft the Corporation’s annual report and assist the Corporation in updating, as of the end
of each fiscal year, the appropriate operating data and summary financial information;

•

Submit the Corporation’s annual report to the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board (the
“MSRB”), via the Electronic Municipal Market Access system (“EMMA”). If the
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Corporation’s annual report is not available as of the report filing date, file the appropriate
notice required under the Disclosure Agreements;
•

Provide the Corporation confirmation that the annual report has been submitted to the
MSRB; and

•

Provide the Corporation annually with a memorandum listing material events requiring
additional disclosure.

By acceptance of the terms of this engagement, the Corporation is confirming Gilmore & Bell’s
appointment as a designated agent for the sole purpose of submitting to the MSRB, via EMMA, annual
reports, event notices, and other materials furnished by the Corporation.
The content of the financial information and operating data to be included in each annual report is
solely the responsibility of the Corporation. Gilmore & Bell is not responsible for the accuracy or
completeness of the information contained in any annual report. Gilmore & Bell will not undertake a “due
diligence” review of the Corporation, its operations or its financial condition in connection with the
performance of these services. Such a review is outside the scope of our limited engagement described in
this engagement.
This engagement does not include a review of the Corporation’s past continuing disclosure
compliance or preparation or submission of any filings which may have been due prior to this engagement.
POINT OF CONTACT
Gilmore & Bell will provide the necessary attorneys, disclosure analysts, legal assistants and
administrative support to perform the services under this engagement. A Gilmore & Bell disclosure analyst
will contact the Corporation in advance of the annual filing deadline to begin the process of completing the
annual report. Initially, Gilmore & Bell’s primary point of contact at the Corporation for this engagement
will be as follows:
Greg Camp
Telephone: (636) 937-4694
Email: gcamp@cityoffestus.org
The Corporation will notify Gilmore & Bell if it wishes to change the primary point of contact for
this engagement.
FEES
Gilmore & Bell’s fee (the “Fee”) for providing the services pursuant to this engagement is $1,500
per year (for an aggregate amount of $7,500 for the five-year contract term). In addition, Gilmore & Bell
expects to be reimbursed for all out-of-pocket third-party expenses made on the Corporation’s behalf.
The Corporation may pay the Fee annually or may make an advance payment of the full aggregate
amount upon execution of this engagement or any remaining aggregate amount at any time during the term
of this engagement. If paid annually, the Fee will be payable upon confirmation that the Corporation’s
annual filing, or other appropriate notice, has been submitted to the MSRB.
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If the Corporation pays the aggregate amount upon execution of this engagement, or any remaining
aggregate amount at a later date during the term of this engagement, the aggregate Fee will be deposited to
a special trust account maintained by Gilmore & Bell for client fees held as a retainer. The portion of the
aggregate Fee held as a retainer will be earned and disbursed to Gilmore & Bell’s general operating account
upon confirmation that the Corporation’s annual filing, or other appropriate notice, has been submitted to
the MSRB at a rate of $1,500 per year, unless this engagement has been terminated in accordance with the
terms below. No interest will be paid on funds held in this special trust account. All earnings attributable
to the investment of amounts within this account are disbursed to a charitable foundation as required by the
Missouri Bar Association.
FURNISHING OF INFORMATION
Gilmore & Bell will request the information required by the Disclosure Agreements from the
Corporation within a reasonable time prior to the filing date and will work closely with the Corporation to
gather such information. The Corporation hereby agrees to timely provide all information requested by
Gilmore & Bell. In addition, the Corporation acknowledges that if all information required to be included
in the annual report is not provided to Gilmore & Bell at least three (3) business days before the filing date
set in the Disclosure Agreements, we cannot guarantee that the annual report will be timely filed.
TERM OF ENGAGEMENT; TERMINATION
The initial term of this engagement shall be from the date of execution through 210 days after
September 30, 2025. This engagement may be terminated at any time by either party with 30 days written
notice to the other party. Upon termination of this engagement, the Corporation will pay all fees and
expenses for the services completed but unpaid at the time of termination. Upon termination, any fees held
as a retainer will be applied to any services completed, and the remainder will be returned to the
Corporation.
ATTORNEY-CLIENT RELATIONSHIP; CONFLICTS
Upon execution of this engagement, the Corporation will be our client and an attorney-client
relationship will exist between us with respect to this engagement. Our services pursuant to this
engagement are limited to those contracted for in this engagement; the Corporation’s execution of this
engagement will constitute an acknowledgment of those limitations. Gilmore & Bell does not provide
investment advice, advice relating to any municipal financial products or financial advice relating to the
issuance of municipal securities, and nothing contained in this engagement or any services provided by
Gilmore & Bell under this engagement shall constitute advice to the Corporation with respect to municipal
financial products or the issuance of municipal securities (other than legal advice), all within the meaning
of Section 15B(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
Gilmore & Bell represents many political subdivisions, underwriters and others in public finance
transactions. It is possible that during the time that we are representing the Corporation under this
engagement, one or more of our present or future clients will have transactions with the Corporation. We
do not believe any such representation will adversely affect our ability to represent you as provided in this
engagement, either because such matters will be sufficiently different from the scope of this engagement
so as to make such representations not adverse or because the potential for such adversity is remote or minor
and outweighed by the consideration that it is unlikely that advice given to the other client will be relevant
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to any aspect of this engagement. Execution of this engagement will signify the Corporation’s consent to
our representation of others consistent with the circumstances described in this paragraph.
CONCLUSION
If the foregoing terms are acceptable to the Corporation, please return a signed copy of this
engagement to me and retain a copy for your files. The offer to perform the services described in this
engagement expires 60 days from the date first shown above, and no engagement will commence unless
and until Gilmore & Bell receives a copy signed by the Corporation within such timeframe. Thank you
again for your interest in our post-issuance disclosure compliance services. If you have any questions,
please do not hesitate to email or call me. We look forward to working with you and the Corporation
Very truly yours,

Mark D. Grimm
MDG:rab

Acknowledged and Agreed as of _______________, 2021.
JEFFERSON COUNTY WATER AUTHORITY

By:
Name:
Title:

